## **DESIGN-BUILD AGREEMENT**

#### STUART LAKE HOSPITAL REDEVELOPMENT

NORTHERN HEALTH AUTHORITY

- AND -

GRAHAM DESIGN BUILDERS LP

**CONFIDENTIAL** 

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

PART A – DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION	1
SECTION 1 DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION	1
PART B – PRICE, TIME AND TERM	12
SECTION 2 CONTRACT PRICE	12
SECTION 3 CONTRACT TIME	
SECTION 4 TERM	
SECTION 5 REPRESENTATIVES, AUTHORITY'S CONSULTANT AND KEY	
INDIVIDUALS	14
PART C – THE WORK	17
SECTION 6 GENERAL	17
SECTION 7 TIME SCHEDULE	
SECTION 8 CONTROL AND SUPERVISION OF THE WORK	18
SECTION 9 QUALITY MANAGEMENT	19
SECTION 10 LEED GOLD CERTIFICATION	
SECTION 11 ENERGY	
SECTION 12 PROJECT CREDITS	
SECTION 13 PRE-CONSTRUCTION SURVEY	_
SECTION 14 EQUIPMENT AND FURNISHINGS	
SECTION 15 REVIEW PROCEDURE	
SECTION 16 GENERAL DESIGN REQUIREMENTS	
SECTION 17 DESIGN PROCESS	28
SECTION 18 OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS	
SECTION 19 ERRORS IN DESIGN	
SECTION 20 LABOUR AND PRODUCTS	
SECTION 21 SUBCONTRACTS	
SECTION 22 OTHER CONTRACTORS	
SECTION 23 ACCESS TO AND USE OF SITE	
SECTION 24 PHASED CONSTRUCTION	
SECTION 25 INTEGRATION	
SECTION 26 SIGNAGE	
SECTION 27 USE OF SITE	
SECTION 28 CONDITIONS AT SITE/DISCLOSED DATA	
SECTION 29 ARCHAEOLOGICAL ITEMS	
SECTION 30 CONTAMINANTS AND ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT	
SECTION 31 SITE SAFETY	
SECTION 32 DUST, NOISE AND VIBRATION	
SECTION 33 TESTING AND COMMISSIONING	
SECTION 34 DOCUMENTS AT THE SITE	
SECTION 35 CLEANUP AND FINAL CLEANING OF WORK	
SECTION 36 REMEDIAL WORK	
SECTION 37 REJECTED WORK	11

SECTION 38 WARRANTY	42
SECTION 39 TITLE AND RISK	43
PART D – PAYMENT AND COMPLETION	43
SECTION 40 APPLICATIONS FOR PAYMENT	43
SECTION 41 TAXES AND DUTIES	
SECTION 42 LIEN HOLDBACK	
SECTION 43 PERFORMANCE HOLDBACKS	
SECTION 44 SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION AND TOTAL COMPLETION SECTION 45 PROJECT BINDER AND RECORD DRAWINGS	
SECTION 45 PROJECT BINDER AND RECORD DRAWINGS SECTION 46 CASH ALLOWANCES	
PART E - CHANGES	
SECTION 47 CHANGES	
SECTION 47 CHANGESSECTION 48 VALUATION AND CERTIFICATION OF CHANGES	
SECTION 49 DETERMINATION OF COST	
SECTION 50 CHANGE DIRECTIVE	
PART F - DELAYS	61
SECTION 51 DELAYS	61
PART G – SUSPENSION AND TERMINATION	62
SECTION 52 NON-DEFAULT SUSPENSION/TERMINATION	62
SECTION 53 DEFAULT AND TERMINATION OF AGREEMENT	
SECTION 54 TERMINATION BY THE DESIGN-BUILDER	66
PART H – REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES	67
SECTION 55 REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES	67
PART I – PROTECTION AND INDEMNITY	68
SECTION 56 PROTECTION OF WORK AND PROPERTY	68
SECTION 57 EXCLUSIONS OF LIABILITY	69
SECTION 58 INDEMNIFICATION	
SECTION 59 DESIGN-BUILDER'S DISCHARGE OF LIABILITY	70
PART J – SECURITY, RECORDS, REPORTS AND AUDIT	71
SECTION 60 BONDS	
SECTION 61 INSURANCE	
SECTION 62 RECORDS AND AUDIT	
PART K – DISPUTE RESOLUTION	
SECTION 63 DISPUTE RESOLUTION	72
PART L – GENERAL PROVISIONS	74
SECTION 64 LAWS, NOTICE, PERMITS AND FEES	
SECTION 65 INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY FEES	
SECTION 66 CONFIDENTIALITY AND COMMUNICATIONS	$7\Delta$

SECTION 67 NOTICE	
SECTION 68 LEGAL RELATIONSHIP	77
SECTION 69 ASSIGNMENT	77
SECTION 70 INTEREST	
SECTION 71 WAIVER	
SECTION 72 ASSUMPTION OF RISK	
SECTION 73 GENERAL DUTY TO MITIGATE	
SECTION 74 OTHER PROVISIONS	78
SCHEDULE 1 STATEMENT OF REQUIREMENTS	
SCHEDULE 2 REVIEW PROCEDURE	
SCHEDULE 3 MANAGEMENT PLANS	
SCHEDULE 5 COMMUNICATION ROLES	
SCHEDULE 6 KEY INDIVIDUALS	
SCHEDULE 7 SCHEDULE OF PRICES	
SCHEDULE 8 PROPOSAL EXTRACTS	
SCHEDULE 9 ENERGY GUARANTEE	
SCHEDULE 10 APPRENTICESHIP POLICY	
SCHEDULE 11 SITE PLAN	

#### **DESIGN-BUILD AGREEMENT**

THIS AGREEMENT (the "Agreement") is made as of April 14, 2022 (the "Effective Date"),

BETWEEN:

#### NORTHERN HEALTH AUTHORITY

(the "Authority")

AND:

#### GRAHAM DESIGN BUILDERS LP

(the "Design-Builder")

#### WHEREAS:

- A. The Authority has selected the Design-Builder to perform all Work for the Project referred to as the "Stuart Lake Hospital Redevelopment", as further described in this Agreement; and
- B. The parties wish to enter into this Agreement to set out their respective rights and obligations.

NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual obligations contained in this Agreement, the parties agree as follows:

#### PART A – DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION

# SECTION 1 DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION

- 1.1 Whenever used in this Agreement, the following terms have the following meanings:
- "Agreement" means this agreement, including the documents referred to in Section 1.2;
- "Apprenticeship Policy" has the meaning set out in Schedule 10 Apprenticeship Policy;
- "Approved Building Performance Professional" has the meaning set out in Section 1.1 of Schedule 9 Energy Guarantee;
- "**Architect**" means a professional architect registered and in good standing under the *Architects Act* (British Columbia);
- "Authority" has the meaning set out on the first page of this Agreement;
- "Authority's Consultant" means Stantec Architectural Ltd., unless replaced in accordance with Section 5.5;
- "Authority's Representative" has the meaning set out in Section 5.1;
- "Bonds" has the meaning set out in Section 60.1;

"Building" means the new Stuart Lake Hospital;

"Business Day" means a day other than a Saturday, Sunday or statutory holiday in British Columbia;

"BC Hydro" means British Columbia Hydro and Power Authority;

"Change" means a change in the Work, including any addition, deletion, alteration, revision or substitution;

"Change Directive" means a written instruction referenced as a "Change Directive" executed by the Authority and directing the Design-Builder to proceed with a Change;

"Change Order" means a written document referenced as a "Change Order" executed by the Authority and the Design-Builder and setting out a Change and the value or method of valuation of a Change and any adjustments to the Contract Price and Contract Time;

"Commissioning Plan" has the meaning set out in Section 33.1;

"Confidential Information" means information of a party that the party has designated as confidential at the time of disclosure and which is supplied, or to which access is granted, to or on behalf of the other party (whether before or after the Effective Date), either in writing, or in any other form, directly or indirectly pursuant to discussions with the other party and includes all analyses, compilations, studies and other documents whether prepared by or on behalf of a party which contain or otherwise reflect or are derived from such designated information;

"Construction" means all things, other than Design, necessary to complete the Work;

"Contaminants" means any materials, substances or hazardous wastes, the storage, manufacture, disposal, treatment, generation, use, transport, remediation or release into the environment of which is now or hereafter prohibited, controlled or regulated under the *Environmental Management Act* (British Columbia) and regulations;

"Contract Price" means the price set out in Section 2.1;

#### "Contract Time" means:

- (a) in respect of the Building, the time within which the Design-Builder will achieve Substantial Completion of the Building as set out in Section 3.1; and
- (b) in respect of the Work which remains after Substantial Completion of the Building, the time within which the Design-Builder will achieve Substantial Completion of the Project as set out in Section 3.1;

"COVID-19 Change in Law" means a change to applicable Laws or Standards which imposes, modifies or removes measures to minimize or mitigate the spread of, and human health effects from, the novel coronavirus COVID-19;

"COVID-19 Event" means an event, other than a COVID-19 Change in Law, arising after the Financial Submission Date and caused by the COVID-19 Pandemic;

"COVID-19 Pandemic" means the novel coronavirus COVID-19 pandemic declared March 11, 2020 by the World Health Organization until such time as the World Health Organization designates or declares the COVID-19 post-pandemic phase;

"Credit Provider" has the meaning set out in Section 12.2;

"Design" means the design for the Facility;

"Design-Builder" has the meaning set out on the first page of this Agreement;

"Design-Builder's Consultant" means ZGF Architects Inc. as the principal Architect and coordinating professional and any other architectural or engineering firm or person, including any Architect or Professional Engineer, engaged by the Design-Builder to prepare the Drawings and Specifications, or to otherwise consult with the Design-Builder on the Project;

"Design-Builder's Representative" has the meaning set out in Section 5.2;

"Diesel Tank Remediation" has the meaning set out in Section 46.9;

"Disclosed Data" means any information, data and documents (including in PLS-CADD or any other electronic format) made available or issued to the Design-Builder or any Subcontractor or other person on behalf of the Design-Builder or any Subcontractor in connection with the Project by or on behalf of the Authority, including any information relating to the Land or the requirements of any governmental authority, whether before or after the Effective Date;

"**Dispute**" means any disagreement, failure to agree or other dispute between the Authority and the Design-Builder arising out of or in connection with this Agreement, including in respect of the interpretation, breach, performance, validity or termination of this Agreement, whether in the law of contract or any other area of law;

"**Drawings**" means all drawings for the Project that are prepared by or for the Design-Builder and submitted to the Authority under the Review Procedure and that the Design-Builder is entitled to proceed with under the Review Procedure;

"Effective Date" has the meaning set out on the first page of this Agreement;

"End Date" means the date described in Section 4.1;

"Energy" has the meaning set out in Section 1.1 of Schedule 9 – Energy Guarantee;

"Energy Consumption" has the meaning set out in Section 1.1 of Schedule 9 – Energy Guarantee;

"Energy Model" has the meaning set out in Section 1.1 of Schedule 9 – Energy Guarantee;

"Energy Target" has the meaning set out in Section 1.1 of Schedule 9 – Energy Guarantee;

"Environmental Credit" has the meaning set out in Section 1.1 of Schedule 9 – Energy Guarantee;

"Environmental Reports" has the meaning set out in Section 30.1(a);

"**Epidemic**" means an epidemic or pandemic of infectious disease of humans, including one that is either declared by the World Health Organization or that is a "regional event" as defined in the *Public Health Act* (British Columbia) for which the Provincial Health Officer gives notice under Section 52 of that Act, but excluding the COVID-19 Pandemic;

"Epidemic Change in Law" means a change to applicable Laws and Standards which in respect of an Epidemic imposes, modifies or removes measures to minimize or mitigate the spread of, and human health effects from, relevant infectious disease;

"**Epidemic Event**" means an event, other than an Epidemic Change in Law, arising after the Financial Submission Date and caused by an Epidemic;

"Existing Hospital" means the existing Stuart Lake Hospital;

"Facility" means the buildings, related structures, utility connections, landscaping and other improvements to be constructed by the Design-Builder pursuant to this Agreement;

"FIPPA" means the Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act (British Columbia);

"Fire Protection Cash Allowance" has the meaning set out in Section 46.11;

"Financial Submission Date" means April 6, 2022;

"Force Majeure" means COVID-19 Events, Epidemic Events, labour disputes, strikes, lock-outs, fire, unusual delay by common carriers or unavoidable casualties or, without limiting any of the foregoing, by a cause beyond the Design-Builder's reasonable control, but excludes:

- (a) any event that is the result of breach of this Agreement or Law;
- (b) economic hardship or lack of financing;
- (c) equipment failure;
- (d) unavailability of personnel, labour or Subcontractors, unless and to the extent caused by a COVID-19 Event or an Epidemic Event;
- (e) unavailability of materials, unless and to the extent caused by a COVID-19 Event or an Epidemic Event;
- (f) labour disputes, strikes or lock-outs of the personnel of the Design-Builder or the Subcontractors;
- (g) delays resulting from adverse weather conditions, unless and to the extent that such adverse weather conditions directly give rise to a declaration of a state of emergency by the Province of British Columbia pursuant to section 9 of the *Emergency Program Act* (British Columbia); and
- (h) unsuitable or unanticipated Site conditions, including subsurface conditions;

"GST" means the goods and services tax imposed pursuant to Section IX of the Excise Tax Act (Canada);

"Health and Safety Plan" has the meaning set out in Section 31.5;

"Indemnified Parties" has the meaning set out in Section 58.1;

"Independent Energy Consultant" has the meaning set out in Section 1.1 of Schedule 9 – Energy Guarantee;

"Insurance Conditions" means the terms and conditions set out in Schedule 4 – Insurance Conditions;

"**Key Individuals**" means the persons identified in Schedule 6 – Key Individuals;

"Land" means the lands legally described as PID: 010-554-050, LOT A DISTRICT LOT 1267 RANGE 5 COAST DISTRICT PLAN 5421;

"Laws" means the common law and any and all laws, statutes, enactments, by-laws, regulations, rules, orders, directives, policies, permits, licences, codes and rulings of any government, and any ministries, agencies, board, commission or tribunal of any government;

"LD Holdback" has the meaning set out in Section 43.1;

"LEED Certifier" means the Canada Green Building Council or other organization authorized by the Canada Green Building Council to administer and award LEED Gold Certification;

"LEED Gold Certification" means the award of a LEED Gold Certification from the LEED Certifier under the LEED Rating System;

"LEED Rating System" means LEED v4 for Building Design and Construction (BD + C); Healthcare;

"Lien Holdback" means the 10% holdback required under the Builders Lien Act (British Columbia);

"Other Contractor" means any person employed by or having a separate contract directly or indirectly with the Authority for work related to the Project, other than the Work;

"Performance Holdbacks" has the meaning set out in Section 43.1;

"PNG" means Pacific Northern Gas Ltd.;

"Professional Engineer" means a professional engineer registered and in good standing under the Engineers and Geoscientists Act (British Columbia);

"Project" means the design, construction, testing and commissioning of the Facility and all other works in accordance with this Agreement;

"Project Binder" has the meaning set out in Section 45.1;

"Project Credits" means any incentive, income, credit, rebate, right, benefit or advantage provided by a governmental authority or industry group relating to energy, design, materials or environmental matters, including means of production of energy, input sources, use of products or materials, efficiencies, type and level of emissions, and compliance with any energy or environmental laws, regulations, rules or orders;

"Project Management Plan" means the management plan that (i) sets out a high level workplan to describe the manner in which the Design-Builder will manage the Project, including to address related matters such as traffic management and communications, and (ii) is prepared by or for the Design-Builder and submitted to the Authority;

"Proposal Extracts" means Schedule 8 – Proposal Extracts;

"PST" means the tax under the *Provincial Sales Tax Act* (British Columbia) and any regulation thereunder, including any transition provisions;

"Quality Management Plan" means the plan for quality management including quality control and quality assurance with respect to the Work, a draft of which is included in the Proposal Extracts, together with such changes to the plan that are prepared by the Design-Builder and submitted to the Authority under the Review Procedure and that the Design-Builder is entitled to proceed with under the Review Procedure;

"Record Drawings" means the as-built Drawings and Specifications that record the completed Facility;

"Remediation Cash Allowance" has the meaning set out in Section 46.9;

"Review Procedure" means Schedule 2 – Review Procedure;

"Schedule of Values" means the schedule to be provided by the Design-Builder pursuant to Section 40.4 and reviewed by the Authority under the Review Procedure that allocates the Contract Price set out in Schedule 7 – Schedule of Prices over the course of the Project and that is the basis for monthly payments by the Authority for Work properly performed pursuant to this Agreement;

"Site" means the place where the Construction is to be performed on the Land as indicated on the Site Plan, together with, as indicated from time to time, other such areas that the Design-Builder may be permitted to access for purposes of Construction in accordance with a Work Plan pursuant to Section 25.2;

"Site Occupation Date" means the date that is the third Business Day after the Effective Date unless otherwise agreed by the Authority and the Design-Builder;

"Site Plan" means the plan of the Site attached as Schedule 11 to this Agreement;

"Site Reports" means the Geotechnical Assessment for Stuart Lake Hospital;

"Specifications" means all construction and other specifications for the Project prepared by or for the Design-Builder and submitted to the Authority under the Review Procedure and that the Design-Builder is entitled to proceed with under the Review Procedure;

"Standards" means any and all Laws, professional standards and specifications applicable to the Work, or to work such as the Project, as they are in force from time to time in the latest current version thereof;

"Statement of Requirements" means Schedule 1 – Statement of Requirements;

"Subcontract" means a contract with a Subcontractor;

"Subcontractor" means a person or entity, including the Design-Builder's Consultant, having a contract with the Design-Builder or with a subcontractor of any tier to perform a part or parts of the Work or to supply products or materials for the Work;

"Submittal" means any and all items, documents and anything else required or specified by this Agreement and any and all subsequent revisions, amendments and changes thereto, in respect of the Design and the Construction to be submitted to, reviewed, accepted or otherwise processed or considered by the Authority;

"Submittal Schedule" has the meaning set out in Section 1.1 of Schedule 2 – Review Procedure;

"Substantial Completion" means "Substantial Completion of the Project", unless "Substantial Completion" is expressly indicated to refer only to the Building;

"Substantial Completion Certificate" means the certificate issued to the Design-Builder by the Authority's Consultant upon the achievement of Substantial Completion of the Building or Substantial Completion of the Project, as described in this Agreement;

"Substantial Completion Date" means the date that Substantial Completion of the Building or Substantial Completion of the Project has been achieved by the Design-Builder, as set out in the Substantial Completion Certificate:

"Substantial Completion of the Building" has the meaning set out in Section 44.2;

"Substantial Completion of the Project" has the meaning set out in Section 44.3;

"Target Building Substantial Completion Date" has the meaning set out in Section 3.1;

"Target Project Substantial Completion Date" has the meaning set out in Section 3.1;

"Term" means the period commencing on the Effective Date and ending on the End Date;

"Time Schedule" means the general schedule for timing of the Work as set out in the Proposal Extracts and as updated pursuant to Section 7;

"Total Completion" has the meaning set out in Section 44.12;

"Total Completion Certificate" means the certificate issued to the Design-Builder by the Authority's Consultant upon the achievement of Total Completion;

"**Total Completion Date**" means the date that Total Completion has been achieved, as set out in the Total Completion Certificate;

"User Consultation Group" has the meaning set out in Section 4 of Schedule 2 – Review Procedure;

"Warranty Holdback" has the meaning set out in Section 43.1;

"Warranty Period" means the applicable period defined in Section 38.1 during which the Design-Builder is required to repair any deficiencies or defects that arise in the Work;

"Water Reservoir Drain Cash Allowance" has the meaning set out in Section 46.10;

"Work" means everything to be undertaken by the Design-Builder under this Agreement;

"Work Plan" has the meaning set out in Section 25.2; and

"Workers' Compensation Board" or "WorkSafe BC" means the board constituted pursuant to the Workers Compensation Act (British Columbia).

- 1.2 This Agreement includes the following schedules and all sub-schedules, appendices and attachments to those schedules:
  - (a) Schedule 1 Statement of Requirements;
  - (b) Schedule 2 Review Procedure;
  - (c) Schedule 3 Management Plans;
  - (d) Schedule 4 Insurance Conditions;
  - (e) Schedule 5 Communication Roles;
  - (f) Schedule 6 Key Individuals;
  - (g) Schedule 7 Schedule of Prices;
  - (h) Schedule 8 Proposal Extracts;
  - (i) Schedule 9 Energy Guarantee;
  - (j) Schedule 10 Apprenticeship Policy; and
  - (k) Schedule 11 Site Plan.
- 1.3 This Agreement will be interpreted according to the following provisions, except to the extent the context or the express provisions of this Agreement otherwise require:
  - (a) no rule of law will apply that would construe this Agreement or any part of it against the party who (or whose counsel) drafted, prepared or put forward the Agreement or any part of it;
  - (b) the table of contents, headings and sub-headings, marginal notes and references to them in this Agreement are for convenience of reference only, do not constitute a part of this Agreement and will not be taken into consideration in the interpretation or construction of, or affect the meaning of, this Agreement;
  - (c) neither the organization of the Statement of Requirements, the Proposal Extracts or any other documents included in this Agreement into divisions, sections and parts, or the arrangement of drawings or specifications included in this Agreement will control the Design-Builder in dividing the Work among Subcontractors or in establishing the Work to be performed by a trade;
  - (d) each reference to a Section or Schedule is a reference to a Section of or Schedule to this Agreement;
  - (e) a Schedule includes all of the sub-schedules, appendices and other attachments attached to that Schedule;

- (f) each reference to an agreement, document, standard, principle or other instrument includes (subject to all relevant approvals and any other provisions of this Agreement expressly concerning such agreement, document, standard, principle or other instrument) a reference to that agreement, document, standard, principle or instrument as amended, supplemented, substituted, novated or assigned;
- (g) each reference to a statute or statutory provision (including any subordinate legislation) includes any statute or statutory provision which amends, extends, consolidates or replaces the statute or statutory provision or which has been amended, extended, consolidated or replaced by the statute or statutory provision and includes any orders, regulations, by-laws, ordinances, orders, codes of practice, instruments or other subordinate legislation made under the relevant statute;
- (h) each reference to time of day is a reference to Pacific Standard Time or Pacific Daylight Saving Time, as the case may be;
- (i) words, including "they", "them" and "their", which may import the plural include the singular and vice versa;
- (j) words which may import gender are interpreted as gender neutral;
- (k) each reference to a public organization is deemed to include a reference to any successor(s) to such public organization or any organization or entity or organizations or entities which has or have taken over the functions or responsibilities of such public organization;
- (l) unless the context otherwise requires, each reference to "parties" means the parties to this Agreement and each reference to a "party" means any one of the parties to this Agreement, provided however that a reference to a third party does not mean a party to this Agreement;
- (m) all monetary amounts are expressed in Canadian Dollars;
- (n) whenever this Agreement obliges a party (the "Payor") to pay any amount to the other party (the "Payee") in respect of any costs, expenses, fees, charges, liabilities, losses, claims or other sums incurred by the Payee:
  - (i) such obligation will be construed as applying only to so much of such sums as have been properly incurred on an arm's length commercial basis or, where not incurred on an arm's length commercial basis (including when the payment is made to an affiliate of the Payee), so much of them as are proper and reasonable; and
  - (ii) the Payee will, when requested by the Payor, provide supporting evidence of such costs, expenses, fees, charges, liabilities, losses, claims or other sums;
- (o) the Authority will not be imputed with knowledge of any fact, matter or thing unless that fact, matter or thing is within the actual knowledge of any of those of its employees or agents (including the Authority's Representative) who have responsibilities in connection with the conduct of the Work;
- (p) without limiting the extent of its actual knowledge, the Design-Builder will for all purposes of this Agreement be deemed to have such knowledge in respect of the Work as is held (or ought reasonably to be held) by all persons involved in carrying out the Work including

- the Design-Builder and the Subcontractors (including the Design-Builder's Consultant) and the officers, agents, employees or workers of any of them;
- (q) each requirement for a thing or action to be "in accordance with" or "in compliance with" any standard, code or specification or other requirement or stipulation means that such thing or action is to exceed or at least equal that standard, code, specification or other requirement or stipulation;
- (r) the words "include", "includes" and "including" are to be construed as meaning "include without limitation", "includes without limitation" and "including without limitation", respectively;
- (s) the terms "will", "shall" and "must" are synonymous;
- (t) the Statement of Requirements includes provisions written in the imperative, and all such provisions will be construed as obligations of the Design-Builder;
- (u) when a party has "discretion", it means that party has the sole, absolute and unfettered discretion, with no requirement to act reasonably or provide reasons unless specifically required under the provisions of this Agreement;
- (v) any consent contemplated to be given under this Agreement must be in writing;
- (w) general words are not given a restrictive meaning:
  - (i) if they are introduced by the word "other", by reason of the fact that they are preceded by words indicating a particular class of act, matter or thing; or
  - (ii) by reason of the fact that they are followed by particular examples intended to be embraced by those general words;
- (x) words or abbreviations which have well-known technical or trade meanings are used in accordance with those meanings;
- (y) the expression "all reasonable efforts" and expressions of like import, when used in connection with an obligation of either of the parties, means taking in good faith and with due diligence all commercially reasonable steps to achieve the objective and to perform the obligation, including doing all that can reasonably be done in the circumstances taking into account each party's obligations hereunder to mitigate delays and additional costs to the other party, and in any event taking no less steps and efforts than those that would be taken by a commercially reasonable and prudent person in comparable circumstances but where the whole of the benefit of the obligation and where all the results of taking such steps and efforts accrued solely to that person's own benefit, provided that the foregoing will not require the Authority to:
  - (i) take any action which is contrary to the public interest, as determined by the Authority in its discretion; or
  - (ii) undertake any mitigation measure that might be available arising out of its status as a public body that would not normally be available to a private commercial party;

- (z) the expressions "by the Design-Builder" and "by or through the Design-Builder" and expressions of like import are synonymous and mean by the Design-Builder or by anyone employed by or through the Design-Builder, including the Design-Builder and all Subcontractors and their respective officers, agents, employees and workers;
- (aa) all accounting and financial terms used herein are, unless otherwise indicated, to be interpreted and applied in accordance with GAAP, consistently applied;
- (bb) if the time for doing an act falls or expires on a day that is not a Business Day, the time for doing such act will be extended to the next Business Day;
- (cc) each provision of this Agreement will be valid and enforceable to the fullest extent permitted by law. If any provision of this Agreement is held to be invalid, unenforceable or illegal to any extent, such provision may be severed and such invalidity, unenforceability or illegality will not prejudice or affect the validity, enforceability and legality of the remaining provisions of this Agreement. If any such provision of this Agreement is held to be invalid, unenforceable or illegal, the parties will promptly endeavour in good faith to negotiate new provisions to eliminate such invalidity, unenforceability or illegality and to restore this Agreement as nearly as possible to its original intent and effect; and
- (dd) each release, waiver of liability and indemnity in this Agreement expressed to be given in favour of a person is and will be interpreted as having been given in favour of and may be enforced by that person and, in the case of the Authority, by the Indemnified Parties.
- 1.4 All documents forming this Agreement are complementary, and what is required by any one will be as binding as if required by all.
- 1.5 If there is a conflict within the documents forming this Agreement:
  - (a) the provisions establishing the higher quality, manner or method of performing the Work, using the more stringent standards, will prevail, with the intent that the provisions which produce the higher quality with the higher levels of safety, reliability, durability, performance and service will prevail;
  - (b) the order of priority of documents from highest to lowest will be:
    - (i) the part of this Agreement from the first page to the page with the signatures of the persons executing this Agreement;
    - (ii) the schedules (including appendices, sub-schedules and attachments to the schedules), except Schedule 8 Proposal Extracts, in the order in which they are listed in Section 1.2;
    - (iii) Schedule 8 Proposal Extracts;
  - (c) specifications will govern over drawings;
  - (d) drawings of a larger scale will govern over those of a smaller scale of the same date;
  - (e) dimensions shown in drawings will govern over dimensions scaled from drawings; and

(f) later dated documents will govern over earlier dated documents of the same type.

#### PART B – PRICE, TIME AND TERM

#### SECTION 2 CONTRACT PRICE

- 2.1 The Authority will pay the Contract Price of \$127,152,943 plus applicable GST to the Design-Builder for performance of the Work.
- 2.2 The Contract Price is the entire compensation to the Design-Builder for performance of the Work.
- 2.3 The Contract Price is subject to adjustments as provided in this Agreement.
- 2.4 The Authority will pay the Contract Price to the Design-Builder as provided in this Agreement.

### SECTION 3 CONTRACT TIME

- 3.1 The Design-Builder will commence the Work within 7 days after the Effective Date and will thereafter diligently perform the Work in accordance with this Agreement and achieve Substantial Completion of the Building on or before September 30, 2024 (the "Target Building Substantial Completion Date"), Substantial Completion of the Project on or before September 30, 2025 (the "Target Project Substantial Completion Date") and Total Completion on or before the date that is 30 days after Substantial Completion of the Project.
- 3.2 The Design-Builder will perform the Work in compliance with the Time Schedule, as may be modified in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.
- 3.3 Delay Liquidated Damages
  - (a) Subject to paragraph 3.3(c), if the Design-Builder fails to achieve Substantial Completion of the Building on or before the Target Building Substantial Completion Date and the Authority has not extended the Target Building Substantial Completion Date in the Time Schedule in accordance with this Agreement, the Design-Builder will pay to the Authority by way of liquidated damages and not as a penalty the sum of for each and every day after the Target Building Substantial Completion Date that Substantial Completion of the Building is not achieved (or if the Authority has extended the Target Building Substantial Completion Date in the Time Schedule in accordance with this Agreement, such other date established for the Target Building Substantial Completion Date).
  - (b) Subject to paragraph 3.3(c), if the Design-Builder fails to achieve Substantial Completion of the Project on or before the Target Project Substantial Completion Date and the Authority has not extended the Target Project Substantial Completion Date in the Time Schedule in accordance with this Agreement, the Design-Builder will pay to the Authority by way of liquidated damages and not as a penalty the sum of for each and every day after the Target Project Substantial Completion Date that Substantial Completion of the Project is not achieved (or if the Authority has extended the Target Project Substantial Completion Date in the Time Schedule in accordance with this Agreement, such other date established for the Target Project Substantial Completion Date).

- (c) If the Design-Builder provides a notice to the Authority at least one hundred and eighty (180) days prior to the Target Building Substantial Completion Date or the Target Project Substantial Completion Date that it will not achieve the Target Building Substantial Completion Date or the Target Project Substantial Completion date, respectively, the Authority will extend such date(s) in the Time Schedule and the above 3.3(a) and 3.3(b) delay liquidated damages will only be applicable to the revised date(s) of Target Building Substantial Completion and/or Target Project Substantial Completion as was provided by the Design-Builder in such notice. Within such notice, the Design-Builder may only extend the current Target Building Substantial Completion Date and/or the current Target Project Substantial Completion Date by a maximum of ninety (90) days. The Design-Builder may only provide the notice contemplated by this paragraph 3.3(c) once.
- (d) The maximum aggregate amount of such liquidated damages will be of the Contract Price at any one time. If this Agreement is terminated, the reference in this Section 3.3 to the "Contract Price" will be deemed only for purposes of this Section 3.3 to be the amount to which the Design-Builder would have been entitled if the Design-Builder had properly performed and completed the Work and this Agreement had not been terminated. The liquidated damages will be the Authority's sole claim for damages against the Design-Builder for failure to achieve Substantial Completion of the Building by the Target Building Substantial Completion Date or for failure to achieve Substantial Completion of the Project by the Target Project Substantial Completion Date. The liquidated damages will not relieve the Design-Builder from its obligation to complete the Work or from any other duties, obligations or responsibilities of the Design-Builder under this Agreement, and will not limit the Authority's rights to terminate this Agreement for default of the Design-Builder under this Agreement.
- 3.4 The Authority and the Design-Builder agree that the amounts in Section 3.3 represent genuine preestimates of the damages and expenses that the Authority is likely to incur for such failure to meet the Target Building Substantial Completion Date or the Target Project Substantial Completion Date, as applicable, and both parties expressly agree that such amount is not a penalty. The Authority may, in its discretion, either deduct the daily sums in respect of liquidated damages from the Performance Holdbacks or any amounts payable to the Design-Builder under this Agreement or may require payment thereof by the Design-Builder on demand.

#### SECTION 4 TERM

- 4.1 With the exception of provisions that are expressly stated to survive the expiry of the Term, this Agreement is effective for the period commencing on the Effective Date and ending on the date (the "End Date") that (i) this Agreement is terminated in accordance with its terms or (ii) all of the following conditions are fulfilled:
  - (a) the Design-Builder and the Authority have performed all obligations required under this Agreement;
  - (b) the Total Completion Certificate has been issued in accordance with Section 44.13; and
  - (c) the Design-Builder has fulfilled all of its obligations pursuant to Section 38.

- 4.2 The Authority and the Design-Builder acknowledge and agree that:
  - (a) the Authority and the Design-Builder entered into an agreement titled "Design Early Works Agreement" dated as of January 29, 2021 (for purposes of this Section 4.2 defined as the "**DEWA**") and that the DEWA was terminated effective as of the Effective Date;
  - (b) the Authority and the Design-Builder entered into an assignment of contracts in connection with the DEWA dated as of January 29, 2021 (the "Assignment of Contracts") and that the Assignment of Contracts is terminated effective as of the Effective Date and the Assigned Property referred to therein is re-assigned to the Design-Builder; and
  - (c) all Design Early Works (as defined in the DEWA) undertaken under the DEWA in advance of the Effective Date are deemed to have been undertaken by the Design-Builder pursuant to this Agreement (except for the provision of insurance under the DEWA) and the Design-Builder accepts and assumes full risk, responsibility and liability for the Design Early Works.

# SECTION 5 REPRESENTATIVES, AUTHORITY'S CONSULTANT AND KEY INDIVIDUALS

- 5.1 Within 7 days after the Effective Date, the Authority will give written notice to the Design-Builder designating its representative for the purposes of this Agreement, such notice shall include the email address, telephone number, address and any additional contact information required for such representative (the "Authority's Representative"). The Authority will give written notice to the Design-Builder of any change of the Authority's Representative. The Authority or the Authority Representative may by written notice delegate any or all of the functions of the Authority's Representative to any other person, including for a specified period of time in the absence of the Authority's Representative.
- 5.2 The representative of the Design-Builder for the purposes of this Agreement (the "**Design-Builder's Representative**") will be the person designated as such in Schedule 6 Key Individuals, unless otherwise agreed by the Authority. The Design-Builder's Representative may by written notice delegate any or all of the functions of the Design-Builder's Representative to any other person, including for a specified period of time in the absence of the Design-Builder's Representative. The email address, telephone number, address and any additional contact information required for the Design-Builder's Representative or any person appointed to perform any or all tasks of the Design-Builder's Representative must be provided to the Authority at the Effective Date or at the time of such delegation of responsibilities as noted in this Section 5.2 occurs.
- 5.3 The Design-Builder's Representative will represent the Design-Builder at the Site and written instructions given to the Design-Builder's Representative by the Authority will be deemed to have been given to the Design-Builder.
- 5.4 The Authority will engage the Authority's Consultant to provide, without limitation, the following services, duties and responsibilities:
  - (a) determining of amounts owing to the Design-Builder based on the Authority's Consultant's observations and evaluations of the Design-Builder's applications for payment;
  - (b) issuing of certificates of payment;

- (c) interpreting, in the first instance, of the requirements of this Agreement and the making of findings as to the performance hereunder by both the Authority and the Design-Builder without showing partiality to either the Authority or the Design-Builder, and in no event incurring liability for the result of such interpretations or findings rendered in good faith in such capacity;
- (d) interpreting and finding, in the first instance, of Disputes;
- (e) assisting the Authority with advisory team services, including assisting with review of the Design;
- (f) rejecting Work which does not conform to the requirements of this Agreement;
- (g) overseeing testing and inspection of the Construction by the Authority's Consultant, whether or not such Construction has been fabricated, installed, or completed;
- (h) determining the dates of substantial performance under the *Builders Lien Act* (British Columbia), Substantial Completion of the Building, Substantial Completion of the Project and Total Completion and the issuing of certificates for same;
- (i) verification of the Design-Builder's applications for release of the Performance Holdbacks;
- (j) reviewing any defects or deficiencies in the Work at Substantial Completion of the Building and Substantial Completion of the Project and the issuance of appropriate instructions for the correction of same; and
- (k) such other work that may be required by the Authority from time to time and that is acceptable to the Authority's Consultant.

The Authority reserves the right, on notice from the Authority to the Design-Builder, to perform or appoint an alternate advisor or consultant to perform, the services, duties and responsibilities identified in paragraphs (a), (b), (h) and (i) above (including determining amounts owing, evaluating applications for payment and issuing certificates of payment), and similar or ancillary services, duties and responsibilities, and upon any such notice the applicable provisions of this Agreement will be deemed to refer to the Authority or such alternate advisor or consultant in place of the Authority's Consultant.

- 5.5 If the Authority's Consultant's engagement is terminated, the Authority will engage a new Authority's Consultant to provide the Authority's Consultant's services. The Authority will notify the Design-Builder in writing before appointing a new Authority's Consultant and the Authority will not appoint any person to be the new Authority's Consultant to whom the Design-Builder may reasonably object.
- 5.6 Attached as Schedule 6 Key Individuals is a list of Key Individuals that the Design-Builder will utilize in undertaking the Design and Construction as described in that Schedule. Unless agreed by the Authority, no individual will hold more than one position set out in Schedule 6 Key Individuals.

- 5.7 With respect to each of the Key Individuals:
  - (a) The Design-Builder will use all reasonable efforts to retain the Key Individuals to perform the duties described in Schedule 6 Key Individuals; and
  - (b) if for any reason a Key Individual resigns or is otherwise unavailable to perform the duties described in Schedule 6 Key Individuals then the Design-Builder will use all reasonable efforts to retain a replacement with similar expertise and experience to the unavailable Key Individual satisfactory to the Authority acting reasonably, and the Design-Builder will not replace such Key Individual without the Authority's consent, acting reasonably.
- 5.8 Within 10 days of the Design-Builder having knowledge that a Key Individual is or will be unavailable, the Design-Builder will:
  - (a) notify the Authority; and
  - (b) immediately commence the process to retain a replacement prior to the unavailability of such Key Individual or promptly thereafter and will replace the Key Individual no later than 20 Business Days after the unavailability of such Key Individual.
- 5.9 If either the Authority or the Design-Builder reasonably considers that a replacement cannot reasonably be retained within such 20 Business Days, the Design-Builder will deliver to the Authority a reasonable program (set out, if appropriate, in stages) for retaining the replacement. The program will specify in reasonable detail the manner in, and the latest date, by which the replacement will be retained.
- 5.10 The Authority will have 10 Business Days from receipt of the program within which to notify the Design-Builder that the Authority, acting reasonably, does not accept the program, failing which the Authority will be deemed to have accepted the program. If the Authority notifies the Design-Builder that it does not accept the program as being reasonable, the parties will use all reasonable efforts within the following five Business Days to agree to any necessary amendments to the program put forward. In the absence of an agreement within such five Business Days, the question of whether the program (as it may have been amended by agreement) will result in the retainer of a replacement in a reasonable manner and within a reasonable time period (and, if not, what would be a reasonable program) may be referred by either party for resolution in accordance with Section 63 Dispute Resolution.
- 5.11 The Design-Builder acknowledges that if any of the Key Individuals are not available and are not replaced as required by this Agreement, the Authority will not be obtaining the Design and Construction at the quality and level assumed to be included in the payments to be made to the Design-Builder hereunder and that in addition the Authority may incur costs and expenses.
- 5.12 If either (i) the position of any Key Individual remains unfilled for more than 20 Business Days after the applicable individual Key Individual ceased to hold the position or ceased to perform the functions of that position, or (ii) the Authority has accepted a program under Section 5.10 and the Design-Builder at any time fails to comply with any part of the program:
  - (a) the Design-Builder will pay the Authority's reasonable internal administrative and personnel costs and all reasonable out-of-pocket costs related to any measures the Authority considers are reasonably incurred in relation to the position being unfilled, including the costs to ensure that Design-Builder meets its requirements for Design and

- Construction and for the Authority to review and consider any replacement under this Section 5; and
- (b) the Authority at its election may deem the position of the Key Individual to be a Change (other than the requirements to comply with this Section 5) and for the period of time that the Key Individual position has remained unfilled the Authority will be credited with the amount of the cost (wages, benefits, fees and other costs) that would have been incurred by the Design-Builder and Subcontractors in respect of the Key Individual plus a markup as set out in Section 49.2(b).

#### PART C – THE WORK

#### SECTION 6 GENERAL

- 6.1 The Design-Builder will perform the Work in accordance with the requirements of this Agreement, including Schedule 1 Statement of Requirements.
- 6.2 The Design-Builder will perform and provide all professional design services, construction administration and construction work and all labour, services, products, materials, tools, water, heat, light, power, transportation, equipment, machinery and other facilities and services and everything else necessary for the performance of the Work.

## SECTION 7 TIME SCHEDULE

- 7.1 The Design-Builder will submit for review by the Authority, by no later than 14 days after the Effective Date and, in any event, before the Authority is required to make the first payment, a Time Schedule consistent with the form of Time Schedule included in the Proposal Extracts.
- 7.2 The Design-Builder will ensure that the Time Schedule will be consistent with and meet the Target Building Substantial Completion Date, the Target Project Substantial Completion Date and the date required for Total Completion and all other applicable requirements of this Agreement including Schedule 1 Statement of Requirements.
- 7.3 The Design-Builder will submit for review by the Authority an updated Time Schedule at intervals of 1 month, reflecting progress to date and including a comparison to the previously submitted Time Schedule, the reasons for any changes from the previous Time Schedule and a forecast to achieving Substantial Completion of the Building, Substantial Completion of the Project and Total Completion.
- 7.4 If at any time the actual progress of the Work does not materially conform with the Time Schedule, the Design-Builder will:
  - (a) submit to the Authority a report identifying the reasons for such non-conformity; and
  - (b) submit to the Authority a revised Time Schedule that meets all applicable requirements of this Agreement and provides for the Work to be pursued diligently to Substantial Completion of the Building, Substantial Completion of the Project and Total Completion.

#### SECTION 8 CONTROL AND SUPERVISION OF THE WORK

- 8.1 The Design-Builder will effectively direct and supervise the Work using its best skill and attention. The Design-Builder will be solely liable and responsible for:
  - (a) all design and all construction means, methods, techniques, sequences and procedures with respect to the Work; and
  - (b) coordinating all parts of the Work under this Agreement and for coordinating the Work with work of Subcontractors and, in accordance with Section 22.2, with work of Other Contractors,

in accordance with generally accepted management and supervisory practices in British Columbia.

- 8.2 The Design-Builder will have the sole responsibility for the design, erection, operation, maintenance and removal of temporary structures and other temporary facilities and the design and execution of construction methods required in their use. The Design-Builder will engage and pay for Professional Engineers and Architects to perform these functions where required by Law, and in all cases where such temporary facilities and their method of construction are of such a nature that the education, training and qualifications of the Architect or Professional Engineer are required to produce safe and satisfactory results.
- 8.3 The Design-Builder will execute the Work in a continuous and diligent manner, and perform all its obligations in conformance with this Agreement, including the Project Management Plan and the Time Schedule.
- Unless otherwise stated in this Agreement, the Design-Builder will perform the Work at the times, in the order of procedure and in the manner and method that the Design-Builder considers appropriate provided such Work is in conformance with this Agreement, including the Project Management Plan, Phasing Plan, Work Plan, Site Plan and the Time Schedule.
- 8.5 The Design-Builder will employ a competent construction manager, and necessary assistants, at the Site at all times during the progress of the Work.
- 8.6 The Design-Builder will employ or cause the Subcontractors to employ a sufficient number of sufficiently skilled workers to perform the Construction in compliance with this Agreement.
- 8.7 The Design-Builder will at all times maintain good order and discipline among its employees engaged on the Work.
- 8.8 Before commencing the Work, the Design-Builder will:
  - (a) purchase and deliver the Bonds as set out in Section 60 to the Authority; and
  - (b) file with the Authority certificates of all insurance policies and necessary endorsements to comply with the Insurance Conditions.
- 8.9 The Design-Builder will not perform any Construction on the Site prior to the Site Occupation Date and will not commence any Construction until the Design-Builder has submitted a Design for that portion of the Work to be constructed that is in conformance with this Agreement, submitted to the

- Authority under the Review Procedure and that the Design-Builder is entitled to proceed with under the Review Procedure.
- 8.10 If agreed to in writing by the Authority, the Design-Builder may perform necessary limited investigative and preparatory activities on the Site prior to the Site Occupation Date.
- 8.11 The Design-Builder will comply with the provisions of Schedule 10 Apprenticeship Policy.

### SECTION 9 QUALITY MANAGEMENT

- 9.1 The Design-Builder is solely responsible for the quality of the Work and will diligently implement its Quality Management Plan.
- 9.2 The Design-Builder will establish, implement and submit for the review by the Authority, by no later than 30 days after the Effective Date, a Quality Management Plan consistent with the form of Quality Management Plan included in the Proposal Extracts and the requirements of this Section 9. The Design-Builder will perform the Work in accordance with, and meet the requirements of, the Quality Management Plan.
- 9.3 The Quality Management Plan will:
  - (a) meet all applicable requirements of this Agreement;
  - (b) reflect the Design-Builder's organizational chart and demonstrate the integration of the Design-Builder's Consultant with the Design-Builder and its Subcontractors;
  - outline the procedures to be implemented to ensure robust and thorough quality control and quality assurance by the Design-Builder and its Subcontractors;
  - (d) clearly indicate the processes, testing, certification and auditing that will be performed to verify all parts of the Work comply with this Agreement;
  - (e) clearly indicate the timing of the elements of the Quality Management Plan and the documentation to demonstrate compliance that will be obtained by the Design-Builder and its Subcontractors and provided to the Authority;
  - (f) include all processes, testing, certification, auditing and documentation reasonably required by the Authority's Consultant; and
  - (g) ensure that the Work will meet the requirements of this Agreement.
- 9.4 The Design-Builder will not commence any Construction until:
  - (a) the quality control and quality assurance procedures applicable to that part of the Work have been developed and included in the Quality Management Plan and the Design-Builder is entitled to proceed with the Quality Management Plan in accordance with the Review Procedure; and
  - (b) such quality control and quality assurance procedures are fully implemented by the Design-Builder.

- 9.5 The Authority may at any time audit the Quality Management Plan and its implementation and may, at the Authority's expense, carry out independent quality control testing at any time.
- 9.6 Nothing in this Section 9 and no review, audit, inspection, acceptance, comment, approval, action or inaction by the Authority, the Authority's Representative, the Authority's Consultant or any person on behalf of the Authority or by or on behalf of any governmental authority will derogate from or relieve the Design-Builder from its obligations under this Agreement including sole responsibility for the quality of the Work, the Quality Management Plan and implementation of the Quality Management Plan.
- 9.7 The Authority, the Authority's Representative, the Authority's Consultant and other persons designated by the Authority will, subject to the terms of this Agreement relating to health and safety, have access to the Work at all times at the Site and wherever the Work is in preparation or progress and the Design-Builder will provide reasonable facilities for such access.
- 9.8 If any of the Work requires tests, inspections or approvals by this Agreement, or by the written instructions of the Authority or the Authority's Consultant, or by applicable Laws, the Design-Builder will give the Authority reasonable notice of when such Work is ready for review and inspection. The Design-Builder will arrange for and will give the Authority reasonable notice of the date and time of inspections by any governmental authorities.
- 9.9 The Design-Builder will furnish promptly to the Authority, on request, a copy of certificates and inspection reports relating to the Work.
- 9.10 If the Design-Builder covers, or permits to be covered, Work that has been designated for tests, inspections or approvals before such tests, inspections or approvals are made, given or completed, the Design-Builder will, if so directed, uncover such Work, have the inspections or tests satisfactorily completed, and make good the covering work at the Design-Builder's expense.
- 9.11 Subject to Section 9.10, the Authority may order any portion or portions of the Construction to be examined to confirm that such Construction is in accordance with the requirements of this Agreement. If the Construction is not in accordance with the requirements of this Agreement, the Design-Builder will correct the Construction and pay the cost of examination and correction. If the Construction is in accordance with the requirements of this Agreement, the Authority will pay all costs incurred by the Design-Builder as a result of such examination and the restoration of the Construction.
- 9.12 If the results of any testing or other aspect of the Quality Management Plan or implementation of the Quality Management Plan disclose that any part of the Work is incomplete or defective in any way, the Design-Builder will immediately complete that part of the Work or correct the defect at its own expense.
- 9.13 If the Authority's Consultant or other representatives of the Authority makes more than one review of any aspect of the Work as a result of such Work being incomplete or defective or reviews more than one test, inspection or approval in respect of any aspect of the Work as a result of such Work being incomplete or defective, the Design-Builder will bear the costs and expenses of the Authority, the Authority's Consultant and other representative.
- 9.14 Prior to Total Completion, the Design-Builder will deliver to the Authority all tests and results taken and generated by the implementation of the Quality Management Plan.

9.15 The Design-Builder will permit access to the Site and to the Design and the Construction to persons designated by the Authority including persons representing other governmental authorities.

#### SECTION 10 LEED GOLD CERTIFICATION

- 10.1 The Design-Builder will obtain LEED Gold Certification of the Facility in accordance with the following:
  - (a) The Design-Builder acknowledges that the Authority has registered the Facility with the LEED Certifier for purposes of LEED Gold Certification under the LEED Rating System and for the pilot alternative compliance path for the Optimize Energy Performance credit (Alternative Energy Performance Metric).
  - (b) The Design-Builder will use the LEED Certifier's split review certification process.
  - (c) If at any time after the Effective Date the requirements to achieve LEED Gold Certification under the LEED Rating System change and the Design-Builder is required to comply with such change in order to achieve LEED Gold Certification for the Facility, then the Design-Builder will forthwith notify the Authority of such change and such change will be a Change.
  - (d) The Design-Builder will achieve all necessary prerequisites, credits and points under the LEED Rating System required to achieve the LEED Gold Certification and may in its discretion determine which of the credits and points to pursue.
  - (e) Subject to Section 10.1(f), the Design-Builder will not include any prerequisites, points or credits which require any action by or on behalf of the Authority without the Authority's prior written consent. If the Authority consents to the inclusion of prerequisites, points or credits which require any action by the Authority, the Authority will take reasonable steps, consistent with the nature of the Facility and the Authority's operations and maintenance, to cooperate with the Design-Builder in respect of its achievement of such prerequisites, points and credits; provided however that such cooperation will not require the Authority to obtain such prerequisites, points or credits or to incur any liability, cost or expense.
  - (f) The Authority acknowledges that the Design-Builder's achievement of LEED Gold Certification for the Facility is subject to the Authority agreeing to develop before Substantial Completion, and to implement and maintain after Substantial Completion, the following commitments, programs and policies in the Facility, to the satisfaction off the LEED Certifier, which may be relevant to the Design-Builder obtaining prerequisites, credits or points related to LEED Gold Certification of the Facility:
    - (i) a building-level water metering program that provides data to the LEED Certifier for a period of 5 years beginning on the date of Substantial Completion, provided that the systems in the Facility are configured to make readily available the required data, and a signed letter of commitment required by the LEED Certifier;
    - (ii) a building-level energy metering program that provides data to the LEED Certifier for a period of 5 years beginning on the date of Substantial Completion, provided that the systems in the Facility are configured to make readily available the required data, and a signed letter of commitment required by the LEED Certifier;

- (iii) a commitment that the Authority will not use mercury containing equipment including thermostats, switching devices, and other building system sources, excluding lamps, provided that the Facility does not contain mercury-containing equipment, subject to the Authority conforming to the Prerequisite outlined under PBT Source Reduction Mercury requirements for projects reusing existing mercury-containing equipment and lamps;
- (iv) a policy prohibiting smoking at the Site and in the Facility that:
  - (A) prohibits smoking inside the Building;
  - (B) prohibits smoking outside the Building except in designated smoking areas located at least 25 feet (7.5 meters) (or the maximum extent allowable by local codes) from all entries, outdoor air intakes, and operable windows; and
  - (C) communicates the no-smoking policy to occupants and has in place provisions for enforcement or no-smoking signage;
- (v) a commitment that the Authority will describe the dedicated recycling storage areas for the Facility, including:
  - (A) describing the size of the areas, accessibility and expected volume for the Facility;
  - (B) demonstrating that the recycling storage areas are appropriately sized and located;
  - (C) demonstrating that safe storage and collection has been provided for two of the following three items: 1) batteries, 2) mercury-containing lamps and/or 3) electronic waste; and
  - (D) confirming that the storage areas are sized for the following items: mixed paper, corrugated cardboard, glass, plastics and metals,

provided that the Design-Builder designs and constructs the recycling storage areas to meet the above requirements; and

(vi) a commitment to permit installation of education signage throughout the Building and provide visitors to the Building the opportunity to take part in a self-guided audio tour if required to achieve the Green Building Education innovation credit and contribute to the development of Building specific signage or audio guide content required to achieve that credit.

The Authority will implement and maintain the above commitments, programs and policies but makes no representation as to whether they are sufficient to meet the Design-Builder's obligation to obtain LEED Gold Certification for the Facility.

(g) Upon payment of amounts, if any, owing under this Section 10 the Design-Builder will have no further obligations in respect of obtaining LEED Gold Certification, except to provide the Authority with such information and administrative assistance as the Authority

- may reasonably require in relation to obtaining LEED Gold Certification, and for greater certainty the failure to obtain LEED Gold Certification will not be a default by the Design-Builder under this Agreement.
- (h) If for any reason the Design-Builder fails to obtain LEED Gold Certification for the Facility within 36 months of the Substantial Completion Date then the Design-Builder will, upon written demand from the Authority, and in addition to any other payment owing under this Section 10.1 immediately pay to the Authority \$300,000.
- (i) The Authority and the Design-Builder expressly agree that the amounts payable from the Design-Builder in this Section 10.1 are liquidated damages that represent a genuine preestimate of the damages and expenses that the Authority is likely to incur for such failure to achieve the LEED credits/points referred to in this Section 10.1 and LEED Gold Certification and both parties expressly agree that such amounts are not a penalty.
- 10.2 As a condition of Substantial Completion, the Design-Builder will deliver to the Authority:
  - (a) a LEED project checklist, generally in accordance with the LEED Certifier's requirements, together with a written confirmation that, in the Design-Builder's judgment:
    - (i) the LEED credits/points required by Section 10.1 will be achieved for the Facility;
    - (ii) LEED Gold Certification will be achieved for the Facility; and
  - (b) a written opinion from a LEED accredited professional supporting the confirmation described in Section 10.2(a) above.

## SECTION 11 ENERGY

- 11.1 The parties will comply with the provisions of Schedule 9 Energy Guarantee.
- 11.2 The Design-Builder acknowledges that PNG and/or BC Hydro will provide to the Authority a rebate or other Project Credits in respect of energy modelling of the Facility, and the Design-Builder will assist the Authority in obtaining such rebate and any other Project Credits, including:
  - (a) registering the Facility with all applicable PNG and/or BC Hydro programs;
  - (b) engaging a consultant acceptable to PNG and/or BC Hydro;
  - (c) submitting the Design and conducting any baseline testing, if necessary;
  - (d) conducting all energy modelling that may be required by PNG and/or BC Hydro or the Authority;
  - (e) engaging with PNG and/or BC Hydro during the development of design to create a PNG and/or BC Hydro energy compliance checklist;
  - (f) completing the Work in accordance with the PNG and/or BC Hydro energy compliance checklist;

- (g) facilitating any PNG and/or BC Hydro inspection or review of Construction and construction materials; and
- (h) any other steps necessary to obtaining PNG and/or BC Hydro rebates and other Project Credits.
- 11.3 As a condition of Substantial Completion of the Building, the Design-Builder will deliver to the Authority:
  - (a) a PNG and/or BC Hydro energy modelling compliance checklist together with a written confirmation that:
    - (i) the Project has been designed and constructed to maximize available PNG and/or BC Hydro rebates and other Project Credits; and
    - (ii) all steps have been performed, including providing all required documentation and information to the Authority and PNG and/or BC Hydro, to obtain PNG and/or BC Hydro rebates and other Project Credits (other than those steps that may only be performed by the Authority).

The Authority acknowledges that PNG and/or BC Hydro rebates and other Project Credits may be received after Substantial Completion.

11.4 This Section 11 will not limit any requirements of the Statement of Requirements for energy modelling for any purpose.

#### SECTION 12 PROJECT CREDITS

- 12.1 The Authority will be entitled to any and all Project Credits related to the Work, the Facility and its operation.
- 12.2 The Design-Builder will, on behalf of the Authority, apply to PNG and/or BC Hydro (subject to Section 11, the LEED Certifier, and any other applicable incentive programs ("Credit Provider") and take all reasonable steps to obtain for the Authority the maximum benefits (funding, rebates, incentives and cost savings) offered by each Credit Provider under such program(s).
- 12.3 Without limitation, the Design-Builder will:
  - (a) meet with Credit Providers at an early stage of the design of the Project;
  - (b) carry out any required studies and modelling;
  - (c) collaborate with each Credit Provider to identify potential improvements to the Facility design and methods of performing the Work that may achieve greater Project Credits; and
  - (d) use all commercially reasonable efforts to maximize available Project Credits through the design and construction of the Facility (to the extent possible while maintaining consistency with the Statement of Requirements).

#### SECTION 13 PRE-CONSTRUCTION SURVEY

#### 13.1 The Design-Builder will:

- (a) prior to the start of any Construction, conduct a pre-Construction survey of existing structures, buildings, roadways, services, infrastructure and adjacent properties, in a form and detail satisfactory to the Authority, acting reasonably, which will without limitation include field observations and photographs of existing conditions, with spot elevations by a British Columbia Land Surveyor (BCLS) registered surveyor at locations that will be accessible throughout and following Construction for ongoing settlement monitoring, and deliver a copy of the pre-Construction survey report to the Authority; and
- (b) re-survey the spot elevations at regular intervals throughout Construction and at 6 months following Substantial Completion of the Project to determine ongoing long-term settlement effects, and deliver monitoring surveys to the Authority in a form and detail satisfactory to the Authority, acting reasonably.
- 13.2 The Design-Builder will protect the Work, the Site and property adjacent to the Site from settlement, will be responsible for all settlement caused by the Work by the Design-Builder and the Subcontractors and the Facility from and after the Effective Date and will make good all damage to the Work, the Site and property adjacent to the Site at its own expense or pay all costs incurred by the Authority or others in making good such damage. Nothing in this Section 13.2 limits the responsibility of the Design-Builder to take into account in the Design and Construction possible post-Warranty Period settlement and to take measures to minimize such settlement.

#### SECTION 14 EQUIPMENT AND FURNISHINGS

14.1 Without limiting the requirements of the Statement of Requirements in respect of equipment and furnishings, the Design-Builder will complete the Design and Construction to integrate and accommodate all equipment and furnishings in the Facility as identified in the Statement of Requirements, including all required electrical, mechanical and plumbing connections, structural support, seismic restraints and space for efficient access, all to the tolerances and specifications as may be specified and required by the manufacturers or vendors of the equipment (which may be of a higher standard than specified in this Agreement). The Design-Builder will include equipment and furnishings identified in the Statement of Requirements as part of the development of Design under this Agreement.

#### SECTION 15 REVIEW PROCEDURE

15.1 The Review Procedure will apply to all Submittals and the parties will comply with the requirements of that Schedule.

#### SECTION 16 GENERAL DESIGN REQUIREMENTS

16.1 The Design-Builder is responsible for the means, methods, techniques, sequences and procedures necessary to properly complete the Design in conformance with this Agreement, including the Project Management Plan and the Time Schedule.

#### 16.2 The Design-Builder will:

- (a) ensure that the Work, including the Design, is fully compliant with all requirements of this Agreement (including the Statement of Requirements) and all applicable Laws; and
- (b) perform and complete the Design and the Work so as to provide the completed Project that is fit for the intended uses as described in the Statement of Requirements.

#### 16.3 The Design-Builder will:

- (a) cause all portions and aspects of the Drawings and Specifications to be prepared under the direction of, and to be sealed under the professional seal of, the Design-Builder's Consultant;
- (b) cause the Design-Builder's Consultant to confirm to the Authority, under his or her professional seal (if applicable), that in the opinion of the Design-Builder's Consultant:
  - (i) the Drawings and Specifications implement and otherwise conform to the Statement of Requirements;
  - (ii) the Drawings and Specifications implement and otherwise conform to the Proposal Extracts;
  - (iii) the Drawings and Specifications have been prepared in accordance with, and substantially comply with, all Standards; and
  - (iv) the Design-Builder's Consultant has carried out the general reviews of the progress of the Construction, to the extent necessary, in order to determine to the Design-Builder's Consultant's satisfaction that the Construction is performed in general conformity with the requirements of the Agreement (including the Statement of Requirements), the Drawings and Specifications, Standards and applicable Laws; and
- (c) provide the Authority and all applicable governmental authorities with all letters of professional assurance as required pursuant to applicable Laws.
- 16.4 The Design-Builder will not construct any part of the Work that is not based on the most recent Drawings and Specifications or that does not meet the Statement of Requirements and other requirements of this Agreement. To the extent that the Drawings and Specifications conflict with, modify or deviate from the Statement of Requirements and other requirements of this Agreement, the Design-Builder will revise the Drawings and Specifications and submit them to the Authority under the Review Procedure.
- 16.5 The Design-Builder will make, or cause the Design-Builder's Consultant to make, any revisions to the Drawings or Specifications as are necessary from time to time due to Changes and, for clarity, the Design-Builder will comply with Section 16.3 with respect to any such revisions.
- 16.6 Nothing in this Section 16, or otherwise in or under this Agreement, makes the Authority, the Authority's Representative, the Authority's Consultant or any other person on behalf of the Authority responsible for the Design of the Project, including compliance of the Drawings and Specifications with the Statement of Requirements and all Standards, and the Design-Builder will,

notwithstanding any review or acceptance under the Review Procedure or this Section 16 or other act of the Authority, the Authority's Representative, the Authority's Consultant or any other person on behalf of the Authority, remain solely liable and responsible for compliance of the Drawings and Specifications with the Statement of Requirements and all Standards.

- Without limiting any of the obligations of the Design-Builder under this Agreement, the duties and responsibilities of the Design-Builder with respect to the Design include:
  - (a) review of the documents, reports, drawings, Statement of Requirements and other information provided by the Authority and reporting promptly to the Authority any error, inconsistency or omission the Design-Builder may discover;
  - (b) preparation of a Design that meets the Statement of Requirements, all Standards, all applicable Laws and all terms of this Agreement;
  - (c) the coordination required to integrate all parts of the Design in the Work;
  - (d) preparation of all reports, documents, information, schemes and presentation materials as required by this Agreement;
  - (e) inspecting the progress of the Construction in order to determine that the Work is in compliance with the requirements of the Design, Specifications, all Standards and all terms of this Agreement;
  - (f) liaising with the Authority and local authorities having jurisdiction as required during the Design and Construction and providing copies of all correspondence with such local authorities to the Authority; and
  - (g) providing all required assurances to local authorities having jurisdiction respecting substantial conformance of the Design with all Standards and as may be required for the issuance of or compliance with any permits, licenses or approvals.
- The Design-Builder will ensure that the Design-Builder's Consultant and all other Architects, Professional Engineers and other professionals performing professional services related to the Design and engaged directly or indirectly by the Design-Builder fulfill their duties and responsibilities to the standard of diligence, skill and care that such persons would customarily provide in accordance with their professional and legal obligations in similar circumstances and in the same general geographic location as the Site. Any failure by any of the Design-Builder's Consultants or other Architects, Professional Engineers or professionals performing professional services in relation to the Design will not relieve the Design-Builder of any responsibility for ensuring that the Work is carried out in conformance with this Agreement including the Statement of Requirements, the Design and all Standards.
- 16.9 If the Design-Builder's Consultant's engagement is terminated, the Design-Builder will engage a new Design-Builder's Consultant to provide the Design. The Design-Builder will notify the Authority in writing before appointing or re-appointing the Design-Builder's Consultant, and the Design-Builder will not appoint any Design-Builder's Consultant to whom the Authority may reasonably object.

#### SECTION 17 DESIGN PROCESS

17.1 Intentionally deleted.

#### SECTION 18 OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS

- 18.1 The Design-Builder acknowledges and agrees that this Agreement contains intellectual property that is protected by copyright and that this intellectual property is intended to be used solely for the purposes of the Project. The Design-Builder will obtain prior written permission and will require the Design-Builder's Consultant and any other Subcontractors to obtain prior written permission for any other use.
- 18.2 Copyright for the Design and Drawings belongs to the Design-Builder, the Design-Builder's Consultant or other consultants who prepared them.
- 18.3 Plans, sketches, Drawings, graphic representations and Specifications, including computer generated designs, when prepared by the Design-Builder's Consultant or other consultants are instruments of their service and will remain their property whether the construction for which they are made is executed or not.
- 18.4 Submission or distribution of the Design-Builder's Consultants' or other consultants' plans, sketches, Drawings, graphic representations and Specifications to meet official regulatory requirements or for other purposes in connection with the Work is not to be construed as publication in derogation of their reserved rights.
- 18.5 The Authority may retain copies, including reproducible copies, of all plans, sketches, Drawings, graphic representations and Specifications and other material including the Record Drawings. The Design-Builder hereby grants to the Authority a non-exclusive, royalty-free, fully paid, world-wide, perpetual and irrevocable licence to use the Design and any and all such material for any purpose related to the use and ownership of the Facility and the Land (including any renovations, additions or alterations to the Facility), for completion of any Work in the event of termination of this Agreement and for reference purposes in connection with other operations, projects and facilities of the Authority. Such licence may be sublicensed, assigned, at the discretion of the Authority, to any third party who has or may acquire an interest or obligation related to the Facility, including for any facilities maintenance, life cycle repair/replacement or other services to the Authority or others in relation to the Facility. The Design-Builder at the Authority's request, and prior to any payment after such request is made, will deliver to the Authority a consent and acknowledgement signed by the Design-Builder's Consultant confirming such licence.
- 18.6 Models and renderings furnished by the Design-Builder are the property of the Authority.

#### SECTION 19 ERRORS IN DESIGN

- 19.1 The Design-Builder is responsible for the Design, including all errors, omissions or deficiencies in the Design.
- 19.2 The Design-Builder will give written notice to the Authority immediately upon becoming aware of any error, omission or deficiency in the Design.

19.3 The Design-Builder will remedy at its own cost any error, omission or deficiency identified in the Design, including any resulting error, omission or deficiency in the Design that results in defects or deficiencies in any part of the Construction that has been commenced or completed. The Design-Builder will ensure that such remediation will conform to the requirements of this Agreement.

#### SECTION 20 LABOUR AND PRODUCTS

- 20.1 Unless otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, the Design-Builder will provide and pay for all labour, products, materials, tools, equipment, machinery, water, heat, light, power, transportation and all other facilities, things and services (including services for Design) necessary for the performance of the Work in accordance with this Agreement.
- All products, materials, equipment and machinery provided will be new unless otherwise expressly specified in this Agreement.

#### SECTION 21 SUBCONTRACTS

- 21.1 The Design-Builder will preserve and protect the rights of the Authority under this Agreement with respect to any Work to be performed by a Subcontractor, so that the subcontracting does not prejudice the Authority's rights under this Agreement.
- 21.2 The Design-Builder will be responsible to the Authority for the performance of all Subcontractors and will require the Subcontractors to perform their work in accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement.
- 21.3 The Design-Builder will be as fully responsible to the Authority for acts and omissions of Subcontractors and of persons directly or indirectly employed by them as for the acts and omissions of persons directly employed by the Design-Builder.
- Nothing contained in this Agreement will create any contractual relationship between the Authority and any Subcontractors or their officers, agents, employees or workers.
- 21.5 The Design-Builder will require every Subcontractor to observe the terms of this Agreement so far as they apply to that portion of the Work to be performed directly or indirectly by that Subcontractor. The Design-Builder will require that the terms of this Agreement that are applicable to the portion of the Work to be performed by a Subcontractor will form part of that Subcontract.
- 21.6 The Design-Builder will require that every Subcontract for designers and Subcontractors require such designers and Subcontractors, where requested by either the Authority or the Design-Builder, to attend any Dispute resolution process including discussions, negotiations, mediation or arbitration between the Design-Builder and the Authority; provide frank, candid and timely disclosure of relevant information and documentation; and, bona fide negotiations to resolve such Disputes.

#### SECTION 22 OTHER CONTRACTORS

22.1 The Authority reserves the right to enter into separate contracts with Other Contractors in relation to the Project or to perform work itself. The Design-Builder will cooperate with and coordinate the

Work with all concurrent construction activities by the Authority or Other Contractors on the Site or adjacent to the Site.

#### 22.2 The Design-Builder will:

- (a) coordinate the Work with that of Other Contractors and connect the Work with the work of Other Contractors as applicable; and
- (b) ensure that performance of the Work is carried out in accordance with the Time Schedule so that Other Contractors are not delayed in their work.
- 22.3 The Design-Builder will promptly report to the Authority any apparent deficiencies in Other Contractors' work that could affect the Work as soon as they come to the Design-Builder's attention, and will confirm such report in writing promptly.
- Where a Change is required as a result of the coordination and connection of the work of Other Contractors or the Authority with the Work, the Changes will only be made as provided in Section 47.
- 22.5 The Authority will require Other Contractors to coordinate and schedule their construction activities at the Site in accordance with the reasonable instructions of the Design-Builder acting as prime contractor that are applicable to health and construction safety at the Site and that are in accordance with the *Workers Compensation Act* (British Columbia).
- 22.6 The Design-Builder acknowledges that other persons working at the Site may be union or non-union and that the Authority wishes to ensure that labour peace is maintained. The Design-Builder will comply with all requirements of the Authority in respect of labour relations and the Design-Builder will take all reasonable precautions to avoid labour disruptions caused by, or contributed to by the Design-Builder, its Subcontractors or any persons performing the Work. The Design-Builder will bear the sole cost and expense of preventing, avoiding or removing any matter or events giving rise to such a labour disruption.
- 22.7 The Authority will assure, where possible, that Other Contractors are bound to equivalent terms as those found in this Section 22.
- 22.8 Claims, disputes, and other matters in question between the Design-Builder and Other Contractors will be dealt with as provided in Section 63 provided the Other Contractors have reciprocal obligations. The Design-Builder will be deemed to have consented to arbitration of any dispute with any Other Contractor whose contract with the Authority contains a similar requirement to Section 63.

## SECTION 23 ACCESS TO AND USE OF SITE

23.1 Subject to the Site Plan, Project Management Plan and Work Plan and any limitations in this Agreement, the Authority grants to the Design-Builder a licence to enter and be upon the Site from the Site Occupation Date until Substantial Completion of the Project, to perform the Work that is required to be performed on the Site. This licence excludes the right to access, enter and be upon the Existing Hospital.

- After Substantial Completion of the Building, the Authority will provide access to the Building and the Site as reasonably required for completion of the Work and rectification of deficiencies including warranty deficiencies in respect of the Building, taking into account the Authority's use and occupancy of the Building and the Site.
- 23.3 After Substantial Completion of the Building, the Design-Builder will:
  - (a) coordinate with the Authority to ensure timely completion of the Work and rectification of deficiencies including warranty deficiencies;
  - (b) comply with the Authority's requirements as set out in Section 32 with respect to dust, noise and vibration;
  - (c) minimize disruption to the Authority's use and occupancy of the Facility and will comply with all directions of the Authority with respect to timing, security and access for the rectification of deficiencies including warranty deficiencies; and
  - (d) comply with the security requirements of the Authority.

### 23.4 The Design-Builder will:

- (a) limit its activities to the areas within the Site which are identified in the Site Plan, Project Management Plan and Work Plan as required to perform the particular aspect of Work, unless the Design-Builder obtains permission to occupy or use other lands;
- (b) not access any areas of the Site or adjacent properties, including airspace, which it is not permitted to access under the Site Plan, Project Management Plan or Work Plan, without the prior written permission of the Authority; and
- (c) obtain any construction easements and permits that may be required for construction of the Project. When requested to do so by the Design-Builder, the Authority may at its discretion provide reasonable assistance to the Design-Builder in obtaining such construction easements and permits required for the construction of the Project but, in no circumstance will the Authority be required to incur any costs or make any payments.

#### 23.5 The Design-Builder will:

- (a) not remove or disturb trees or other vegetation for purposes of the Work, including for the purpose of providing a lay down area unless expressly permitted to do so under this Agreement or approved by the Authority in writing and in accordance with any applicable Laws and the Statement of Requirements. The Design-Builder will obtain any required tree cutting permits; and
- (b) rehabilitate all construction lay down areas to a standard not less than that observed for pre-existing conditions before Site Occupation Date and recorded in the pre-condition survey as described in Section 13.1.
- 23.6 Except as expressly indicated on the Site Plan, the Design-Builder acknowledges that no parking is available at or near the Existing Hospital and agrees that the Design-Builder, the Subcontractors and their respective workers will not park on any of the parking areas which exist at the Effective Date. The Design-Builder shall be permitted to establish temporary construction parking in Work

Area A, as identified in Schedule 11 [Site Plan] and in doing so shall make reasonable efforts to limit the impact to natural habitation of surrounding areas and to incorporate such temporary parking into green areas that promote the surrounding natural habitat. Such temporary construction parking may remain in place until Substantial Completion of the Building.

### SECTION 24 PHASED CONSTRUCTION

- 24.1 The Design-Builder will carry out the Construction in accordance with the Project Management Plan which will include, among other things:
  - (a) all Site preparation;
  - (b) Construction of the Facility, including the requirements and timing for construction and commissioning (including all systems and equipment);
  - (c) demolition of Existing Hospital;
  - (d) Site landscaping;
  - (e) parking, access and traffic flows, including maintaining adequate vehicle, delivery and pedestrian access; and
  - (f) compliance with all requirements of this Agreement,

and the Design-Builder will submit the Project Management Plan to the Authority within 30 days after the Effective Date and will not proceed with the applicable portions of the Work until the Project Management Plan has received the notation "Reviewed" under Schedule 2 - Review Procedure, provided however that the following plans to be included within the Project Management Plan will be submitted within the applicable time period indicated below:

- (g) Document Control Plan within 60 days after the Effective Date;
- (h) Infection Prevention and Control Plan within 60 days after the Effective Date;
- (i) Temperature and Humidity Plan within 90 days following the Effective Date; and
- (j) Demolition Plan within 180 days prior to the commencement of demolition.

The parties acknowledge that the Noise and Vibration Control Plan and the Erosion and Sedimentation Plan will be submitted within 30 days after the Effective Date.

If the Design-Builder proposes revisions to the Project Management Plan, the Design-Builder will submit the proposed revised Project Management Plan to the Authority and will not proceed with revised Project Management Plan until it has received the notation "Reviewed" under Schedule 2 - Review Procedure.

- 24.2 The Design-Builder will:
  - (a) comply with the reviewed Project Management Plan;

- (b) construct the Building within Work Area A of the Site as indicated in the Site Plan;
- (c) install at least a six foot high fence around the perimeter of the area in which it is performing the Work and such hoarding and lighting as may be required by the Authority including any hoarding required to protect the public and separate the area of the Work from the other portions of the Site and the phasing requirements;
- (d) provide video surveillance on all sides of the Site;
- (e) perform all Construction activities within the areas of the Site provided in the Site Plan and Project Management Plan, except as approved by the Authority for any work required in other areas of the Site;
- (f) perform all Construction activities without blocking or disrupting vehicle, delivery or pedestrian access, except as may be permitted pursuant to the Project Management Plan;
- (g) cause the Design-Builder's personnel, Construction workers, Subcontractors and suppliers to enter or exit the Site only at the access routes indicated on the Site Plan and Project Management Plan, unless otherwise approved by the Authority;
- (h) not use any explosives without the Authority's consent;
- (i) take reasonable steps to ensure that Construction workers or suppliers do not smoke or otherwise consume any tobacco, e-cigarettes or cannabis products on any portion of the Site;
- (j) provide a 24-hour hotline (and post the phone number in a prominent location on the Site) for:
  - (i) Authority staff to notify the Design-Builder of any Construction related emergencies; and
  - (ii) neighbours and passers-by to contact the Design-Builder,
  - and the Design-Builder will respond to any phone calls made on the hotline within 1 hour of receipt;
- (k) provide a community liaison officer to provide a single point of contact regarding construction and development issues; and
- (l) before commencing the Construction, prepare and implement in co-operation with the Authority a construction fire safety plan for the Project, which plan will describe emergency access routes to and from the Facility and the Site during an emergency.
- 24.3 If the Design-Builder performs any Construction outside of the area designated at the Site, the Design-Builder will comply with all policies and other requirements of the Authority and the Authority shall have the right to review and revise any plans or other documents related to such Construction outside of the area designated at the Site.

# SECTION 25 INTEGRATION

- 25.1 The Existing Hospital must remain fully operational until the Building is fully operational and the patients have been moved into the Building. The Authority acknowledges the Design-Builder assumes for purposes of commencing demolition of the Existing Hospital and achieving the Target Project Substantial Completion Date that the Authority will complete the move of patients from the Existing Hospital to the Building no later than ninety (90) days following Building Substantial Completion. The date for the commencement of demolition of the Existing Hospital will be as mutually determined by the parties, acting reasonably, with such date to be not less than 120 days after the Building is fully operational. The Design-Builder acknowledges that the date the Building is fully operational will be later than the date of Substantial Completion of the Building.
- 25.2 Without limiting the other requirements of this Agreement, the Design-Builder will:
  - (a) adhere to all Authority policies and procedures relating to the operations of and access to the Existing Hospital established from time to time;
  - (b) prior to performing any Work in or around the Site that is not indicated in the Site Plan or Project Management Plan or proceeding with any proposed shutdown of any services, deliver to the Authority and obtain the Authority's approval of a work plan (the "Work Plan") clearly identifying:
    - (i) the activity that may interfere with the operation of the Existing Hospital, including a description of the nature, timing and extent of interference;
    - (ii) the steps the Design-Builder intends to take to minimize the extent of such interference;
    - (iii) the temporary measures that the Authority will be required to take to accommodate the interference;
    - (iv) any specific reporting relationships between the Design-Builder and the staff desirable or required to coordinate the interference; and
    - (v) any expansion of the area of the Site for the purpose of performing the Work indicated in the Work Plan,

unless the Authority, at its discretion, notifies the Design-Builder in writing that a Work Plan will not be required for particular work or a particular shutdown.

- 25.3 Prior to delivering a Work Plan, the Design-Builder will consult with the Authority and, upon reasonable request, the Authority will make appropriate staff available for such consultation to determine the Work Plan that minimizes interference to the Existing Hospital. The Design-Builder will not proceed with any work that causes any interference with the Existing Hospital or any proposed shutdown of services without:
  - (a) the Authority's prior written approval of a Work Plan under this Section 25, such approval not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed; or
  - (b) advance written notice from the Authority confirming that a Work Plan is not required.

# SECTION 26 SIGNAGE

26.1 The Design-Builder may erect signage at the Site during Construction to identify the Design-Builder and Subcontractors provided such signage and its location(s) is acceptable to the Authority, acting reasonably. The Design-Builder will also erect the Authority's signage as required by the Authority.

# SECTION 27 USE OF SITE

- 27.1 The Design-Builder will confine its construction machinery and equipment, tools, storage of materials and products, and the operations of workers to limits indicated in the Site Plan, Project Management Plan or Work Plan or by or under all applicable Laws, and will not unreasonably encumber the Site or other activities on the Site.
- 27.2 The Design-Builder will comply with the Authority's policies, procedures and instructions, including regarding parking, safety, harassment, fires, smoking, signs and advertisements.
- 27.3 The Design-Builder will not load or permit to be loaded any part of the Construction with a weight or force that endangers the safety of the Project.
- 27.4 The Design-Builder will ensure that the Work does not adversely impact the ongoing operations of the Authority, or any person on behalf of the Authority, near or adjacent to the Site, including the operation of the Existing Hospital.
- 27.5 The Design-Builder will confirm the location of all utilities and ensure that all of its labour force, employees, Subcontractors and any other workers at the Site:
  - (a) are made aware of the location of all utilities in connection with the Project and the importance of avoiding damage to those underground utilities;
  - (b) observe any instructions in connection with those utilities issued by the Authority on behalf of any applicable utility owners; and
  - (c) protect all such utilities.

# SECTION 28 CONDITIONS AT SITE/DISCLOSED DATA

- 28.1 The Design-Builder acknowledges and agrees that:
  - (a) it has received and reviewed a copy of all Site Reports;
  - (b) it has had the opportunity to undertake examinations and investigations of the Site in order to satisfy itself as to Site conditions and the impact they could have on any or all of the Work (including Design and Construction), Contract Time and Contract Price;
  - (c) only objective geotechnical data provided in the Site Reports can be relied upon for accuracy (subject to any qualifications or conditions set out in such information or this Agreement) but such data cannot be relied upon for sufficiency, relevancy or interpretation;

- (d) neither the Authority, the Authority's Representative, the Authority's Consultant nor any other person on behalf of the Authority is in any way responsible or liable for the completeness, interpretation or accuracy of the Site Reports (except accuracy of objective geotechnical data identified in Section 28.1(c)) or for any variation between Site conditions actually encountered by the Design-Builder and those set out in the Site Reports; and
- (e) subject to Sections 28.3, Section 29 and Section 30, the Design-Builder is not entitled to any adjustment in the Contract Time or Contract Price, or to any other remuneration, compensation or damages whatsoever, in any way connected with Site conditions.
- 28.2 It is the Design-Builder's responsibility to have conducted its own analysis and review of the Project and, before the execution of this Agreement, to have taken all steps it considers necessary to satisfy itself as to the accuracy, completeness and applicability of any Disclosed Data upon which it places reliance and to assess all risks related to the Project. Except with respect to the accuracy of objective geotechnical data identified in Section 28.1(c) the Design-Builder will not be entitled to and will not make (and will ensure that no Subcontractor makes) any claim against the Authority or any Indemnified Party, whether in contract, tort or otherwise including any claim in damages for extensions of time or for additional payments under this Agreement on the grounds:
  - (a) of any misunderstanding or misapprehension in respect of the Disclosed Data;
  - (b) that the Disclosed Data was incorrect or insufficient; or
  - (c) that incorrect or insufficient information relating to the Disclosed Data was given to it by any person other than the Authority,

nor will the Design-Builder be relieved from any obligation imposed on or undertaken by it under this Agreement on any such ground.

- 28.3 The Design-Builder, in order to design the Facility, is responsible for obtaining sufficiently accurate, complete and applicable geotechnical information necessary to properly design a foundation and structure of the Facility that is appropriate for the soils conditions. This may require supplementing the Disclosed Data. Accordingly, the Design-Builder is not entitled to any adjustment in the Contract Time or Contract Price, or to any other remuneration, compensation or damages whatsoever, in any way connected with Site conditions, including the matters described in Section 28.2 if it has failed to obtain sufficient geotechnical information necessary to prepare a Design that reasonably anticipates the soils conditions actually encountered.
- 28.4 If the Design-Builder is delayed in performing the Work as a result of inaccuracy in the objective geotechnical data provided in the Site Reports, the Design-Builder's entitlement to an extension of the Contract Time and reimbursement of costs will be determined in accordance with Section 51. If the Design-Builder is not delayed in performing the Work but incurs additional costs as a result of inaccuracy in the objective geotechnical data provided in the Site Reports, adjustment in the Contract Price will be agreed upon or determined in accordance with Section 48 (Valuation and Certification of Changes).

# SECTION 29 ARCHAEOLOGICAL ITEMS

- 29.1 Upon discovery at the Site of any fossils, remains, coins, articles of value or antiquity, including all heritage objects (as defined in the *Heritage Conservation Act* (British Columbia)), the Design-Builder will:
  - (a) immediately notify the Authority;
  - (b) take all steps not to disturb the item and, if necessary, stop Construction to the extent required if performing the Construction would endanger the object or prevent or impede its excavation;
  - (c) take all necessary steps to preserve the item in the same position and condition in which it was found; and
  - (d) comply with all Laws and regulations and all requirements of governmental authorities with respect to such discovery including pursuant to the *Heritage Conservation Act* (British Columbia).
- 29.2 If the Design-Builder is delayed in performing the Work taking steps required under Section 29.1, the Design-Builder's entitlement to an extension of the Contract Time and reimbursement of costs will be determined in accordance with Section 51. If the Design-Builder is not delayed in performing the Work but incurs additional costs as a result of taking steps required under Section 29.1, adjustment in the Contract Price will be agreed upon or determined in accordance with Section 48 (Valuation and Certification of Changes).

# SECTION 30 CONTAMINANTS AND ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT

- 30.1 The Design-Builder acknowledges and agrees:
  - (a) it has received and reviewed a copy of the following reports:
    - (i) Asbestos Containing Building Materials Assessment Report dated September 8, 2007;
    - (ii) Limited Pre-Demolition Hazardous Material Assessment dated December 17, 2020;
    - (iii) Phase 1 Environmental Site Assessment dated November 27, 2020; and
    - (iv) 2020-1322-001, Preliminary Field Reconnaissance Report dated November 30, 2020,

(collectively, the "Environmental Reports");

(b) it has had the opportunity to undertake a review of the Site in order to satisfy itself as to Site conditions and the impact they could have on any or all of the Work (including Design and Construction), Contract Time, and Contract Price;

- (c) it is responsible for all management, removal, abatement, containment and disposal of Contaminants disclosed in or reasonably inferred from the Environmental Reports; and
- (d) neither the Authority nor the Authority's Representative nor any other person on behalf of the Authority is in any way responsible or liable for the completeness, interpretation or accuracy of the Environmental Reports.
- 30.2 The Design-Builder acknowledges that the Authority has made no representation or warranty as to the absence or presence on, in or under the Site of any Contaminant. If the Design-Builder, after commencing the Work, encounters or has reason to believe in the existence of any Contaminant on, in or under the Site, the Design-Builder will at once take all reasonable steps, including suspension of the Work, as necessary to ensure that no person or property suffers injury, sickness, death, damage or destruction as a result of exposure to, or the presence of, any Contaminant, and the Design-Builder will immediately report such Contaminant to the relevant governmental authorities and to the Authority.
- 30.3 If the Design-Builder is delayed in performing the Work due to discovery of Contaminants, other than those disclosed in or reasonably inferred from the Environmental Reports, by taking steps required under Section 30.2, the Design-Builder's entitlement to an extension of the Contract Time and reimbursement of costs will be determined in accordance with Section 51. If the Design-Builder is not delayed in performing the Work but incurs additional costs due to discovery of such Contaminants, other than those disclosed in or reasonably inferred from the Environmental Reports, adjustment in the Contract Price will be agreed upon or determined in accordance with Section 48 (Valuation and Certification of Changes).

# SECTION 31 SITE SAFETY

- 31.1 The Design-Builder agrees to be the "prime contractor" for the purposes of all applicable occupational health and safety Laws, including the *Workers Compensation Act* (British Columbia), and the Design-Builder is responsible for filing any documents necessary to comply with the *Workers Compensation Act* (British Columbia), including a notice of project. The Design-Builder will comply with all requirements of the *Workers Compensation Act* (British Columbia) and any other occupational health and safety Laws, applicable to the Project, the Work or to the Site. The Authority will comply, and will cause Other Contractors to comply, with occupational health and safety requirements established by the Design-Builder to fulfil the Design-Builder's obligations as "prime contractor".
- 31.2 Prior to commencing the Work and as a condition of receiving payment on Substantial Completion of the Building, Substantial Completion of the Project and on Total Completion, the Design-Builder will provide the Authority with satisfactory written evidence of compliance by the Design-Builder with all requirements under the *Workers Compensation Act* (British Columbia), including payments of assessments due under it to the Workers' Compensation Board. Without limiting the foregoing, the Authority may at any time require the Design-Builder to provide evidence of compliance with all requirements under the *Workers Compensation Act* (British Columbia), or payment of assessments due under it to the Workers' Compensation Board, or both.
- When required to do so by the Authority, the Design-Builder will provide the Authority with evidence of its compliance and compliance of any or all of its Subcontractors under Section 31.2.

- Following the Site Occupation Date, the Design-Builder will coordinate health and safety for the Site for all activities performed by its workers as well as those of Subcontractors, utilities, inspectors, the Authority, Other Contractors and any others performing any activities at the Site.
- 31.5 The Design-Builder will establish, implement and provide for the review by the Authority, by no later than 30 days after the Effective Date, a plan (the "Health and Safety Plan") that meets all applicable requirements of this Agreement with respect to health and safety at the Site and that addresses the safety of the Authority, patients and others who may be on the Site or property in the vicinity of the Site. The Design-Builder will provide safety fencing and hoarding as necessary to limit access to the Site in accordance with the Health and Safety Plan.
- 31.6 The Design-Builder will ensure that its Health and Safety Plan is consistent with, and accommodates any requirements of, the Authority's policies regarding safety and that it specifically addresses the safety of the Authority, patients, visitors and others who may be on the Site or on property in the vicinity of the Site.
- 31.7 The Design-Builder will maintain and comply with the Health and Safety Plan in all material respects during execution of the Work.
- 31.8 Prior to any person accessing the Site pursuant to this Agreement, the Design-Builder will provide health and safety orientation and information to such person in accordance with its Health and Safety Plan.

# SECTION 32 DUST, NOISE AND VIBRATION

- 32.1 The Design-Builder will carry out its Construction to minimize dust, noise, vibration, noxious odours and fumes.
- 32.2 Without limiting Section 32.1, the Design-Builder will discuss with the Authority any expected vibration from the Construction activities, will plan operations to minimize disruption to the Authority's activities, the operations of the Existing Hospital and will carry out its Construction activities, so that dust, noise, vibration, noxious odours and fumes do not unreasonably and adversely affect the Authority's activities or use of properties in the vicinity of the Site.

# SECTION 33 TESTING AND COMMISSIONING

- 33.1 The Design-Builder will prepare and deliver to the Authority, not less than 365 days before the Target Building Substantial Completion Date, for review under the Review Procedure, a detailed testing and commissioning plan (the "Commissioning Plan") that is consistent with the requirements for testing and commissioning of the Facility identified in the Statement of Requirements and that sets out the commissioning activities the Design-Builder intends to carry out to satisfy this Section 33 and to achieve Substantial Completion of the Building and Substantial Completion of the Project, including:
  - (a) a description of the specific equipment and systems to be tested and commissioned and the associated commissioning requirements, including those to be completed before each of Substantial Completion of the Building and Substantial Completion of the Project;

- (b) a schedule, related to the Time Schedule, showing the timing of all testing and commissioning activities; and
- (c) supporting documentation, including as appropriate:
  - (i) design calculations and/or assumptions; and
  - (ii) manufacturer's specifications.
- 33.2 The Design-Builder will retain a qualified independent commissioning agent (acceptable to the Authority, acting reasonably), to test and commission all equipment and systems in the Facility to demonstrate to the Authority that the Facility equipment and systems, including all major systems, are fully operational and that the Authority may occupy the Facility for its intended use as described in the Statement of Requirements. The commissioning agent will prepare a written report to confirm the foregoing and confirm completion of all commissioning activities before, as applicable, Substantial Completion of the Building or Substantial Completion of the Project. Testing and commissioning will include, among other things, the following:
  - (a) a complete and successful demonstration in real time under full stress conditions for all equipment and systems that require or are provided with redundancy or spare capacity;
  - (b) end to end testing and commissioning of key equipment and systems including but not limited to all equipment, communication systems (wireless communications, intercom, overhead paging, telephones) and door controls; and
  - (c) technical and clinical validation or proper functioning of all equipment and systems and all points of integration between such equipment and systems.

# SECTION 34 DOCUMENTS AT THE SITE

- 34.1 The Design-Builder will keep at least 1 copy of the following documents at the Site in good order and available to the Authority:
  - (a) a copy of this Agreement;
  - (b) a copy of all development, building, electrical and plumbing permits and inspection reports;
  - (c) up to date and current Drawings and Specifications, including any shop drawings prepared or obtained in respect of the Work and all redlined drawings for each applicable discipline;
  - (d) the Project Management Plan;
  - (e) the Time Schedule;
  - (f) the Quality Management Plan;
  - (g) the Work Plan; and
  - (h) the Health and Safety Plan.

# SECTION 35 CLEANUP AND FINAL CLEANING OF WORK

- 35.1 The Design-Builder will maintain the Work in a tidy condition and free from the accumulation of waste products and debris, other than that caused by the Authority, Other Contractors or their employees.
- 35.2 The Design-Builder will promptly remove all surplus products, tools, construction machinery and equipment, and any waste and debris.
- 35.3 The Design-Builder will leave the Building clean and suitable for occupancy and use by the Authority by the Substantial Completion Date of the Building in accordance with the Authority's standards of cleanliness.
- 35.4 The Design-Builder will leave the remainder of the Facility and the Site clean and suitable for occupancy and use by the Authority by the Substantial Completion Date of the Project in accordance with the Authority's standards of cleanliness.
- 35.5 In connection with any Work performed in the Building or in the remainder of the Facility after the respective Substantial Completion Dates, the Design-Builder will at all times leave the Work and Site clean and suitable for occupancy and use by the Authority but is not required to remove waste caused by the Authority.

# SECTION 36 REMEDIAL WORK

- The Design-Builder will do all remedial work that may be required to make the several parts of the Work comply with the Statement of Requirements.
- The Design-Builder will coordinate the Time Schedule for the Work to ensure that the requirement under Section 36.1 is kept to a minimum.
- Remedial work will be performed by specialists familiar with the materials affected and will be performed in a manner to neither damage nor endanger any Work.

# SECTION 37 REJECTED WORK

- 37.1 Defective Work, whether the result of poor design, poor workmanship, use of defective equipment or materials, or damage through carelessness, default or other acts of the Design-Builder or any Subcontractor, and whether incorporated in the Work or not, which has been rejected by the Authority as failing to conform to any of the Statement of Requirements, the Design or the Standards, will be removed promptly by the Design-Builder and replaced and re-executed promptly and properly at the Design-Builder's expense.
- 37.2 If the Design-Builder does not remove such defective Work within the time fixed by written notice by the Authority, the Authority may remove them and store any materials at the expense of the Design-Builder.
- Other Contractor's work destroyed or damaged by such removals or replacements will be made good by the Design-Builder promptly at the Design-Builder's expense.

## SECTION 38 WARRANTY

- 38.1 The Design-Builder will promptly correct, at its own expense, any Work that is not in accordance with this Agreement and any defects or deficiencies in the Work that appear during the period of:
  - (a) for the Building, 12 months following the Substantial Completion Date of the Building; or
  - (b) for the Facility (excluding the Building), 12 months following the Substantial Completion Date of the Project

# (the "Warranty Period").

- 38.2 The Design-Builder will correct defects or deficiencies at times and in a manner which causes as little inconvenience to the occupants of the Facility and the Authority's operations on and adjacent to the Site as is reasonably possible.
- 38.3 The Authority may carry out, or have others carry out, rectification work at the Design-Builder's cost if:
  - (a) the Authority gives notice to the Design-Builder of a defect or deficiency and the Design-Builder does not correct the defect or deficiency within a reasonable time, not to exceed 14 days, unless the nature of the defect or deficiency is such that it cannot be corrected within such time and the Authority, acting reasonably, agrees to an extension of such time; or
  - (b) the nature of the defect or deficiency is such that it creates a risk to the health or safety of any occupant or user of the Facility, or risk of damage to the Facility, the environment or any property and the Authority gives notice to the Design-Builder within a reasonable time after the commencement or completion of the rectification work.
- 38.4 If the Authority carries out or has others carry out the rectification work pursuant to Section 38.3 the Design-Builder remains responsible for the Work (including the rectification work).
- 38.5 The Design-Builder will provide to the Authority extended warranties from Subcontractors where required by the Proposal Extracts or other provisions of this Agreement and any other extended warranties provided by Subcontractors.
- 38.6 The Design-Builder will correct, at its own cost, or pay the Authority for any damage resulting from the defects or deficiencies and the corrections required under Section 38.1.
- 38.7 Issuance of the Substantial Completion Certificate and the Total Completion Certificate, and final payment to the Design-Builder, do not relieve the Design-Builder from its responsibility under this Section 38.

# SECTION 39 TITLE AND RISK

- 39.1 Title to the Work will vest only in the Authority. Without prejudice to any of the rights of the Authority under this Agreement, title to the Work or any part of the Work will vest in the Authority at the earliest of:
  - (a) the time that the Work or part of it is at the Site;
  - (b) the time that the Authority has paid for the Work or part of the Work; and
  - (c) the time of installation or construction of the Work or part of the Work.
- 39.2 The Work will remain under the care, custody and control of the Design-Builder and at the risk of the Design-Builder until, in respect of the Building, Substantial Completion of the Building or until such earlier date determined by the Authority, and notified in writing to the Design-Builder, for occupancy and use by the Authority. All other Work will be under the care, custody and control of the Design-Builder until Substantial Completion of the Project is achieved, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Authority. The Design-Builder will exercise all reasonable care to avoid loss of, or damage to, the Work.
- 39.3 The Design-Builder represents and warrants that title to the Work and any part of the Work will pass to the Authority free and clear of all liens, charges and encumbrances.

#### PART D – PAYMENT AND COMPLETION

# SECTION 40 APPLICATIONS FOR PAYMENT

- 40.1 The Design-Builder will make applications for payment in accordance with this Section 40.
- 40.2 Applications for payment will be:
  - (a) submitted to the Authority's Consultant;
  - (b) dated the last day of the monthly period;
  - (c) for the value, proportionate to the amount of the Contract Price, of Work performed and material and equipment delivered to the Site or stored off-Site in accordance with Section 40.13, to and at the date of submission; and
  - (d) submitted no more than once per month during the performance of the Work.
- 40.3 Pending determination of the final result of any Change, the undisputed value of the Work performed as a result of a Change is eligible to be included with payment applications.
- 40.4 The Design-Builder will submit to the Authority's Consultant for review, at least 14 days before the first application for payment, a Schedule of Values of the various parts of the Work, aggregating to the total amount of the Contract Price and divided so as to facilitate evaluation of applications for payment. The Schedule of Values will be consistent with the information set out in the breakdown of the Contract Price set out in Schedule 7 Schedule of Prices and made out in such

form and supported by such evidence as to its correctness as the Authority's Consultant may reasonably require. The Authority's Consultant will provide comments to the Design-Builder on the Schedule of Values, the Design-Builder will revise the Schedule of Values to address the comments, and so on, until such time as the Authority's Consultant is satisfied with the Schedule of Values. The Schedule of Values will be used as the basis for all applications for payment, unless it is found at any time to be in error, in which case it will be corrected in accordance with the Authority's Consultant's directions. If the Schedule of Values is not finalized prior to an application for payment, the Authority's Consultant may consider the applications for payment on the basis of the Schedule of Values under review and the Authority's Consultant's comments on such Schedule of Values or such other basis as determined by the Authority's Consultant.

- When making applications for payment, the Design-Builder will submit a statement based upon the Schedule of Values. Claims for material and equipment delivered to the Site but not yet incorporated into the Work will be supported by such evidence as the Authority's Consultant may reasonably require to establish the value and their delivery.
- 40.6 Subject to any further information that may be required by the Authority, the application for payment will include:
  - (a) the amount applied for in the application;
  - (b) the value of Work performed and material and equipment delivered to the Site or stored off-Site;
  - payment amounts in respect of any Changes to which the Design-Builder is entitled under this Agreement, including under Section 40.3;
  - (d) any adjustments to the Contract Price under this Agreement;
  - (e) the balance of the Contract Price to complete the Work;
  - (f) the amount of Lien Holdback;
  - (g) the amount of Performance Holdbacks;
  - (h) the amount of any withholding or amount to be released under Section 40.8;
  - (i) certification by the Design-Builder that the Project Binder includes documentation current to within at least 30 days prior to the application, including all inspection reports;
  - (j) a statutory declaration of an officer or senior management employee of the Design-Builder stating that all accounts for labour, subcontracts, materials, construction machinery and equipment and other indebtedness which may have been incurred by the Design-Builder in performing the Work and for which the Authority might in any way be held responsible have been paid in full, except for amounts properly retained as a holdback or as an identified amount in dispute; and
  - (k) a clearance letter from the Workers' Compensation Board indicating that all current assessments due from the Design-Builder and all Subcontractors with subcontracts larger than \$50,000 in value have been paid.

- 40.7 Applications for release of the Lien Holdback will be made under Section 42 (Lien Holdback) and applications for any payment at Substantial Completion of the Building, Substantial Completion of the Project or Total Completion will be made under Section 44 (Substantial Completion and Total Completion).
- 40.8 It is a condition of payment that the following, and all documentation, certification and requirements of the following, are complete and up to date as of the date of each application for payment:
  - (a) Health and Safety Plan;
  - (b) Project Management Plan, subject to any timing set out in Section 24.1 for certain plans to be included in the Project Management Plan;
  - (c) Time Schedule;
  - (d) Quality Management Plan;
  - (e) Project Binder updated as described in Section 45.3;
  - (f) issued for construction Drawings and Specifications, commencing with the first application for payment 180 days prior to the Target Building Substantial Completion Date; and
  - (g) Commissioning Plan commencing with the first application for payment 365 days prior to the Target Building Substantial Completion Date.

The Design-Builder will not be required to re-submit documentation previously provided. The Design-Builder will identify any changes to previously submitted documentation and at the Authority's request submit revised documentation.

The Authority acknowledges that the requirement in Section 40.8(f) for issued for construction Drawings and Specifications does not require the Design-Builder to provide such Drawings and Specifications prior to the date such Drawings and Specifications are required to perform the Work and in accordance with the other provisions of this Agreement.

If any of the foregoing listed items, including the required certification, documentation and certification for each listed item, is not complete and up to date, then the Authority may for each listed item that is not complete and up to date withhold from payment the amount of 3% of the total application for payment. This withholding will apply to each month for which such item or items is not complete and up to date. The applicable withholding will be released with the next monthly payment when such item is completed and up to date. In addition, in relation to the Quality Management Plan if the Authority's Consultant considers that the Design-Builder has not demonstrated that the Work to which the Quality Management Plan relates was satisfactorily performed then the Authority's Consultant may in accordance with Section 40.10 reduce the payment by the amount of such unsatisfactory Work and by the cost of the required processes, testing, certification, auditing and documentation required to ensure compliance with the Quality Management Plan.

- 40.9 Notwithstanding the actual progress, the following will apply:
  - (a) payment of the cost of the Bonds and cost of insurance will be made to the Design-Builder upon presentation of all bonding and insurance documentation required by this Agreement and upon presentation of satisfactory proof of payment of related fees or premiums; and
  - (b) payment for mobilization identified in the Schedule of Values will be a maximum of 1% of the Contract Price and payment will be made in two parts: 25% when the Design-Builder occupies the Site, and 75% when the Design-Builder has established a fully functional site office, construction equipment is on the Site and construction has commenced.
- 40.10 The Authority's Consultant, will, within 10 Business Days of receipt of the Design-Builder's application for payment, either:
  - (a) accept the amount set out in the application for payment; or
  - (b) adjust the amount of any payment to reflect the Authority's Consultant's estimate of Work satisfactorily performed as of the date of the application for payment.

If the Authority's Consultant amends the application for payment, the Authority's Consultant will promptly notify the Design-Builder in writing and give reasons for the amendment.

- 40.11 Provided the Design-Builder is not in material default of any provision in this Agreement, the Authority will pay the Design-Builder within 10 Business Days of the Authority's Consultant approving or adjusting the Design-Builder's application for payment in accordance with Section 40.10 and the Schedule of Values.
- 40.12 Whenever any sum of money is recoverable from or payable by the Design-Builder pursuant to this Agreement or is an amount for which the Authority may be liable on account of a default by the Design-Builder, the Authority may deduct or set off such sum from, or may reduce, any amounts then due or that may thereafter become due to the Design-Builder under this Agreement. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Authority may set-off any amounts for liquidated damages set out in this Agreement.
- 40.13 Notwithstanding that the Authority is under no obligation to pay for any material and equipment that not been delivered to the Site, the Design-Builder may make requests from time to time, and on a case-by-case basis, for the Authority to consent to arrangements to facilitate payment for material and equipment which have been delivered to an off-Site storage facility or site, with any such consent at the sole discretion of the Authority. In the event that the Authority provides such consent, the following will apply:
  - (a) the Authority's prior consent will be in writing;
  - (b) material and equipment will be stored at a location and in conditions that are to the satisfaction of the Authority and the Authority's Consultant;
  - storage will be secure and safe and the material and equipment will be held apart, singly and solely for the purposes of the Project and protected from the weather;

- (d) labelling of the material and equipment will not damage, permanently deface or harm the material and equipment in any way and will be clearly labelled as "The Property of Northern Health Authority";
- (e) each piece of material and equipment will be assigned and labelled with a unique identifier code such that the Authority 's Consultant will be able to identify the material and equipment in the Design-Builder's application for payment;
- (f) the Design-Builder will provide a written summary of any material and equipment not stored at the Site for which prior consent for payment has been provided by the Authority, and the Design-Builder will provide this to the Authority's Consultant prior to inspection of the material and equipment;
- (g) the Design-Builder will provide the Authority and the Authority's Consultant with such reasonable, unfettered and safe access as reasonably necessary to view or identify any material and equipment not delivered to the Site with one Business Day advance notice;
- (h) payment for material and equipment not delivered to the Site does not imply or infer that the material and equipment has been inspected, verified, or accepted in any way, and the Design-Builder will retain the entire responsibility and expense for securing and protecting any material and equipment that has not been delivered to the Site, irrespective of whether or not the Owner has made any payment in respect of the material and equipment; and
- (i) within one Business Day of a written request by the Authority or the Authority's Consultant, the Design-Builder will provide the Authority with written that confirmation the storage location and conditions meet the requirements of this Section 40.13.

# SECTION 41 TAXES AND DUTIES

- 41.1 The Contract Price is inclusive of all applicable customs duties and taxes (including PST), other than GST, in effect at the Effective Date.
- 41.2 The Design-Builder will remit all customs duties and taxes to the applicable governmental authority as and when required by the relevant Law and will without limiting Section 58 (Indemnification), indemnify and hold the Indemnified Parties harmless from and against any customs duties and taxes that the Design-Builder fails to remit as and when due, and from and against any costs and penalties and interest that may be levied against the Indemnified Parties.
- 41.3 Any increase or decrease in costs to the Design-Builder due to changes in taxes or duties that are in effect at the Effective Date of this Agreement will increase or decrease the Contract Price accordingly.
- 41.4 Where an exemption or refund of taxes, customs duties or excise taxes is applicable to this Agreement by way of the Design-Builder filing claims for, or cooperating fully with the Authority and the proper authorities in seeking to obtain such exemption or refund, the Design-Builder will make such applications and provide such cooperation.

Refunds that are properly due to the Authority and have been recovered by the Design-Builder will be promptly refunded to the Authority.

# SECTION 42 LIEN HOLDBACK

- 42.1 The Authority will retain and release the Lien Holdback in accordance with the provisions of the *Builders Lien Act* (British Columbia).
- 42.2 Subject to Section 5.4, for the purposes of the *Builders Lien Act* (British Columbia), the Authority's Consultant will be the payment certifier for this Agreement.
- 42.3 Subject to Section 5.4, for the purposes of progressive release of portions of the Lien Holdback in respect of Subcontracts, the Authority's Consultant will be the payment certifier under the *Builders Lien Act* (British Columbia).
- 42.4 The Design-Builder will make application to the Authority's Consultant for certification under the *Builders Lien Act* (British Columbia). As a condition of making any application and as a condition of any certification, the Design-Builder will provide the Authority's Consultant with all information required by the Authority's Consultant.
- 42.5 Without limiting Section 58, the Design-Builder will, at its sole risk and expense, do everything necessary, including through the institution, prosecution or defence of legal proceedings, to promptly discharge from title to the Site any claims of builder's lien, builder's liens or certificates of pending litigation by any Subcontractor or other person claiming under or through the Design-Builder or Subcontractor. If the Authority becomes aware that any such claim of builder's lien, builder's liens or certificate of pending litigation is threatened or has been registered against title to the Site, the Authority may, withhold out of the Lien Holdback or any other monies payable to the Design-Builder such amounts as the Authority reasonably considers necessary in order to secure the discharge of such claim of builder's lien, builder's liens or certificate of pending litigation. The Authority will cooperate with the Design-Builder in securing the discharge of any of the foregoing, subject to such arrangements being made as the Authority reasonably considers necessary before any such additional holdback monies are paid to any person or into court. This Section 42.5 will not apply to a claim of builder's lien, builder's liens or certificates of pending litigation that arise due to the improper non-payment by the Authority.

# SECTION 43 PERFORMANCE HOLDBACKS

- 43.1 In addition to the Lien Holdback and any amount retained under this Agreement (including for deficiencies under Section 44.5), the Authority will retain:
  - (a) a holdback of of the Contract Price (the "LD Holdback") if at any time after the date that is 6 months before the Target Building Substantial Completion Date (or if the Authority has extended the Time Schedule in accordance with this Agreement, such other date established for the Target Building Substantial Completion Date), the Authority's Consultant determines that the Substantial Completion Date of the Building or the Substantial Completion Date of the Project is not reasonably likely to occur on or before the Target Building Substantial Completion Date or the Target Project Substantial Completion Date, as applicable (or if the Authority has extended the Time Schedule in

accordance with this Agreement, such other date established for the Target Building Substantial Completion Date or Target Project Substantial Completion Date);

(b) a holdback of (the "LEED Holdback"); and

(c) a holdback of (the "Warranty Holdback")

(collectively, the "Performance Holdbacks").

- 43.2 Subject to Section 43.1(a), the Performance Holdbacks will be withheld upon Substantial Completion of the Building and if necessary, the Design-Builder will be responsible to ensure that sufficient security will be available to the Authority at that time.
- 43.3 The Authority will release the LD Holdback, less liquidated damages payable by the Design-Builder under Section 3.3 upon the achievement of Substantial Completion of the Project.
- 43.4 The Authority will release the LEED Holdback, less liquidated damages payable by the Design-Builder under Section 10, upon the achievement of the points, credits or LEED Gold Certification, as applicable.
- 43.5 The Authority will release the Warranty Holdback, less deductions for amounts owing to the Authority, upon the completion of the Warranty Period and satisfaction of all obligations of the Design-Builder under Section 38.
- 43.6 The Authority may apply the Performance Holdbacks against any amount owing by the Design-Builder to the Authority either prior to the applicable Substantial Completion Date or during the Warranty Period. If any amount is applied against the Performance Holdbacks, the Design-Builder will at the Authority's option, acting reasonably, either pay such amount to the Authority to replenish the Performance Holdbacks then required to be withheld, or the Authority may withhold such amount from the next payment or payments due to the Design-Builder.
- 43.7 The Design-Builder will apply for payment of the applicable Performance Holdback and payment will be made in accordance with Section 40.
- 43.8 The Performance Holdbacks are not held in trust for the Design-Builder, property of the Design-Builder, earned by the Design-Builder or due and payable by the Authority until the conditions for release of the Performance Holdbacks are satisfied.
- 43.9 The Design-Builder as an alternative to the retention of the Performance Holdbacks may propose to the Authority to provide either a clean irrevocable standby letter of credit from a financial institution in Canada in a form acceptable to the Authority, or another form of performance security acceptable to the Authority. If the Authority accepts the proposal, the Authority will upon receipt of the performance security release the Performance Holdbacks to the Design-Builder.

# SECTION 44 SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION AND TOTAL COMPLETION

44.1 The Design-Builder may make application to the Authority for a Substantial Completion Certificate at any time after it believes it has achieved Substantial Completion of the Building or Substantial Completion of the Project, as described in this Section 44 and has provided to the Authority's Consultant the items as required in Section 44.2(b) and Section 44.3(b).

- 44.2 "Substantial Completion of the Building" means that all of the following have been achieved:
  - (a) the Authority's Consultant has certified that, in respect of the Building, substantial performance of the Work under the *Builders Lien Act* (British Columbia) has been achieved or would have been achieved if this Agreement had been solely for the Building;
  - (b) the Building is ready for use by the Authority or is being used by the Authority for the purpose intended, and the following items have been submitted to the Authority or completed by the Design-Builder:
    - (i) all equipment, mechanical and other Building systems (including medical gas systems) are in place, commissioned, received required certifications, and are fully operational;
    - (ii) a complete Project Binder, provided that:
      - (A) the commissioning reports may be preliminary; and
      - (B) the inspections, certificates, guarantees and warranties, and certifications may exclude only the items of Work that remain to be completed;
    - (iii) up to date and current Drawings and Specifications;
    - (iv) maintenance and operating tools, replacement parts or products for the Building as specified in the Statement of Requirements;
    - (v) a clearance letter from the WorkSafeBC indicating that all current assessments due from the Design-Builder and all Subcontractors have been paid;
    - (vi) a statement reconciling all Change Orders and claims under this Agreement with respect to the Work to the date of the application for Substantial Completion of the Building;
    - (vii) all approvals necessary for the Building from local authorities having jurisdiction;
    - (viii) an occupancy permit for the Building as required from local authorities having jurisdiction;
    - (ix) a statutory declaration of an officer or senior management employee of the Design-Builder stating that all accounts for labour, subcontracts, materials, construction machinery and equipment and other indebtedness which may have been incurred by the Design-Builder in performing the Work and for which the Authority might in any way be held responsible have been paid in full, except for amounts properly retained as a holdback or as an identified amount in dispute;
    - (x) demonstration and training of all mechanical and electrically operated devices in the Building to the Authority's operating and maintenance staff;
    - (xi) all training for the Building's personnel required by the Statement of Requirements;

- (xii) the LEED Project Checklist and written opinion as required by and in accordance with Section 10.2;
- (xiii) the PNG and/or BC Hydro energy modelling compliance checklist, as required by and in accordance with Section 11.3;
- (xiv) the requirements of Section 35 (Cleanup and Final Cleaning of Work) have been fulfilled to the extent required by the Substantial Completion of the Building; and
- (xv) any other conditions specified in this Agreement with respect to achieving Substantial Completion of the Building;
- (c) a comprehensive deficiency list for the Building, including an estimated value for each item, has been submitted to the Authority's Consultant by the Design-Builder which will be supplemented by the Authority's Consultant, acting reasonably; and
- (d) a schedule for completion of all remaining Work has been submitted to the Authority's Consultant by the Design-Builder and agreed to by the Authority's Consultant, acting reasonably.
- "Substantial Completion of the Project" means that, in addition to all of the requirements for "Substantial Completion of the Building as described in Section 44.2, all of the following have been achieved:
  - (a) the Authority's Consultant has certified that substantial performance of the Work under the *Builders Lien Act* (British Columbia) has been achieved;
  - (b) the remainder of the Facility and the Site is ready for use by the Authority or is being used by the Authority for the purpose intended, and the following items have been submitted to the Authority or completed by the Design-Builder:
    - (i) a clearance letter from the WorkSafeBC indicating that all current assessments due from the Design-Builder and all Subcontractors have been paid;
    - (ii) a statement reconciling all Change Orders and claims under this Agreement with respect to the Work to the date of the application for Substantial Completion of the Project;
    - (iii) all approvals necessary for the Project from local authorities having jurisdiction;
    - (iv) an occupancy permit for the Facility, if required in addition to the occupancy permit for the Building, as required from local authorities having jurisdiction;
    - (v) a statutory declaration of an officer or senior management employee of the Design-Builder stating that all accounts for labour, subcontracts, materials, construction machinery and equipment and other indebtedness which may have been incurred by the Design-Builder in performing the Work and for which the Authority might in any way be held responsible have been paid in full, except for amounts properly retained as a holdback or as an identified amount in dispute;

- (vi) the requirements of Section 35 (Cleanup and Final Cleaning of Work) have been fulfilled to the extent required by the Substantial Completion of the Project; and
- (vii) any other conditions specified in this Agreement with respect to achieving Substantial Completion of the Project;
- (c) all deficiencies in the deficiency list for the Building have been completed;
- (d) a comprehensive deficiency list, including an estimated value for each item, has been submitted to the Authority's Consultant by the Design-Builder which will be supplemented by the Authority's Consultant acting reasonably; and
- (e) a schedule for completion of all remaining Work has been submitted to the Authority's Consultant by the Design-Builder and agreed to by the Authority's Consultant, acting reasonably.
- The Authority's Consultant with input from the Design-Builder's Consultant will, not later than 10 44.4 days after the receipt of an application from the Design-Builder for the Substantial Completion Certificate, review and assess the Work to verify that the application and the Work conform to the requirements set out in Section 44.2 or 44.3, as the case may be. The Authority's Consultant will, not later than 7 days after the review, notify the Design-Builder of approval, or the reasons for disapproval, of the application. In the event of disapproval, the Design-Builder will rectify all matters that prevent the issuance of the Substantial Completion Certificate and the Authority's Consultant will within 7 days after notice from the Design-Builder of rectification, approve or disapprove of the application, and so on, until such time as the Authority's Consultant determines that Substantial Completion of the Building or Substantial Completion of the Project has been achieved. When the Authority's Consultant determines that Substantial Completion of the Building or Substantial Completion of the Project has been achieved, the Authority's Consultant will issue the Substantial Completion Certificate. Following the issuance of the Substantial Completion Certificate, the Authority's Consultant, with input from the Design-Builder, will establish a reasonable date for work still to be satisfactorily performed or replaced as specified in the list of deficiencies and for Total Completion. The Design-Builder will be responsible for all costs of any additional reviews by the Authority's Consultant after the first review that are necessary under this Section, where such additional reviews reveal that previously identified deficiencies or nonconformances to the requirements set out in Section 44.2 or 44.3, as the case may be, have not been corrected or completed in a manner satisfactory to the Authority's Consultant. Such costs will be deducted from any monies then due to the Design-Builder.
- The Authority may retain out of the amount due and owing to the Design-Builder upon each of Substantial Completion of the Building and Substantial Completion of the Project:
  - (a) any sums required by law to satisfy any liens against the Work;
  - (b) an amount determined by the Authority's Consultant to be equal to 2 times the estimated value of the Work as determined by the Authority's Consultant that is still to be satisfactorily performed or rectified or replaced to address the issues specified in the list of deficiencies for achievement of Substantial Completion of the Building or Substantial Completion of the Project, as applicable; and
  - (c) any amount withheld pursuant to Section 42.5.

- 44.6 No payment will be made to the Design-Builder from the applicable amounts withheld under Section 44.5(b) until the completion or rectification or replacement of all the deficiencies and incomplete work specified in the deficiency list.
- 44.7 The Design-Builder will perform the work specified in the list of deficiencies at times and in a manner which causes as little inconvenience to the occupants of the Building or remainder of the Facility, as applicable, and the Authority's operations on and adjacent to the Site as is reasonably possible.
- 44.8 The Authority may carry out, or have others carry out, the work specified in the list of deficiencies at the Design-Builder's cost if:
  - (a) the Design-Builder does not complete the work by the date established by the Authority's Consultant in Section 44.4 and if the Authority gives notice to the Design-Builder and the Design-Builder does not complete, correct or replace the defect, deficiency or incomplete work within a reasonable time, not to exceed 14 days, unless the nature of the defect, deficiency or incomplete work is such that it cannot be completed or corrected within such time and the Authority, acting reasonably, agrees to an extension of such time; or
  - (b) the nature of the work is such that it creates a risk to the health or safety of any occupant or user of the Facility, or risk of damage to the Facility, the environment or any property and the Authority gives notice to the Design-Builder within a reasonable time after the commencement or completion of the rectification work.
- 44.9 If the Authority carries out or has others carry out the work pursuant to Section 44.8 the Design-Builder remains responsible for the work.
- 44.10 The Design-Builder will correct, at its own cost, or pay the Authority for any damage resulting from the work specified in the list of deficiencies.
- 44.11 The Design-Builder may make application to the Authority for the Total Completion Certificate at any time it believes it has achieved Total Completion as described in Section 44.12 and has provided to the Authority's Consultant the items as required in Section 44.12(d).
- 44.12 "Total Completion" means that all of the following have been achieved:
  - (a) the entire Work has been performed to the requirements of this Agreement other than:
    - (i) work required to be performed under Section 38; and
    - (ii) achievement of the LEED credits/points and LEED Gold Certification from the LEED Certifier under Section 10;
  - (b) all deficiencies specified in the deficiency list(s) have been rectified or completed to the Authority's satisfaction;
  - (c) the requirements of Section 35 have been fulfilled; and

- (d) the following items have been submitted by the Design-Builder and are acceptable to the Authority:
  - (i) all Submittals, including certified Record Drawings in accordance with Section 45 (Project Binder and Record Drawings)
  - (ii) the final Project Binder, including everything specified in Section 45.2;
  - (iii) a statutory declaration of an officer or senior management employee of the Design-Builder stating that all accounts for labour, subcontracts, materials, construction machinery and equipment and other indebtedness which may have been incurred by the Design-Builder in performing the Work and for which the Authority might in any way be held responsible have been paid in full, except for amounts properly retained as a holdback or as an identified amount in dispute, dated at least 45 days after the date of substantial performance under the *Builders Lien Act* (British Columbia);
  - (iv) a written statement of the Design-Builder that all claims for payment for Work done under this Agreement including claims and Change Orders have been presented to the Authority;
  - (v) a clearance letter from the Workers' Compensation Board indicating that all current assessments due from the Design-Builder and all Subcontractors have been paid; and
  - (vi) certification, acceptable to the Authority, that all taxes, employment assistance payments, Canada Pension Plan contributions, duties, royalties and all other monies required to be paid by law or statute have been paid in full.
- 44.13 Upon receipt by the Authority of the Design-Builder's application for the Total Completion Certificate:
  - (a) The Authority's Consultant will, subject to the conditions contained in Section 44.12, and not later than 10 days after the receipt of an application from the Design-Builder for the Total Completion Certificate, review and assess the Work to verify that the application and the Work conform to the requirements set out in Section 44.12.
  - (b) The Authority's Consultant will, and not later than 7 days after the review contemplated in Section 44.13(a), notify the Design-Builder of approval, or the reasons for disapproval, of the application. In the event of a disapproval, the Design-Builder will rectify all matters that prevent the issuance of the Total Completion Certificate and the Authority's Consultant will within 7 days after notice from the Design-Builder of rectification, review and assess the Work and approve or disapprove of the application, and so on, until such time as the Authority's Consultant determines that Total Completion has been achieved.
  - (c) The Design-Builder will be responsible for all costs of additional reviews required for by Section 44.13(b), such costs to be deducted from the monies due to the Design-Builder, where any additional review undertaken by the Authority's Consultant pursuant to this Section reveals that previously identified deficiencies have not been corrected in a manner satisfactory to the Authority's Consultant.

When the Authority's Consultant determines that Total Completion has been achieved, the Authority's Consultant will issue the Total Completion Certificate and certify for payment the monies due to the Design-Builder under this Agreement, less any amount still retained for the Lien Holdback or the Performance Holdbacks, amounts withheld under Section 42.5 or any amount set-off in accordance with this Agreement. The date of Total Completion will be as stated in the Total Completion Certificate.

- 44.14 No payment made by the Authority under this Agreement, or partial or entire use or occupancy of the Work by the Authority, will constitute an acceptance of Work not in accordance with the requirements of this Agreement.
- 44.15 By issuing any certificate, the Authority and the Authority's Consultant do not guarantee, or otherwise become liable or responsible in any way for, the correctness or completeness of the Work, including the Design, and no certificate makes the Authority or Authority's Consultant in any way responsible or liable for adequacy of the Design or for the Work, all of which remain the responsibility of the Design-Builder.
- 44.16 As of the date of Total Completion, the Design-Builder expressly waives and releases the Authority from all claims against the Authority, including those that might arise from the negligence or breach of this Agreement by the Authority, except those made in writing prior to the Design-Builder's application for payment upon Total Completion and still unsettled and those arising in connection with the obligations of either party to be performed after Total Completion.
- 44.17 In the event of conflict between the provisions of this Section 44 and any other Section of this Agreement, the provisions of this Section 44 govern.
- 44.18 Without limiting any other withholding or set-off under this Agreement, the Authority may deduct from any payment to the Design-Builder under this Agreement the amount paid by the Authority to put the Design-Builder into compliance with the Insurance Conditions if the Design-Builder has defaulted in complying with the Insurance Conditions.

# SECTION 45 PROJECT BINDER AND RECORD DRAWINGS

- The Design-Builder will prepare and provide to the Authority a set of documentation that is bound in one or more binders (the "**Project Binder**").
- 45.2 The Project Binder will include the following:
  - (a) commissioning reports satisfactory to the Authority;
  - (b) all inspections, certifications, guarantees and warranties;
  - (c) maintenance manuals and operating instructions;
  - (d) certification by all testing, cleaning or inspection authorities or associations;
  - (e) confirmation of the Design-Builder's Consultant in accordance with Section 16.3(b);
  - (f) copies of all warranties and guarantees from Subcontractors;

- (g) copies of all shop drawing cut-sheets; and
- (h) all other documentation that is reasonably required by the Authority or by any party on behalf of the Authority to operate and maintain the Facility.
- 45.3 The Project Binder will be updated on a monthly basis with all documentation to Work completed up to the date is updated. The updates may be submitted electronically. In addition, at each of Substantial Completion of the Building, Substantial Completion of the Project and Total Completion, the Design-Builder will provide and update 3 paper copies of the Project Binder and 3 flash drives each containing a copy of the Project Binder, unless directed to use a different format by the Authority, acting reasonably.
- Within 60 days after achieving each of Substantial Completion of the Building and Substantial Completion of the Project, the Design-Builder will provide to the Authority the following in respect of completed Work:
  - (a) 2 complete sets of paper print Record Drawings, prepared by the Design-Builder's Consultant;
  - (b) 1 complete copy of digital pre-boarding images on a flash drive. The digital images will be 3D images viewable on a commercially available software viewer in a format acceptable to the Authority, showing every room and space in the Building prior to covering up or boarding that room or space. Image files will be organized and cataloged using room numbers corresponding to construction document room numbers; and
  - (c) 1 complete copy of the Record Drawings on a flash drive in both CAD and Adobe PDF format acceptable to the Authority, acting reasonably.

# SECTION 46 CASH ALLOWANCES

- 46.1 This Section 46 applies only if cash allowances are stated in this Agreement.
- 46.2 The Contract Price includes cash allowances, if any, stated in this Agreement. The allowances will be expended, if at all, only as the Authority authorizes. The scope of work or costs included in such cash allowances will be as described in this Agreement.
- 46.3 Cash allowances cover the net cost to the Design-Builder of services (including design services), materials, products, construction machinery and equipment, freight, unloading, handling, storage, installation and other expenditures authorized by the Authority that are incurred in performing the work stipulated under the cash allowances but do not include GST payable by the Authority to the Design-Builder.
- 46.4 The Contract Price, and not the cash allowances, includes the Design-Builder's overhead and profit in connection with such cash allowances.
- Where the actual costs expended by the Design-Builder for work under a cash allowance exceed the amount of the cash allowance, the Design-Builder will be compensated for any excess incurred and substantiated plus an amount for overhead and profit as set out in Section 49.2(b). Where the actual costs expended by the Design-Builder for work under a cash allowance is less than the amount of the cash allowance, the Authority will be credited for the unexpended portion of the cash

- allowance, but not for the Design-Builder's overhead and profit on such amount. Multiple cash allowances will not be combined for the purpose of calculating the foregoing.
- 46.6 The Contract Price will be adjusted to provide for any difference between the amount of each cash allowance and the actual cost of the work under that cash allowance.
- 46.7 The value of the Work performed under a cash allowance is eligible to be included in the monthly applications for payment.
- 46.8 The Design-Builder and the Authority will jointly prepare a schedule that shows when the Authority, through the Authority's Consultant, must authorize the ordering of items called for under cash allowances to avoid delaying the progress of the Work.
- The Contract Price includes a cash allowance (the "Remediation Cash Allowance") for the removal of the underground diesel tank and related management, removal, abatement, containment and disposal of soil Contaminants, as indicated by the Phase 1 Environmental Site Assessment dated November 27, 2020 (the "Diesel Tank Remediation") to be carried out by the Design-Builder. If the actual costs expended by the Design-Builder for work under the Remediation Cash Allowance exceed the amount of such allowance, the Design-Builder must obtain approval from the Authority prior to proceeding with the Diesel Tank Remediation. If, after obtaining such approval and proceeding, the actual costs expended by the Design-Builder exceed then in addition to the compensation referred to in Section 46.5 the Design-Builder will be entitled to an extension of the Contract Time which will be determined in accordance with Section 51.1.
- The Contract Price includes a cash allowance (the "Water Reservoir Drain Cash 46.10 **Allowance**") for the tie-in and installation of a temporary portion of the water reservoir drain line which will connect to the existing water reservoir drain line north-west of the reservoir, daylight the pipe and re-route the flow (through pipe, culvert or ditch) to connect to the nearest ditch adjacent to Pineridge Road. This Work includes: tie-in and installation of the temporary overland pipe section (if required), capping and abandonment of the existing line, and related management. The Work related to the Cash Allowance is to be carried out by the Design-Builder following direction from the Authority, which will include all necessary orientation information and installation specifications. If the actual costs expended by the Design-Builder for work under the Water Reservoir Drain Cash Allowance exceed the amount of such allowance, the Design-Builder must obtain approval from the Authority prior to proceeding with the Water Reservoir Drain Relocation. If, after obtaining such approval and proceeding, the actual costs expended by the Design-Builder exceed \$100,000, then in addition to the compensation referred to in Section 46.5 the Design-Builder will be entitled to an extension of the Contract Time which will be determined in accordance with Section 51.1. The Authority may, no later than April 18, 2022, provide alternative required design information to the Design-Builder as the current project schedule is based on the Design-Builder's ability to excavate and demolish the existing drain line which currently interferes with the new hospital foundations and retaining wall installations.
- 46.11 The Contract Price includes a cash allowance (the "Fire Protection Cash Allowance") for work associated with fire protection (wet and dry systems, including delegated design) to be carried out by the Design-Builder's mechanical subcontractor's fire protection sub-trade (ie. second tier Subcontractor). This fire protection work is for work performed by the Design-Builder's mechanical subcontractor's fire protection sub-trade (ie. second tier Subcontractor) but does not include management or other support costs typically incurred by the Design-Builder's first tier mechanical Subcontractor or otherwise. If the actual costs expended by the Design-Builder for Work under the Fire Protection Cash Allowance exceed the amount of such allowance, the Design-

Builder must obtain approval from the Authority prior to further proceeding with the fire protection Work. If, after obtaining such approval and proceeding, the actual costs expended by the Design-Builder for Work under the Fire Protection Cash Allowance exceed , then in addition to the compensation referred to in Section 46.5 the Design-Builder will be entitled to an extension of the Contract Time which will be determined in accordance with Section 51.1.

#### **PART E - CHANGES**

# SECTION 47 CHANGES

- 47.1 The Authority, without invalidating this Agreement, may require Changes, with the Contract Price and Contract Time adjusted in accordance with Section 48. The Authority may issue any Change Order or Change Directive, which can include a stop Work order or resume Work order, to the Design-Builder's Representative or to any other person authorized by the Design-Builder to receive a Change Order.
- 47.2 No Change will be made without a Change Order or Change Directive from the Authority.
- 47.3 The Design-Builder will not be entitled to a Change Order or Change Directive, or to any adjustments to the Contract Price or the Contract Time, for any Change for which the Design-Builder has not, prior to commencing the performance of a Change, obtained from the Authority a Change Order or Change Directive except where expressly allowed in this Agreement at Sections 29.2 and 30.2.
- 47.4 The Authority may, at any time, require the Design-Builder to assess the impact of a proposed Change on the Contract Price and the Contract Time and the Design-Builder will provide the Authority with such assessment within 10 days after the Authority's request or such other time as may be agreed by the Authority, acting reasonably
- 47.5 If a Change Order or Change Directive has any impact on the Energy Model, the Design Builder will promptly notify the Authority.

# SECTION 48 VALUATION AND CERTIFICATION OF CHANGES

- 48.1 The value of any Change will be determined by one or more of the following methods:
  - (a) by estimate and acceptance of a lump sum; or
  - (b) by unit prices or fee rates agreed upon (and which may include a maximum upset price).
- 48.2 The following process will be followed for Changes:
  - (a) where a Change is proposed or required by the Authority, the Design-Builder will promptly, and in any case within 10 days after the Change is proposed or required by the Authority, present to the Authority its claims for any adjustment to the Contract Price or the Contract Time that arise from the Change;

- (b) where the Design-Builder claims a Change in Contract Price, the Design-Builder will provide a full breakdown of labour, material and other cost information;
- (c) where the Authority and Design-Builder agree to the Change, including adjustments in the Contract Price and Contract Time, or to the method to be used to determine the adjustments, such Change will be effective when recorded in a Change Order; and
- (d) the value of the Work performed as the result of a Change Order will be included in payment applications.
- 48.3 In the case of Changes to be paid for under Section 48.2(c), the form of presentation of costs and methods of measurement will be agreed to by the Authority and the Design-Builder before proceeding with the Change. The Design-Builder will keep accurate records of quantities or costs as agreed upon and will present an account of the costs of the Change, together with vouchers where applicable, at least once each month during performance of the Change, and will present a final account upon completion of the Change.
- 48.4 If the methods of valuation, measurement and value of any Change or any adjustment to the Contract Time cannot be promptly agreed upon, and in any case within 10 days after the proposed Change, and the Change is required by the Authority in writing to be proceeded with, then the Change will be performed by the Design-Builder and the value of the Change and adjustment to the Contract Time will be determined in accordance with the Dispute resolution process described in Section 63 by determining the cost of the Change in accordance with the Section 49 (other than Sections 49.1 and 49.4) and by determining the adjustment of the Contract Time as a reasonable time taking into account the critical path.
- 48.5 It is intended in all matters involving Changes that both the Authority and the Design-Builder will act promptly and in accordance with the times set out in this Section 48.

# SECTION 49 DETERMINATION OF COST

- 49.1 Subject to Section 49.2 whenever it is necessary for the purposes of this Agreement to determine the cost of a Change, the cost will be the amount agreed upon by the Design-Builder and the Authority within a reasonable time after the issue arises in any given instance.
- 49.2 If the Design-Builder and the Authority cannot agree as to the cost of the Change as contemplated in Section 49.1, the sole cost to which the Design-Builder will be entitled for the Change will be equal to the aggregate of:
  - (a) all reasonable and proper amounts actually expended by or legally payable by the Design-Builder in respect of the labour, equipment or material (supported by invoices, purchase orders, timesheets and other customary industry documentation) that are directly attributable to the subject matter of the Change and that are within one of the classes of expenditures described in Section 49.3; plus
  - (b) to cover other costs, including overhead and profit, the following applicable markup on the amounts charged pursuant to Section 49.2(a).
    - (i) 5%, when the expenditure is a payment to a Subcontractor pursuant to Section 49.3(a); or

- (ii) 10% when the Design-Builder performed the Change.
- 49.3 Classes of incremental expenditure that are allowable for the Work that is the subject matter of the Change (all without additional markups except as otherwise noted in Section 49) for the purposes of Section 49.2 are:
  - (a) payments to Subcontractors, including a maximum aggregate markup of 10% on the direct labour, equipment and material costs of the Subcontractors who directly perform the Work;
  - (b) wages, salaries and reasonable and traveling expenses of employees of the Design-Builder while they are actually and properly engaged on the Work, other than wages, salaries, bonuses, reasonable living and travelling expenses of personnel of the Design-Builder generally employed at the head office, or at a general office, of the Design-Builder unless such personnel is engaged at the site of the Work, with the approval of the Authority;
  - (c) payments for materials necessary for and incorporated in the Work or necessary for and consumed in the performance of the Work;
  - (d) payment for equipment necessary for and incorporated in the Work;
  - (e) payments for tools, other than tools customarily provided by tradespersons, necessary for and used in the performance of the Work;
  - (f) payments for preparation, inspection, delivery, installation, commissioning and removal of equipment and materials necessary for the performance of the Work;
  - (g) assessments payable under any statutory scheme relating to workers compensation, unemployment insurance or holidays with pay;
  - (h) payments for renting equipment (but not tools) and allowances for equipment (but not tools) owned by the Design-Builder, necessary for the performance of the Work, provided that such payments or allowances are reasonable or have been agreed to by the Design-Builder and the Authority; and
  - (i) other payments, made with the prior approval of the Authority, that are necessary for the performance of the Work, as determined by the Authority.
- 49.4 If the Design-Builder and the Authority cannot agree as to the cost of labour, equipment or material as contemplated in Section 49.1, and the Authority considers that a Change or series of related Changes may exceed \$50,000, the Authority may require the Design-Builder, and the Design-Builder will, obtain a minimum of 3 competitive quotations or tenders for all or any part of such Change or Changes as directed by the Authority.
- 49.5 The applicable markup set out in this Section 49 will apply to any credit to the Authority for reductions in the costs relating to a Change. Where both increases and reductions in costs relate to a Change, the applicable markup will apply to the net increase or reduction in costs.

# SECTION 50 CHANGE DIRECTIVE

- 50.1 The Authority may issue a Change Directive to the Design-Builder directing the Design-Builder to proceed with a Change. The Design-Builder will proceed with the Change and the valuation and adjustments to the Contract Price and the Contract Time will be made as soon as reasonably possible after the implementation of the Change in the same manner as a Change for which a Change Order would be issued under this Agreement.
- 50.2 The Authority may issue Change Directives at any time, including prior to commencing the process for a Change Order or if there is a Dispute in relation to a Change or Change Order (including a Dispute as to whether there is a Change).

#### PART F - DELAYS

# SECTION 51 DELAYS

- 51.1 If the Design-Builder is delayed in performing the Work as a direct result of a failure of the Authority to provide access to the Site, or a material breach by the Authority of the terms of this Agreement or by an order issued by any court or public authority having jurisdiction (providing such order was not issued as the result of any act or fault of the Design-Builder or a Subcontractor), or the events referred to in Sections 28.3, 29.2, 30.3 or 46.9, then:
  - (a) the Contract Time will be extended for such reasonable time, taking into account the critical path as agreed by the Authority and the Design-Builder, acting reasonably, and the Design-Builder will, other than for the delay under Section 46.9, be reimbursed for any costs directly incurred by it as the result of such delay, determined in accordance with Section 49; or
  - (b) if the Authority determines that the Target Building Substantial Completion Date or Target Project Substantial Completion Date can still be met and requests in writing that the Design-Builder accelerate the Work, the Design-Builder will accelerate its efforts to meet the Target Building Substantial Completion Date or Target Project Substantial Completion Date as directed by the Authority. The Design-Builder will be reimbursed for all reasonable and direct costs plus the markup set out in Section 49.2(b) incurred by it as a result of undertaking such acceleration efforts.
- 51.2 If the Design-Builder is delayed in performing the Work by an event of Force Majeure then:
  - (a) the Contract Time will be extended for such reasonable time taking into account the critical path, as agreed by the Authority, and the Design-Builder acting reasonably; or
  - (b) if the Authority determines that the Target Building Substantial Completion Date or Target Project Substantial Completion Date can still be met and requests in writing that the Design-Builder accelerate the Work, the Design-Builder will accelerate its efforts to meet the Target Building Substantial Completion Date and Target Project Substantial Completion Date as directed by the Authority. The Design-Builder will be reimbursed for all reasonable and direct costs plus the markup set out in Section 49.2(b) incurred by it as a result of undertaking such acceleration efforts.

- Except as provided in Section 51.2(b) for acceleration of the Work required by the Authority, the Design-Builder will not be entitled to any costs incurred in relation to the Force Majeure or delays arising from the Force Majeure.
- 51.3 If the Design-Builder is delayed in the performance of the Work for any reason other than that for which an extension of time is permitted under this Section 51 or if the Design-Builder does not perform the Work substantially in accordance with the Time Schedule to meet the Target Building Substantial Completion Date and Target Project Substantial Completion Date, the Design-Builder will at its cost accelerate the Work to meet the Target Building Substantial Completion Date and Target Project Substantial Completion Date.
- 51.4 The Design-Builder is not entitled to any extension of time or any reimbursement of costs for delay under this Section 51 unless written notice is given to the Authority not later than 7 days after the date that the Design-Builder becomes aware of the event causing the delay. In the case of a continuing cause of delay only one notice is necessary. The notice will include the reason for the delay, the justification under this Agreement for the claim and an estimated value for the claim including all impacts of the delay and all steps taken or reasonably available to mitigate the delay and impact. The Design-Builder will provide a full, detailed, and organized account of the delay and amount claimed, including any supporting information or documentation, as required by the Authority or Authority's Consultant, before any delays or impacts will be considered. The information and documentation must be presented promptly to the Authority, and in any event, no later than 30 days or such later date as the parties may agree, after the date on which the Design-Builder delivered notice, and in the event of a continuing delay such information and documentation must be updated every 30 days. No such account or update will be deemed to extend the time for delivery of notice, or revive a claim that has been waived. The Design-Builder waives any claim for extension of Contract Time or adjustment to the Contract Price, or any other compensation, expenses, loss or damages incurred as the result of a delay unless the Design-Builder provides such notice of the delay within the time period specified and provides the account of the delay and amount claimed and all required updates within the time periods specified.
- In the case of any delay under Section 51.1 or Section 51.2 the Design-Builder will use all reasonable efforts to mitigate the costs and impacts of the delay including removing the cause of the delay as promptly as practicable such that the Time Schedule is maintained and that acceleration efforts, if requested by the Authority, are minimized.

#### PART G – SUSPENSION AND TERMINATION

# SECTION 52 NON-DEFAULT SUSPENSION/TERMINATION

- 52.1 Notwithstanding that the Design-Builder may not be in default of the terms of this Agreement, if conditions arise which in the Authority's reasonable opinion make it necessary, the Authority may suspend performance of the Work or terminate this Agreement by giving 5 days' written notice to that effect to the Design-Builder and the suspension or termination is effective in the manner specified in the notice.
- Without limiting Section 52.1, the Authority may, if it determines that there is an emergency, by notice to the Design-Builder, do either or both of the following:
  - (a) suspend the Work whenever in its opinion such suspension may be necessary to ensure the safety or life of others or of the Work or neighbouring property; or

- (b) make Changes, and order, assess and award the cost of such Changes that are extra to the Contract Price in accordance with Section 48 and Section 49 as determined to be necessary.
- 52.3 The Authority will within 2 Business Days after a Change under Section 52.2(b) confirm in writing any Change instructions and if a Change has been performed by order of the Authority, the Design-Builder retains its right to claim the value of such Change.
- The Design-Builder upon receiving notice of suspension or termination from the Authority will immediately suspend all operations except those, which, in the Design-Builder's reasonable opinion, are necessary to ensure the safety of personnel and the public or for the care and preservation of the Work and materials. Subject to any directions in the notice of suspension or termination, the Design-Builder will discontinue ordering materials, will not enter into any further Subcontracts (except such Subcontracts as are necessary for the safety of personnel or for the care and preservation of the Work) and will make every reasonable effort in the event of termination to cancel existing Subcontracts and orders on the best terms available.
- During the period of suspension the Design-Builder will not remove from the Site any of the Work, or any material, without the prior written consent of the Authority.
- 52.6 If the period of suspension is 30 days or less, the Design-Builder, upon the expiration of the period of suspension, will resume the performance of the Work and will be paid for all costs reasonably incurred by the Design-Builder in complying with the suspension, determined in accordance with Section 49 and for costs reasonably incurred for acceleration of the Work so that Substantial Completion of the Building is achieved by the Target Building Substantial Completion Date and Substantial Completion of the Project is achieved by the Target Project Substantial Completion Date where the Authority requires such acceleration by written notice to the Design-Builder. If the Authority does not require the acceleration of the Work, or if it is not possible for the Design-Builder, using all reasonable efforts, to achieve Substantial Completion of the Building by the Target Building Substantial Completion Date or Substantial Completion of the Project by the Target Project Substantial Completion Date despite an intended acceleration of the Work, the Authority and the Design-Builder will, acting reasonably, agree on a new Target Building Substantial Completion Date and Target Project Substantial Completion Date, as applicable.
- 52.7 If the period of suspension is greater than 30 days and, before 120 days after the date of the notice of suspension, the Authority and the Design-Builder agree to continue with and complete the Work, the Design-Builder will resume operations and complete the Work in accordance with any terms and conditions agreed upon by the Authority and the Design-Builder and the Design-Builder will be paid for all costs reasonably incurred by the Design-Builder in complying with the suspension, determined in accordance with Section 49.
- 52.8 If the period of suspension is greater than 30 days and the Authority and the Design-Builder do not agree to continue with and complete the Work, or they fail to agree on the terms and conditions upon which the Design-Builder is to resume operations and complete the Work, before 120 days after the date of the notice of suspension, this Agreement will be deemed to have been terminated.
- 52.9 If this Agreement is terminated pursuant to this Section 52:
  - (a) the Authority will pay the Design-Builder:
    - (i) in accordance with this Agreement, for all Work performed and for all of the Design-Builder's obligations under Subcontracts that it was unable to cancel, or

- asked by the Authority not to cancel, less any payments made by the Authority prior to termination; and
- (ii) all costs reasonably incurred by the Design-Builder in complying with the suspension or termination order, determined in accordance with Section 49, less any costs already paid to the Design-Builder pursuant to Section 52.6; and
- (b) the Authority will be entitled to:
  - (i) take possession of the Work or any part of the Work;
  - (ii) take possession of the Drawings and Specifications and make use of them in accordance with the rights granted under this Agreement; and
  - (iii) finish the Work or any part of the Work by whatever reasonable method the Authority may consider expedient.
- 52.10 The Design-Builder's obligations as to quality, correction and warranty of any portion of the Work performed prior to termination continue in force after termination under this Section 52.
- 52.11 The Design-Builder, by giving written notice to the Authority, may suspend performance of the Work to the extent the Work is stopped for a period in excess of 30 days by an order of any court or public authority having jurisdiction through no act or fault of the Design-Builder, its Subcontractors or for anyone whose acts the Design-Builder may be held liable.

# SECTION 53 DEFAULT AND TERMINATION OF AGREEMENT

- The Authority may give written notice to the Design-Builder of default under this Agreement if the Design-Builder:
  - (a) is adjudged bankrupt, makes a general assignment for the benefit of creditors, or a receiver is appointed on account of its insolvency, or fails to make payment to creditors when payment is due;
  - (b) abandons the Work;
  - (c) breaches a material term of this Agreement;
  - (d) makes a material misrepresentation of a representation or warranty set out in this Agreement;
  - (e) has delivered a statutory declaration in support of application for a payment under this Agreement that was false or materially inaccurate; or
  - (f) has made an assignment of this Agreement without the required consent of the Authority.
- 53.2 If a default referred to in Section 53.1 occurs, other than a default referred to in Section 53.1(a) or 53.1(b), the Design-Builder will remedy the default within a 7 day rectification period after the notice given under Section 53.1. If the nature of such default is that it cannot be remedied within such 7 day period, the Design-Builder will within such 7 day period provide the Authority with a

- schedule acceptable to the Authority for remedying the default and the Design-Builder will remedy the default in accordance with that schedule.
- 53.3 If a default referred to in Section 53.1(a) or 53.1(b) occurs or if the Design-Builder fails to remedy any other default within the rectification period described in Section 53.2 or in accordance with the schedule acceptable to the Authority, the Authority may without prejudice to any other right or remedy exercise any or all of the following:
  - (a) suspend all or part of the Work;
  - (b) terminate the Design-Builder's right to continue with the Work in whole or in part;
  - (c) remedy the default and deduct the cost thereof from any payment then or thereafter due to the Design-Builder; and
  - (d) terminate this Agreement.
- If the Authority terminates the right to continue with all or part of the Work or terminates this Agreement pursuant to Section 53.3, the Authority will be entitled to:
  - (a) take possession of the Work or any part of the Work;
  - (b) take possession of the Drawings and Specifications and make use of them in accordance with the rights granted under this Agreement;
  - (c) use construction machinery and equipment, subject to the rights of third parties;
  - (d) finish the Work or any part of the Work by whatever reasonable method the Authority may consider expedient;
  - (e) charge the Design-Builder the amount by which the full cost of finishing the Work and a reasonable allowance to cover the cost of corrections to Work performed by the Design-Builder that may be required under Section 38 exceeds the unpaid balance of the Contract Price; and
  - (f) on expiry of the Warranty Period, charge the Design-Builder the amount by which the cost of corrections to Work under Section 38 exceeds the allowance provided for such corrections, or reimburse the Design-Builder with the portion of the allowance unspent on the cost of corrections to the Work under Section 38 as applicable.
- 53.5 The termination of the right to continue with part of the Work does not relieve or discharge the Design-Builder from any obligations under this Agreement, except the obligation to perform the part of the Work removed from the Design-Builder.
- The rights, powers and remedies conferred on the Authority under this Agreement are not intended to be exclusive but are cumulative, are in addition to, do not limit and are not in substitution for any other right, power and remedy existing under this Agreement, under any other agreement, at law or in equity. The exercise by the Authority of any right, power or remedy does not preclude the simultaneous or later exercise by the Authority of any other right, power or remedy.

# SECTION 54 TERMINATION BY THE DESIGN-BUILDER

- 54.1 The Design-Builder may by giving written notice to the Authority declare the Authority in default of this Agreement for any of the following reasons:
  - (a) the Authority has failed to pay the Design-Builder within 45 days of the date that any payment becomes due to the Design-Builder in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, unless the Authority is bona fide disputing liability to make such payment and has provided notice to the Design-Builder of the basis for its dispute before the time provided in Section 40.10 for payment of invoices;
  - (b) the Authority has failed to substantially supply the Site to the Design-Builder, subject to any property availability restrictions identified in this Agreement, within 180 days following the Site Occupation Date; or
  - (c) substantially all of the Work is stopped by an order of any court or public authority having jurisdiction (providing that such order was not issued as the result of any act or fault of the Design-Builder or a Subcontractor) for a period of 90 days.
- 54.2 If a default referred to in Section 54.1 occurs, the Authority will remedy the default within a 21 day rectification period after the notice given under Section 54.1 or within such extension thereof established by the Design-Builder.
- 54.3 If the Authority fails to remedy the default within the rectification period described in Section 54.2 or any extension thereof established in accordance with that Section, the Design-Builder may exercise any or all of the following:
  - (a) waive the default;
  - (b) further extend the rectification period;
  - (c) suspend the Work; and
  - (d) terminate this Agreement.
- 54.4 If the Design-Builder terminates this Agreement in accordance with Section 54.3(d), the Design-Builder is entitled to be paid:
  - (a) in accordance with the terms of this Agreement for all Work satisfactorily performed to the date of termination; and
  - (b) expenses of the Design-Builder that are directly related to the termination and reasonable in the circumstances including the Design-Builder's obligations to other parties.

### PART H – REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

# SECTION 55 REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

- 55.1 The Design-Builder represents and warrants to the Authority:
  - (a) as of the Effective Date that:
    - (i) all necessary proceedings have been taken to authorize the Design-Builder to enter into this Agreement and to execute and deliver this Agreement;
    - (ii) this Agreement has been properly executed by an authorized signatory of the Design-Builder and is enforceable against the Design-Builder in accordance with its terms;
    - (iii) the Design-Builder has had sufficient time, opportunity and resources to investigate and has investigated and satisfied itself of every condition and risk relating to, affecting or that may affect the Project and the Work, or either of them, including the Site conditions, and the labour, equipment, material and other resources that may be necessary for the performance of the Work in a manner that will meet or exceed all requirements of this Agreement;
    - (iv) described the Design-Builder's investigations and assessments Section 55.1(a)(iii), including of the Site conditions (such conditions including for greater certainty geotechnical conditions, subsurface conditions, bearing pressure, settlement characteristics and nature and consistency of soil), and any conclusions reached in such investigations and assessments, including any conclusions as to the effect, if any, on the Design, Construction, Substantial Completion Dates and Contract Price, (or any of them), except for objective geotechnical information that can be relied upon for accuracy but not interpretation, sufficiency or relevance, are based on the Design-Builder's own experience, examination, knowledge, information, interpretation, assessment, analysis and judgment and not upon any statement, representation or information, whether oral or written, made, produced or provided by, through or on behalf of the Authority or its advisors;
    - (v) subject to Section 28.1 in respect of the accuracy of objective geotechnical data identified in Section 28.1(c), the Design-Builder acknowledges that the investigations made by the Authority of the conditions of the Site, including subsurface conditions, are of a preliminary nature and are made for the purpose of study and preliminary design for the sole benefit of the Authority only except for objective geotechnical data that can be relied upon by the Design-Builder for accuracy but not interpretation, sufficiency or relevance;
    - (vi) the Design-Builder has no knowledge of any fact that materially adversely affects or, so far as it can foresee, might materially adversely affect either its financial condition or its ability to fulfill its obligations under this Agreement;
    - (vii) there is no bona fide proceeding pending or threatened against the Design-Builder, which would, if successful, materially adversely affect the ability of the Design-Builder to fulfill its obligations under this Agreement; and

- (viii) the Design-Builder acknowledges that it has the responsibility for informing itself of all aspects of the Project and all information necessary to perform the Work; and
- (b) as of the Effective Date (to the extent applicable as of the Effective Date) and at all times throughout the Term that:
  - (i) the Design-Builder has filed all tax, corporate information and other returns required to be filed by all applicable Laws, has complied with all workers' compensation legislation and other similar legislation to which it is subject, and has paid all taxes, fees and assessments due by the Design-Builder under those laws as of the Effective Date, except for Lien Holdback monies properly retained, payments deferred by agreement and accounts withheld by reason of legitimate dispute;
  - (ii) the Design-Builder holds all permits, licences, consents and authorities issued by any level of government, or any agency of any level of government, that are required by all applicable Laws to perform the Work;
  - (iii) the Design-Builder has paid, as they became due, all accounts, expenses, wages, salaries, taxes, rates, fees and assessments required to be paid by it in respect of the Work and fulfillment of its obligations under this Agreement;
  - (iv) the Design-Builder is not in breach of any Law that is material to performance of the Design-Builder's obligations under this Agreement;
  - (v) the Key Individuals or any substitute with equivalent qualifications proposed by the Design-Builder who have first been expressly accepted in writing by the Authority will be available and fully involved in the performance of the Work; and
  - (vi) the Design-Builder is registered for the purposes of the GST.
- 55.2 The Authority represents and warrants to the Design-Builder as of the Effective Date that:
  - (a) it has been properly constituted pursuant to applicable legislation;
  - (b) it has been properly authorized to fulfill the obligations of the Authority under this Agreement; and
  - (c) it has the power, capacity and authority to enter into this Agreement and to carry out its obligations under this Agreement.

#### PART I – PROTECTION AND INDEMNITY

# SECTION 56 PROTECTION OF WORK AND PROPERTY

The Design-Builder will protect the Work, the Site and property adjacent to the Site from damage that may arise as the result of the Design-Builder's operations under this Agreement, and will be responsible for such damage, except damage that occurs as the result of actions of the Authority, its agents, employees or Other Contractors.

- 56.2 Should any damage occur to the Work, the Site and property adjacent to the Site for which the Design-Builder is responsible as provided in Section 56.1, the Design-Builder will make good such damage at its own expense or pay all costs incurred by the Authority or others in making good such damage.
- 56.3 Should any damage occur to the Work, the Site and property adjacent to the Site for which the Design-Builder is not responsible as provided in Section 56.1, the Design-Builder will at the Authority's direction and expense make good such damage. The Contract Price and Contract Time will be adjusted in accordance with Section 48 and Section 49.

# SECTION 57 EXCLUSIONS OF LIABILITY

- Neither the Design-Builder nor the Authority will be liable to the other for any consequential or indirect damages in connection with this Agreement, whether based in contract, tort (including negligence), strict liability or otherwise and including loss of use, loss of revenues or profits and loss of opportunity. This Section 57.1 will not limit any liability the Design-Builder may have under this Agreement to pay liquidated damages.
- 57.2 Subject to Section 57.3 the maximum amount of the total aggregate liability of the Design-Builder to the Authority in connection with this Agreement, whether based in contract, tort (including negligence), strict liability or otherwise, is:
  - (a) in respect of a loss by the Indemnified Parties for which insurance is to be provided by the Authority under Section 1 or Section 3 of Schedule 4 Insurance Conditions, the applicable limit or sub-limit of the Wrap-up Liability coverage or the Course of Construction coverage, whichever is applicable to the loss, with such limit or sub-limit calculated without reduction for the amount of any deductible; or
  - (b) in respect of any liability other than a loss referred to in Section 57.2(a) above, 50% of the Contract Price.

If this Agreement is terminated, the reference in this Section 57.2 to the "Contract Price" will be deemed only for purposes of this Section 57.2 to be the amount to which the Design-Builder would have been entitled if the Design-Builder had properly performed and completed the Work and this Agreement had not been terminated.

- 57.3 Section 57.2 will not limit the Design-Builder's liability in connection with:
  - (a) fraud, gross negligence or wilful, fraudulent or criminal misconduct;
  - (b) bodily injury, sickness, disease or death;
  - (c) liability to third parties in respect of tangible personal or real property;
  - (d) breach by the Design-Builder of its obligations of confidentiality under this Agreement; and
  - (e) penalties, fines or other liability imposed by a governmental authority, an administrative tribunal or a court of competent jurisdiction for breach of applicable Law.

Nothing in this Section 57 will be construed to limit the liability of an insurer under the insurance required to be maintained under this Agreement.

# SECTION 58 INDEMNIFICATION

- The Design-Builder will indemnify and save harmless the Authority and its officers, employees, representatives, consultants and agents including the Authority's Representative (collectively the "Indemnified Parties") from and against any and all losses, claims, damages, actions, causes of action, costs and expenses (including actual legal and other professional fees and disbursements) that any of the Indemnified Parties may sustain, incur, suffer or be put to at any time either before or after the expiration or termination of this Agreement, where the same or any of them are based upon, arise out of or occur, directly or indirectly, by reason of any act or omission of the Design-Builder or of any representative, agent, employee, officer, director, consultant of the Design-Builder or of any Subcontractor, excepting only liability to the extent arising out of the independent acts of the Indemnified Parties.
- 58.2 The obligations of the Design-Builder under Section 58 will not be affected by completion or termination of this Agreement, whether for default or otherwise, or suspension of the Work or any withdrawal of services or labour from the Project.
- Neither the requirement of the Design-Builder to purchase and maintain insurance as described in the Insurance Conditions nor the acceptance of evidence of such insurance by the Authority will, in any manner, limit or qualify the right of the Authority to make a claim and recover insurance proceeds under the insurance policies described in the Insurance Conditions or the liability and obligations otherwise assumed by the Design-Builder under this Agreement.

# SECTION 59 DESIGN-BUILDER'S DISCHARGE OF LIABILITY

- 59.1 The Design-Builder will discharge all liabilities incurred by it, including for labour, equipment, materials or services used or reasonably required for use, in the performance of this Agreement, on or before the date each becomes due. In the case of bona fide disputed payments, the Design-Builder will discharge such liabilities when legally obliged to do so.
- 59.2 The Design-Builder will include as a condition of every Subcontract that the Subcontractor discharge all liabilities incurred by it, including for labour, equipment, materials, supplies or services used or reasonably required for use, in the performance of the Subcontract, on or before the date upon which each becomes due. In the case of bona fide disputed payments, the Design-Builder will discharge such liabilities when legally obliged to do so.
- 59.3 The Design-Builder will furnish the Authority with satisfactory evidence that its liabilities and those of Subcontractors have been discharged, such satisfactory evidence to be a statutory declaration in the form of CCDC 9A sworn by a knowledgeable officer or senior management employee of the Design-Builder or Subcontractor, as the case may be, or such other evidence as the Authority may require.
- With the exception of any claim of builder's lien, builder's liens or certificates of pending litigation that arise due to an improper non-payment by the Authority, the Design-Builder will not directly or indirectly create, incur, assume or allow to be created by any of its Subcontractors or workers any lien, charge or encumbrance on the Site, Project or any part thereof or interest therein. The

Design-Builder will immediately notify the Authority of any lien, charge or encumbrance asserted upon the Site, Project or any part thereof.

# PART J - SECURITY, RECORDS, REPORTS AND AUDIT

# SECTION 60 BONDS

- 60.1 Before commencing the Work, the Design-Builder will purchase and deliver to the Authority an executed performance bond and an executed labour and materials payment bond (the "Bonds"). The form of the Bonds will be in accordance with the latest edition of the CCDC approved bond form or in substantially equivalent form acceptable to the Authority.
- 60.2 Each Bond under Section 60.1 will be in the amount of 50% of the Contract Price and will be issued by a surety licensed to transact the business of a surety in British Columbia and acceptable to the Authority, acting reasonably.
- 60.3 Upon entering into a Subcontract with a Subcontractor, the Design-Builder will advise the Subcontractor that a labour and materials payment Bond is in effect and will supply a copy of that Bond to the Subcontractor on request.
- 60.4 The Design-Builder will pay for and maintain the Bonds in force during the Term.
- 60.5 If the surety notifies either party that the Bonds are or are going to be terminated or cancelled for any reason whatsoever, the Design-Builder will obtain and provide the Authority with valid bonds effective from the date of termination or cancellation of the original bonds that comply with the bonding requirements of this Agreement.
- 60.6 The Design-Builder will, if required by the surety, obtain the written consent of the surety to any Change and will upon request by the Authority provide confirmation from the surety of such consent or confirmation from the surety that such consent is not required.
- 60.7 For greater certainty, the amount of the Bonds and any claim under the Bonds will not limit the Authority from seeking additional claims, damages, or remedies the Authority may be entitled to by reason of the Design-Builder's failure to successfully complete the Agreement in accordance with its terms and conditions.

# SECTION 61 INSURANCE

- 61.1 The Authority and the Design-Builder will obtain and maintain during the Term the insurance specified for each of them under the Insurance Conditions, and will otherwise comply with the Insurance Conditions.
- Before beginning the Work, the Design-Builder will deliver to the Authority certified copies of all insurance coverage obtained by the Design-Builder in accordance with the Insurance Conditions, or such other proof of that insurance as is satisfactory to the Authority, acting reasonably.

# SECTION 62 RECORDS AND AUDIT

- 62.1 The Design-Builder will, in connection with this Agreement retain for a minimum of 6 years after the expiry of the Warranty Period all records, reports, and other documentation required under this Agreement and the following records, reports and other documentation relating to the Project whether or not required under other provisions of this Agreement:
  - (a) all documents relating to permits;
  - (b) all notices, reports, results and certificates relating to completion of the Design and Construction and completion of all commissioning activities;
  - (c) all records relating to any inspections of the Facility conducted under applicable Laws or by or of any governmental authority;
  - (d) all orders or other requirements issued to the Design-Builder by any governmental authority in connection with the Work;
  - (e) all documents relating to applications for payment, Changes or delay or other claims by the Design-Builder.

The Design-Builder will permit the Authority and its consultants and representatives to inspect and copy any or all such records, reports and other documentation.

- 62.2 Without limiting the other provisions of this Agreement, the Design-Builder will provide to the Authority and its consultants and representatives all records, reports and other documentation reasonably required by the Authority to support any applications for payment, Changes or delay or other claims by the Design-Builder.
- 62.3 The Authority and its consultants and representatives may on request, and acting reasonably, audit all books and records of the Design-Builder that relate to any applications for payment, Changes or delay or Disputes or other claims by the Design-Builder.
- 62.4 The Design-Builder will fully cooperate with the Authority to conduct an audit pursuant to this Section 62.

#### **PART K – DISPUTE RESOLUTION**

# SECTION 63 DISPUTE RESOLUTION

- All Disputes will be resolved in accordance with the Dispute resolution process set out in this Section 63.
- 63.2 The Dispute resolution process set out in this Section 63 may be commenced by either party by giving notice to the other party briefly setting out the pertinent facts, the remedy or relief sought and the grounds on which such remedy or relief is sought.

- 63.3 Within 7 days of a notice under Section 63.2, the Design-Builder's Representative and the Authority's Representative will:
  - (a) make bona fide efforts to resolve any Dispute arising between them by amicable negotiations; and
  - (b) provide frank, candid and timely disclosure of all relevant facts, information and documents, including full written particulars of the nature, entitlement and magnitude of any Dispute including the relevant provisions of this Agreement.
- 63.4 If the Authority's Representative and the Design-Builder's Representative fail to resolve the Dispute within 10 days after receipt of the notice pursuant to Section 63.3, the parties will refer the Dispute and all information to a nominated senior officer of the Authority and a nominated senior officer of the Design-Builder for resolution.
- 63.5 If the nominated senior officer of the Authority and the nominated senior officer of the Design-Builder fail to resolve the Dispute within 10 days after the Dispute has been referred to them, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the parties, either party may refer the Dispute to the Authority's Consultant by notice in writing to both the Authority's Consultant and to the other party. The Authority will require the Authority's Consultant to give a decision in writing and within a reasonable period of time. Both parties reserve their rights to dispute the decision of the Authority's Consultant.
- 63.6 Where either or both parties dispute the Authority's Consultant's decision made pursuant to Section 63.5, the parties will abide by the Authority's Consultant's decision until such time as the Dispute is finally resolved under the other provisions of this Section 63.
- 63.7 If either party disputes the Authority's Consultant's decision made pursuant to Section 63.5, or if the Authority's Consultant's decision is not made within a reasonable period of time, either party may elect to give notice of its intention to submit the Dispute to binding arbitration. If within 10 days of such notice the other party does not give a notice of objection to arbitration, the Dispute will be resolved by arbitration. The Dispute will be referred to a single arbitrator and finally resolved by binding arbitration under the rules of the Vancouver International Arbitration Centre. The arbitrator will be chosen by mutual agreement between the Design-Builder and the Authority. If an arbitrator has not been appointed within 14 days of the date that the Dispute has been referred to an arbitrator, the arbitrator will be appointed by the Vancouver International Arbitration Centre.
- 63.8 Prior to receiving a notice of intention to submit a Dispute to binding arbitration or after giving a notice of objection to arbitration in accordance with Section 63.7 a party may commence proceedings in respect of the Dispute in the courts of British Columbia and serve the other party as required in respect of such proceedings.
- Any of the times specified in this Section 63 may be varied by mutual agreement between the Design-Builder's Representative and the Authority's Representative.
- 63.10 Pursuit of the resolution of a Dispute under any part of this Section 63 does not relieve either party of its responsibility to ensure timely performance of its obligations under this Agreement. In relation to all Disputes, whether or not a notice under Section 63.2 has been given, the Design-Builder will diligently proceed with the Work and closely track all costs and impacts associated with the Dispute and may reserve its rights concerning the Dispute.

#### PART L – GENERAL PROVISIONS

# SECTION 64 LAWS, NOTICE, PERMITS AND FEES

- The Design-Builder will perform the Work in accordance with all applicable Laws and Standards and will comply with all Laws and Standards that may affect or relate to the Work.
- 64.2 The Design-Builder will apply for, pay for and obtain the development permit, the building permit, the occupancy permit and all other permits, licences and approvals required for the performance of the Work. When requested to do so by the Design-Builder, the Authority may at its discretion provide reasonable assistance to the Design-Builder in obtaining permits, licences, and approval required for the performance of the Work but, in no circumstance will the Authority be required to incur any costs or make any payments pursuant to this Section.
- 64.3 All applicable Laws in force in British Columbia, as amended from time to time, govern the Work.
- 64.4 Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, if after:
  - (a) the Financial Submission Date a COVID-19 Change in Law comes into effect;
  - (b) the Financial Submission Date an Epidemic Change in Law comes into effect; or
  - (c) the Effective Date a change to applicable Laws or Standards comes into effect

either party will be entitled to make a claim for an adjustment in the Contract Price or the Contract Time as a Change.

# SECTION 65 INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY FEES

65.1 The Design-Builder will obtain and pay for all intellectual property rights (including of any patent, copyright, industrial design, trademark or trade secret) all royalties and licence fees required for the performance of the Work and will, without limiting Section 58, indemnify and hold the Authority harmless from and against all claims, demands, losses, costs, damages, actions, suits or proceedings arising out of the Design-Builder's performance of the Work under this Agreement that are attributable to infringement or an alleged infringement of any intellectual property right by the Design-Builder or its Subcontractors or anyone for whose acts the Design-Builder may be liable.

# SECTION 66 CONFIDENTIALITY AND COMMUNICATIONS

- 66.1 Subject to Section 66.2, each party will hold in confidence any Confidential Information received from the other party, except that this Section 66 will not restrict:
  - (a) the Design-Builder from disclosing or granting access to such information to its professional advisers and consultants, to the extent necessary, to enable it to perform (or to cause to be performed) or to enforce its rights or obligations under this Agreement and provided further that the Design-Builder may, subject to obtaining confidentiality restrictions similar to those set out in this Agreement, provide to a Subcontractor and its

- advisors, or provide or cause to be provided to other third parties, Confidential Information which is necessary to enable the Design-Builder to perform (or to cause to be performed) its obligations under this Agreement; and
- (b) the Authority from disclosing or granting access to such information to any provincial ministry, Infrastructure BC Inc. and any other governmental authority which require the information in relation to the Project;
- 66.2 Subject to any restrictions on the Confidential Information which are imposed by a third party that may own any Confidential Information, the obligation to maintain the confidentiality of the Confidential Information does not apply to:
  - (a) Confidential Information which the party that disclosed the Confidential Information confirms in writing is not required to be treated as Confidential Information;
  - (b) Confidential Information which is or comes into the public domain otherwise than through any disclosure prohibited by this Agreement;
  - (c) Confidential Information to the extent any person is required to disclose such Confidential Information by Law, including a disclosure required under FIPPA;
  - (d) Confidential Information to the extent consistent with any Authority's policy concerning the Authority's Confidential Information, the details of which have been provided to the Design-Builder in writing prior to the disclosure; or
  - (e) the material referred to in Section 18.5 and any Confidential Information that the Authority is entitled to receive from the Design-Builder pursuant to this Agreement.
- 66.3 Without prejudice to any other rights and remedies that the other party may have, each of the parties agrees that damages may not be an adequate remedy for a breach of Section 66.1 and that the other party will, in such case, be entitled to the remedies of injunction, specific performance or other equitable relief for any threatened or actual breach of Section 66.1 subject, in the case of a claim for any such remedy against the Authority, to the provisions of the *Crown Proceeding Act* (British Columbia).
- Unless required by any Law, neither party will make or permit to be made any public announcement or disclosure whether for publication in the press, radio, television or any other medium of any Confidential Information, without the consent of the other party (which will not be unreasonably withheld or delayed).
- Except to the extent required for compliance with any applicable securities laws, the Design-Builder will not make any public announcement relating to the Project or this Agreement without the prior written consent of the Authority. The Design-Builder, with the prior written consent of the Authority, may include the Project in its promotional materials.
- The Design-Builder acknowledges that the Authority may, in its discretion and without consultation with the Design-Builder, make any public announcement relating to the Project.
- 66.7 The parties will comply with Schedule 5 Communication Roles.

# SECTION 67 NOTICE

- Any notice or communication required or permitted to be given under this Agreement will be in writing and will be considered to have been sufficiently given if delivered by hand or transmitted by electronic transmission to the address or electronic mail address of each party set out below:
  - (a) if to the Authority:

Northern Health Authority c/o Infrastructure BC 300-707 Fort Street Victoria, BC V8W 3G3

Attention: Anthony Radman, Project Director Email: anthony.radman@infrastructurebc.com

(b) if to the Design-Builder:

Graham Design Builders LP Suite 110, 115 Quarry Park Road SE Calgary, AB T2C 5G9

Attention: Maciej Paszkowski

Email: <u>Maciej.Paszkowski@graham.ca</u>

or to such other address or electronic mail address as any party may, from time to time, designate in the manner set out above.

- 67.2 Any such notice or communication will be considered to have been received:
  - (a) if delivered by hand during business hours (and in any event, at or before 5:00 pm local time in the place of receipt) on a Business Day, upon receipt by a responsible representative of the receiver, and if not delivered during business hours, upon the commencement of business hours on the next Business Day; and
  - (b) if sent by electronic transmission during business hours (and in any event, at or before 5:00 pm local time in the place of receipt) on a Business Day, upon receipt, and if not delivered during business hours, upon the commencement of business hours on the next Business Day, provided that:
    - (i) the receiving party has, by electronic transmission, by hand delivery or by facsimile transmission, acknowledged to the notifying party that it has received such notice; or
    - (ii) within 24 hours after sending the notice, the notifying party has also sent a copy of such notice to the receiving party by hand delivery or facsimile transmission.
- 67.3 Delivery by mail will not be considered timely notice under this Agreement.

67.4 In the event of an emergency or urgent matter, in addition to the notice required by this Section 67, a verbal notice will be given as soon as the party giving the notice becomes aware of any material event or circumstance that gives rise to the requirement for a written notice being given.

# SECTION 68 LEGAL RELATIONSHIP

- 68.1 The Design-Builder is an independent contractor and not the servant, employee, partner or agent of the Authority.
- 68.2 The Design-Builder will not commit the Authority to the payment of any money to any person.
- No partnership, joint venture or agency involving the Authority is created by this Agreement or under this Agreement.
- All personnel engaged by the Design-Builder to design and construct the Project are at all times the employees or Subcontractors of the Design-Builder and not of the Authority. The Design-Builder is solely responsible for all matters arising out of the relationship of employer and employee.

# SECTION 69 ASSIGNMENT

- 69.1 The Design-Builder will not, without the prior written consent of the Authority, assign, either directly or indirectly, any right or obligation of the Design-Builder under this Agreement.
- 69.2 The Authority may, upon notice to the Design-Builder, assign any or all of its rights or obligations under this Agreement to any other agency or organization that will assume responsibility for the operation of the Facility. Subject to the foregoing and subject to the right of assignment of the licence referred to in Section 18.5, the Authority will not, without the prior written consent of the Design-Builder, assign, either directly or indirectly, any right or obligation of the Authority under this Agreement.

# SECTION 70 INTEREST

70.1 If payment by either party of any amount payable under this Agreement is not made when due, interest will be payable on such amount at 2% per annum over the prime rate, calculated from the date due under this Agreement until paid, compounded monthly. The party to whom payment is owed and overdue will notify the other party at least monthly of the overdue amount and the accrued interest on that amount. The prime rate is the annual rate of interest announced by the Royal Bank of Canada (or its successor), or any other Canadian chartered bank agreed to by the parties, as its "prime" rate then in effect for determining interest rates on Canadian dollar commercial loans made by it in Canada.

# SECTION 71 WAIVER

No waiver by either party of a right of that party or any breach by the other party in the performance of any of its obligations under this Agreement is effective unless it is in writing.

- 71.2 No waiver of any right or obligation is a waiver of any other right or obligation under this Agreement.
- 71.3 Failure or delay to complain of an act or failure of the other party or to declare the other party in default, irrespective of how long the failure or delay continues, does not constitute a waiver by the party of any of its rights against the other party.
- 71.4 The duties and obligations imposed by this Agreement and the rights and remedies available hereunder will be in addition to and not a limitation of any duties, obligations, rights and remedies otherwise imposed or available by Law.

# SECTION 72 ASSUMPTION OF RISK

72.1 Except to the extent expressly allocated to the Authority or otherwise provided for under this Agreement, all risks, costs and expenses in relation to the performance by the Design-Builder of its obligations under this Agreement are allocated to, and accepted by, the Design-Builder as its entire and exclusive responsibility.

# SECTION 73 GENERAL DUTY TO MITIGATE

73.1 In all cases where the Design-Builder is entitled to receive from the Authority any additional compensation or any costs, damages or extensions of time, the Design-Builder will use all reasonable efforts to mitigate such amount required to be paid by the Authority to the Design-Builder under this Agreement, or the length of the extension of time. Upon request from the Authority, the Design-Builder will promptly submit a detailed description, supported by all such documentation as the Authority may reasonably require, of the measures and steps taken by the Design-Builder to mitigate and meet its obligations under this Section 73.

# SECTION 74 OTHER PROVISIONS

- 74.1 The exclusions, waivers and limitations of liability, representations and warranties and indemnities in this Agreement, the provisions of Section 62, Section 63, Section 65, Section 66 and rights accrued prior to completion or termination of this Agreement will survive the completion or termination of this Agreement.
- 74.2 This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties, expressly superseding all prior agreements and communications (both oral and written) between any of the parties hereto with respect to all matters contained herein or therein, and except as stated herein or the instruments and documents to be executed and delivered pursuant hereto, contains all the representations and warranties of the respective parties.
- 74.3 No waiver of any provision of this Agreement and no consent required pursuant to the terms of this Agreement is binding or effective unless it is in writing and signed by the party providing such waiver or consent.
- No failure to exercise, and no delay in exercising, any right or remedy under this Agreement will be deemed to be a waiver of that right or remedy. No waiver of any breach of any provision of this

- Agreement will be deemed to be a waiver of any subsequent breach of that provision or of any similar provision.
- 74.5 This Agreement enures to the benefit of and binds the Authority, its successors and its assigns and the Design-Builder and its successors and permitted assigns.
- 74.6 The parties must do everything reasonably necessary to give effect to the intent of this Agreement, including execution of further instruments.
- 74.7 The Design-Builder and the Authority will take all reasonable and necessary steps to minimize and avoid all costs and impacts arising out of the performance of the Work and this Agreement.
- 74.8 Neither the Authority nor the Design-Builder will take advantage of any apparent discrepancy, ambiguity, error or omission in this Agreement and will notify the other party forthwith following the detection of anything it suspects may be an ambiguity, discrepancy, error or omission.
- 74.9 Each Schedule attached to this Agreement is an integral part of this Agreement as if set out at length in the body of this Agreement.
- 74.10 This Agreement may only be amended by an agreement of the parties in writing. No such amendments will be valid unless executed by the Authority and the Design-Builder.
- 74.11 This Agreement will be deemed to be made pursuant to the Laws of the Province of British Columbia and the Laws of Canada applicable therein and will be governed by and construed in accordance with such Laws.
- 74.12 For the purposes of any legal actions or proceedings brought by any party hereto against the other party, the parties hereby irrevocably submit to the exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of the Province of British Columbia and acknowledge their competence and the convenience and propriety of the venue and agree to be bound by any judgment thereof and not to seek, and hereby waive, review of its merits by the courts of any other jurisdiction.
- 74.13 Where the Design-Builder is a joint venture, partnership or consortium, each member agrees to be jointly and severally liable for the obligations of the Design-Builder.
- 74.14 Time is of the essence of this Agreement.
- 74.15 This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which will be deemed to be an original, and this has the same effect as if the signatures on the counterparts were on a single copy of this Agreement so that it will not be necessary in making proof of this Agreement to produce or account for more than one such counterpart.
- 74.16 A party may deliver an executed copy of this Agreement by facsimile or other electronic means but that party will immediately deliver to the other parties an originally executed copy of this Agreement.

[Signature Pages to Follow]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF the parties have executed this Agreement as of the Effective Date.

**NORTHERN HEALTH AUTHORITY**, by its authorized signatory,

Per:

President and CEO

**GRAHAM DESIGN BUILDERS LP**, by and through its general partner, **GRAHAM DESIGN BUILDERS LTD**., by its authorized signatory,

Per:

Dave Corcoran

Vice President, Construction

Date: April 14, 2022

# SCHEDULE 1

# STATEMENT OF REQUIREMENTS

See separate document.

#### **SCHEDULE 2**

#### REVIEW PROCEDURE

#### 1. SUBMITTAL SCHEDULE

- 1.1 The parties agree that the preliminary schedule for Submittals (the "Submittal Schedule") is included in the Time Schedule that is included in the Proposal Extracts, and that the Submittal Schedule will conform to the requirements identified in Sections 15 and 16 of the Design-Build Agreement. The Submittal Schedule may be amended by agreement of the parties in accordance with the terms of this Section 1. Any amendment to the Submittal Schedule will provide for a progressive and orderly flow of Submittals from the Design-Builder to the Authority as appropriate to allow sufficient time for review of each Submittal by the Authority, taking into account both the resources necessary to be available to the Authority to conduct such review and any user group consultations.
- 1.2 Unless a longer period is required by this Agreement or is otherwise reasonably required by the Authority, the Submittal Schedule will allow a minimum of:
  - (a) 15 Business Days for the Authority's review of Submittals submitted in relation to the Design pursuant to this Schedule, or
  - (b) 10 Business Days for the Authority's review of other Submittals,

from the date of receipt for review of and response to each Submittal, provided that if the Design-Builder has made major changes to the grouping and volume of Submittals, such period of time will be adjusted, acting reasonably, taking into account the factors set forth in this Section 1.

- 1.3 The Design-Builder will in scheduling Submittals and in the performance of the Design and the Construction, allow adequate time prior to performing the Design and the Construction that are the subject of the Submittals, for review of the Submittals and for the Design-Builder to make changes to the Submittals, the Design and the Construction that may be required if comments are received on the Submittals.
- 1.4 If the Submittal Schedule indicates that a large number of Submittals will be made at one time, the Authority may request a longer period for review or a staggering of the Submittals, and the Design-Builder will revise the Submittal Schedule accordingly, taking into account both the availability of resources required by the Authority to conduct such review and whether delay in the review of the subject matter of the Submittal will have a material impact on the Design-Builder's ability to progress future anticipated Submittals and the Design or Construction in accordance with the Time Schedule.
- 1.5 The Design-Builder will submit the Submittal Schedule, including amendments prior to the start of Construction and, subsequently, to the Authority on a monthly basis until Substantial Completion of the Project is achieved.
- 1.6 All amended Submittal Schedules will be required to meet all the requirements of this Section 1.
- 1.7 The Design-Builder will submit all Submittals to the Authority in accordance with the current amended Submittal Schedule.

1.8 The Design-Builder will bear the risk of delays and additional costs caused as a result of the late submission of Submittals to the Authority, by Submittals which are rejected and required to be resubmitted in accordance with the terms of this Schedule 2 – Review Procedure, or by changes in the Design and Construction required as a result of comments made pursuant to this Schedule 2 – Review Procedure.

#### 2. GENERAL REQUIREMENTS FOR SUBMITTALS

- 2.1 Unless otherwise specified by this Agreement or by the Authority, the Design-Builder will issue an electronic copy of each Submittal in .pdf format or other format agreed by the parties acting reasonably. Unless otherwise required by this Agreement or by applicable Law to be signed or sealed at the time the Submittal is first provided to the Authority, upon assignment of the comment "REVIEWED" by the Authority of each Submittal the Design-Builder will issue a paper copy (or an electronically sealed copy if agreed by the Authority) of the Submittal that has been sealed by the Design-Builder's Consultant as required by Section 2.4 below.
- 2.2 The Design-Builder will compile and maintain a Submittal log that includes the date, contents and status of the submission of all Submittals, including the date, contents and status of the submission of all Submittals, including the date of receipt and content of all returned Submittals and comments thereon.
- 2.3 All Submittals will be in English.
- All Submittals, and all amended versions of Submittals, required by this Agreement or by applicable Law to be signed or sealed by persons with professional designations (including where applicable by registered professional architects or engineers) will be so signed and, where applicable, sealed, and will include confirmation by such person or persons that the Work proposed by the Submittal meets the requirements of the Agreement, including the Statement of Requirements.
- 2.5 All Submittals will include all documents to be reviewed and will clearly identify the purpose of the Submittal, the Design-Builder's proposed course of action relating to the Submittal and the Design and the Construction that are the subject of the Submittal.
- 2.6 All Submittals will refer to the relevant provisions of Schedule 1 Statement of Requirements and to any matter that has previously been subject to review. All Submittals will:
  - (a) be clearly identified as a Submittal and will be delivered with appropriate covering documentation, which will include a list of all attached Submittals and for each Submittal the document number(s) or drawing number(s);
  - (b) include revision numbers (if applicable);
  - (c) include document or drawing title(s);
  - (d) include name of entity that prepared the Submittal;
  - (e) include details of the Submittal log showing date and delivery information and/or log number of all previous submissions of that Submittal; identification of any previous Submittal superseded by the current Submittal, and a description of the portions of the Submittal that are the subject of review.

(f) state the purpose of the submittal or portions of the submittal and provide clarification regarding any portions of the submittal that are not intended to be reviewed.

#### 3. COMMENTS

- 3.1 The Authority will review and respond to each Submittal in accordance with the applicable time periods for the Submittal.
- 3.2 The Authority will return Submittals to the Design-Builder and assign one of the following comments:
  - (a) "REVIEWED";
  - (b) "CORRECT DEFICIENCIES";
  - (c) "REJECTED"; or
  - (d) "NOT-REVIEWED".
- 3.3 The comment "REVIEWED" will be assigned to those Submittals that, in the opinion of the Authority, acting reasonably, conform to the requirements of this Agreement. The Design-Builder will comply with and implement such Submittals.
- 3.4 The comment "CORRECT DEFICIENCIES" will be assigned to those Submittals that, in the opinion of the Authority, acting reasonably, generally conform to the requirements of this Agreement, but in which minor deficiencies have been found and identified by the Authority's review. The Design-Builder will, to the extent necessary, correct these Submittals and provide a copy of such Submittals to the Authority before the Design-Builder implements the portions of such Submittals that have received comments, but may proceed on the portions of such Submittals that have not received comments. The Design-Builder will comply with and implement such corrected Submittals. If at any time it is discovered that the Design-Builder has not corrected the deficiencies on Submittals that were correctly stamped "CORRECT DEFICIENCIES", then the Design-Builder will be required to modify the Submittals, the relevant Design and the Construction as required to correct the deficiencies and the Design-Builder may be required, at the Authority's discretion, acting reasonably, to resubmit relevant Submittals.
- 3.5 The comment "REJECTED" will be assigned to those Submittals that, in the opinion of the Authority, acting reasonably, contain significant deficiencies or do not conform with the requirements of this Agreement, including this Schedule 2 Review Procedure. The Design-Builder will correct and re-submit these Submittals within 10 Business Days after the comment has been provided to the Design-Builder. The Authority will then review such corrected Submittals and assign a comment to the corrected Submittal. The Submittals will be corrected, revised and resubmitted as often as may be required to obtain a comment that permits the Design-Builder to proceed. Except with the written consent of the Authority, the Design-Builder will not proceed with any Design or Construction to which such Submittals receiving the comment "REJECTED" relate until the Design-Builder obtains a comment that permits the Design-Builder to proceed.
- 3.6 The comment "NOT-REVIEWED" will be assigned to those Submittals that, in the opinion of the Authority, acting reasonably, are not required to be reviewed pursuant to this Agreement, including this Schedule 2- Review Procedure. The Submittal will be returned to the Design-Builder with no action taken by the Authority.

- 3.7 The Authority may request additional time for the review of any Submittal, including where the Submittal is voluminous or requires extensive review by representatives (including consultants) of the Authority, and the Design-Builder will extend such time for any reasonable requests by the Authority.
- 3.8 If the Authority does not respond to a Submittal within the applicable time periods for the Submittal, the Submittal will be deemed "REVIEWED" and the Design-Builder may proceed with and implement the Design and the Construction on the basis set forth in the applicable Submittal without any further action or documentation required.
- 3.9 Where the Authority issues the comment "CORRECT DEFICIENCIES" or "REJECTED", the Authority will provide reasons for the comment, referencing the particulars of the Section(s) of the Agreement (including the Statement of Requirements) that the Submittal fails to satisfy.
- 3.10 If at any time after assigning any comment to a Submittal or where Section 3.8 of this Schedule has applied, the Authority or the Design-Builder discovers deficiencies or any failure to conform to the requirements of this Agreement, the Authority may revise the comment assigned to any Submittal. If the parties agree or it is determined in accordance with Section 63 (Dispute Resolution) of the Agreement that the revised comment is correct, the Design-Builder will make all such corrections to the Submittals and the Design and the Construction.
- 3.11 For the purpose of facilitating and expediting the review and correction of Submittals, the Authority's Representative and the Design-Builder's Representative will meet as may be mutually agreed to discuss and review any outstanding Submittals and any comments thereon.
- 3.12 In lieu of returning a Submittal, the Authority may by letter notify the Design-Builder of the comment assigned to the Submittal and if such comment is "CORRECT DEFICIENCIES" or "REJECTED" the letter will contain comments in sufficient detail for the Design-Builder to identify the correction sought.

#### 4. USER CONSULTATION PROTOCOL

- 4.1 The Design-Builder acknowledges that review of the Design by the Authority and consultation with the Facility users is an essential step in the completion of the detailed design of the Facility. Accordingly, the Design-Builder will conduct consultations with representatives of the Facility users (the "User Consultation Groups") as described in this Schedule 2 Review Procedure. The Authority will make reasonable efforts, as requested by the Design-Builder, to assist and support the Design-Builder with the consultation process, but nothing in this Section 4 will be interpreted to give the Authority responsibility for the Design, the Design schedule or the user consultation process.
- 4.2 The Authority will establish User Consultation Groups that may include the Authority, the Authority's Representatives, employees, agents, contractors and subcontractors, physicians, nurses, other clinicians, patients, visitors, students and volunteers. The Authority may also from time to time include residents, families and neighbours in the user consultation process.
- 4.3 Unless agreed by the Authority, all aspects of the Design will be subject to review by one or more User Consultation Groups.

- 4.4 The User Consultation Groups will include a User Consultation Group designated as the "Core User Group" with responsibility for coordinating the Design review process with the Design-Builder.
- 4.5 Unless otherwise agreed, Submittals will be provided and reviewed in accordance with the following:
  - (a) Draft Submittal to the Authority:
    - (i) The Design-Builder will provide a draft Submittal as indicated on the Submittal Schedule that includes all relevant material with a covering transmittal indicating the purpose of the Submittal, and the information that should be reviewed by the Authority and the User Consultation Groups.
    - (ii) All changes from a previous Submittal should be clearly indicated in accordance with Section 7 of this Schedule 2 Review Procedure.
  - (b) User Consultation Group:
    - (i) 5 Business Days following the draft Submittal, the Design-Builder will present the relevant material at a meeting of the relevant User Consultation Group(s).
    - (ii) The presentation will be made in person by the Architect or, if the Authority agrees, the Design-Builder's engineer or other subject matter expert.
    - (iii) The Design-Builder's presentation will include a page-by-page review of the draft Submittal.
    - (iv) The Design-Builder must be in attendance, preferably in person but teleconference is acceptable.
    - (v) During the presentation, a representative of the Design-Builder will take "live minutes" so that all parties can agree on the content of the minutes during the meeting. The Design-Builder will circulate the minutes immediately after the meeting to all parties and within 3 Business Days the Design-Builder must circulate formal minutes for review. If the Authority notifies the Design-Builder of any errors in the minutes, the Design-Builder will correct such errors within 3 Business Days of the Authority's notice.
  - (c) Informal Comments from the Authority:
    - (i) The Authority will provide any informal feedback through to the Design-Builder.
    - (ii) The Authority will provide additional informal feedback within one week after the presentation, unless the Authority advises the Design-Builder in writing. The period will not exceed two weeks unless agreed with the Design-Builder.

- (d) Formal Submittal to the Authority:
  - (i) The Design-Builder will make the formal Submittal within 10 Business Days following the presentation (or 5 Business Days after receiving additional informal feedback).
  - (ii) If the Design-Builder does not address the feedback received at the presentation or subsequently provided by the Authority, the Design-Builder will provide commentary on the reasons for not addressing the feedback.
- (e) Formal Response from the Authority:
  - (i) The Authority will respond within 15 Business Days following the formal Submittal in accordance with this Schedule 2 Review Procedure.
- 4.6 The process set out in this Section 4 will be set out in the Submittal Schedule.
- 4.7 The parties acknowledge that Design development is an iterative and interactive process and that additional User Consultation Group review and meetings may be required from those shown on the Submittal Schedule. The parties will co-operate to amend the Submittal Schedule as may be required from time to time to ensure that sufficient consultations with the User Consultation Group in relation to each component of the Design (and changes to the Design resulting from such consultations) are completed prior to the Design-Builder making the formal Submittal.
- 4.8 The Authority and the Design-Builder will not be bound by the consultations with the User Consultation Groups, unless reflected in the formal Submittal and comments from the Authority.
- 4.9 If the Design-Builder considers that compliance with any comment raised by a User Consultation Group member would lead to a Change, the Design-Builder will, before taking into account such comment or objection, notify the Authority. If it is agreed by the Authority that such comments or objections would lead to a Change then the procedure as detailed in Part E- CHANGES of the Design-Build Agreement will apply. In all cases, the parties will cooperate to identify potential alternative solutions to any comments or objections raised that would not lead to a Change.
- 4.10 The User Consultation Group consultation meetings will be held virtually, or in-person at a location designated by the Authority, at a space made available by the Authority.

#### 5. DISPUTES

5.1 If the Design-Builder disputes any comment issued by the Authority in respect of a Submittal, including on the basis that the comment is or would result in a Change, the Design-Builder will promptly notify the Authority of the details of such Dispute and will submit the reasons why the Design-Builder believes a different comment should be assigned, together with appropriate supporting documentation. The Authority will review the Submittal, the reasons and supporting documentation and within 7 Business Days after receipt thereof will either confirm the original comment or notify the Design-Builder of a revised comment. Nothing in this Section 5 will limit either party's right to refer a Dispute for resolution in the first instance to the Authority's Consultant under Section 63 (Dispute Resolution) of the Agreement.

#### 6. EFFECT OF REVIEW

Any review of and comment by the Authority on any Submittals are for general conformity to the obligations and requirements of this Agreement, and any such review and comment will not relieve the Design-Builder of the risk and responsibility for the Design and the Construction and for meeting all of its obligations and requirements of this Agreement, and will not create any new or additional obligations or liabilities for the Authority. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing any and all errors or omissions in Submittals or of any review and comment will not exclude or limit the Design-Builder's obligations or liabilities in respect of the Design or the Construction under this Agreement or exclude or limit the Authority's rights in respect of the Design and the Construction under this Agreement.

#### 7. SUBMITTAL EXPLANATION

7.1 At any time, the Authority may, acting reasonably, require the Design-Builder, including the Design-Builder's Consultant, Subcontractors and any other relevant personnel, at no additional cost to the Authority, to explain to the Authority and the Authority's advisors the intent of the Design-Builder's Submittals, including in relation to any design and any associated documentation and as to its satisfaction of the Statement of Requirements.

#### 8. REVISIONS

- 8.1 The Design-Builder will ensure that Submittals keep the same, unique reference number throughout the review process, and that all subsequent revisions of the same Submittal are identified by a sequential revision number and identified and tracked in the Submittal log. Correspondence related to such Submittal will reference the reference number and revision number.
- 8.2 Re-submittals will clearly show all revisions from the previous Submittal. Bound documents, including reports and manuals, will contain a preface that clearly states how revisions are marked and the previous revision number against which the revisions have been marked and highlighted within the document. A consistent format for mark-ups of documents will be used (e.g. deletions struck out and additions underscored). Revised portions of drawings will be clearly marked (with appropriate means to visually distinguish between the parts of the drawing that are revised and the parts that are not revised) and the revision number and description of the revision will be included on the drawing.
- 8.3 All revisions on print media will be initialed by hand by the individual designer, design checker and, where applicable, by the drafter and the drafting checker and will identify the persons who initialed the Submittal. Electronic versions of the Submittal will identify the persons who initialed the revisions to the printed version of the Submittal.
- 8.4 The Design-Builder will keep all Drawings and Specifications current. If any Drawings and Specifications are revised as part of a Submittal, all other Drawings and Specifications relying on or based on those Drawings and Specifications will also be revised accordingly. All such revised Drawings and Specifications will also be submitted with the Submittal to which it relates.

#### 9. AUDIT BY THE AUTHORITY

9.1 Without limiting any other right under the Agreement, the Authority will have the right to audit all Submittals, including comparing all Submittals to previous Submittals.

9.2 If during an audit or at any other time it is discovered by the Authority or the Design-Builder that any Submittals were not correctly implemented, the Design-Builder will at its sole cost immediately take all necessary steps to correct and modify the applicable Submittals and the Design and Construction to which they relate and will advise the Authority of all such corrections and modifications.

#### **SCHEDULE 3**

#### MANAGEMENT PLANS

#### 1. GENERAL

#### 1.1. Capitalized Terms

Capitalized terms used in this Schedule have the definitions as set out in the Design-Build Agreement (the "**DBA**") to design and build the Facility in Fort St. James, British Columbia between Her Majesty the Queen in right of British Columbia, and the Design-Builder, or as set out in the DBA and its related schedules, as applicable. Unless otherwise provided, references to Section numbers are references to Sections in this Schedule.

#### 2. REQUIREMENTS

The following general requirements are applicable to all management plans listed below unless indicated otherwise:

#### 2.1. Content of Plans

The content of this Schedule 3 (Management Plans) summary of all management plans for which there may be additional drafts and information related to such management plans included in the DBA and any related schedules.

This Schedule is to be read as supplementary to cross-reference the requirements of this Agreement including Schedule 1 [Statement of Requirements] and in accordance with all procedures set out in the DBA.

#### 2.2. Development of Plans

All management plans are to be developed and updated as indicated in the DBA and in accordance with the Schedule 2 [Review Procedure].

#### 2.3. User Engagement and Review Process

User engagement in developing and in reviewing each management plan will be in accordance with Schedule 2 [Review Procedure].

# 2.4. Amending Plans

All management plans can be amended with the Authority's approval through the sequential review process described in Schedule 2 [Review Procedure] and in accordance with the DBA or, if it is determined that a plan cannot be followed for justifiable reasons acceptable to the Authority and it is necessary to make amendments outside the normal usual Review Procedure, the Design-Builder may request consideration of an amendment with supporting reasons.

#### 3. MANAGEMENT PLANS SUMMARY

3.1. The management plans set out in the DBA and its related schedules are as follows:

Plan	Plan Details
Quality Management Plan (DBA and SOR)	The Quality Management Plan (set out in Section 9 of this Agreement) means the plan for quality management including quality control and quality assurance with respect to the Work, a draft of which is included in the Proposal Extracts, together with such changes to the plan that are prepared by the Design-Builder and submitted to the Authority under the Review Procedure and that the Design-Builder is entitled to proceed with under the Review Procedure;
	The Quality Management Plan will:  a) meet all applicable requirements of this Agreement; b) reflect the Design-Builder's organizational chart and demonstrate the integration of the Design-Builder's Consultant with the Design-Builder and its Subcontractors; c) outline the procedures to be implemented to ensure robust and thorough quality control and quality assurance by the Design-Builder and its Subcontractors; d) clearly indicate the processes, testing, certification and auditing that will be performed to verify all parts of the Work comply with this Agreement; e) clearly indicate the timing of the elements of the plan itself and the documentation to demonstrate compliance that will be obtained by the Design-Builder and its Subcontractors and provided to the Authority; f) include all processes, testing, certification, auditing and documentation reasonably required by the Authority's Consultant; and g) ensure that the Work will meet the requirements of this Agreement.
Project Management Plan (DBA) (SOR 2.10.2.1)	The Project Management Plan means the management plan that (i) sets out a high-level work plan to describe the manner in which the Design-Builder will manage the Project, including to address related matters such as traffic management and communications, and (ii) is prepared by or for the Design-Builder and submitted to the Authority.  The Project Management Plan will include, among other things:  a) all Site preparation; b) construction of the Facility, including the requirements and timing for construction and commissioning (including all systems and equipment); c) demolition of Existing Hospital;
	definition of Existing Hospital, d) Site landscaping; e) parking, access and traffic flows, including maintaining adequate vehicle, delivery and pedestrian access; and f) compliance with all requirements of the Agreement.
Health and Safety Plan (DBA)	The Health and Safety Plan means a plan that sets out applicable requirements of this Agreement with respect to health and safety at the Site and that addresses the safety of the Authority, patients and others who may be on the Site or on property in the vicinity of the Site.

Requirements of the Design-Builder will include, but are not limited to:

- a) provide safety fencing and hoarding as necessary to limit access to the Site in accordance with requirements of the Authority;
- b) ensure plan is consistent with and accommodates any requirements of, the Authority's policies regarding safety;
- ensure plan specifically addresses the safety of the Authority, patients, visitors and others who may be on the Site or on property in the vicinity of the Site;
- d) maintain and comply with such plan in all material respects during execution of the Work; and
- e) provide health and safety orientation in accordance with this Health and Safety Plan prior to any person accessing the Site pursuant to the Agreement.

# Commissioning Plan (DBA and SOR)

The Commissioning Plan means a detailed testing and commissioning plan that is consistent with the requirements for testing and commissioning of the Facility as identified in the SOR.

The Commissioning Plan sets out the commissioning activities the Design-Builder intends to carry out to satisfy Section 33 of this Agreement and to achieve Substantial Completion of the Building and Substantial Completion of the Project. Such commissioning activities will include, but are not limited to:

- a) a description of the specific equipment and systems to be tested and commissioned and the associated commissioning requirements, including those to be completed before each of Substantial Completion of the Building and Substantial Completion of the Project;
- b) a schedule, related to the Time Schedule, showing the timing of all testing and commissioning activities; and
- c) supporting documentation, including as appropriate (a) design calculations and/or assumptions; and (b) manufacturer's specifications.

The Design-Builder will retain a qualified independent commissioning agent (acceptable to the Authority, acting reasonably) to test and commission all equipment and systems in the Facility as set out in Section 33 of this Agreement.

# Enhanced Building Enclosure Commissioning (BECx) Plan (SOR 2.8.18.4)

As a minimum, the BECx Plan should include the following sections:

- a) Overview of pre-construction BECx activities, including OPR & BOD
- b) Methodologies for installation and performance verification, identifying the number of occurrences and timing of lab testing, field mock-ups, field testing, and field reviews
- c) Commissioning Management, including roles, responsibilities, communication plans, procedures for design changes or substitutions during construction, as well as BECx timelines and milestones in relation to the project schedule

- d) Construction close-out activities, including requirements related to developing the building enclosure maintenance and renewals plan, record drawings, training, and the BECx Report
- e) Warranty period activities, including procedure for deficiencies, reporting, and maintenance

The BECx Plan is a living document and will be developed starting at schematic design and updated throughout the design process. The BECx Plan will address any early works such as foundations and sub-grade work in sufficient detail prior to starting construction of those components.

The BECx Plan is to be submitted at 60%, 95%, 100%.

#### **SCHEDULE 4**

#### INSURANCE CONDITIONS

Without restricting the generality of the indemnification provisions in Section 58, insurance and coverage will be arranged and paid for as follows:

#### 1. WRAP-UP LIABILITY INSURANCE

- 1.1 The Authority will provide, maintain and pay for one or more Wrap-up Liability Insurance each with a limit of , inclusive per occurrence, and no less than general aggregate for bodily injury, death, and damage to property including loss of use thereof, product/completed operations liability with a limit of aggregate.
- 1.2 This insurance will cover the Authority, Design-Builder & Subcontractors, Architects, Engineers, Consultants and anyone employed by them to perform a part or parts of the Work (includes both Construction and Design services, but excludes all professional services, under this Agreement) but excluding suppliers whose only function is to supply and/or transport products to the project site or security protection persons or organizations providing site protection on or at the insured project. The insurance does not extend to any activities, works, jobs or undertakings of the insureds other than those directly related to the Work of this Agreement. The insurance does not extend to any liability arising in relation to any workforce camp or worker accommodation or any related services.
- 1.3 The insurance will preclude subrogation claims by the insurer against anyone insured hereunder except for claims arising out of the rendering of professional services from any architect, engineer, surveyor, or other professional design consultants.
- 1.4 The insurance will include coverage for:
  - (a) Products or Completed Operations Liability for a period of at least .
  - (b) Blanket Contractual Liability;
  - (c) Cross Liability;
  - (d) Contingent Employer's Liability;
  - (e) Personal Injury Liability;
  - (f) Shoring, Blasting, Excavating, Underpinning, Demolition, Piledriving and Caisson Work, Work Below Ground Surface and Grading, as applicable (details of such work must be reported to insurer);
  - (g) Liability with respect to Non-Owned Licensed Vehicles
  - (h) Broad Form Property Damage;
  - (i) Limited Pollution Liability

- (j) Employees as Additional Insureds;
- (k) Broad Form Tenants Legal Liability
- (l) Operation of Attached Machinery; and
- (m) Forest Fire Fighting Expenses
- 1.5 Any applicable deductibles will not exceed per occurrence except for completed operations, to which a deductible not exceeding will apply.
- This insurance will be maintained continuously from commencement of the Work until Substantial Completion of the Building, plus cover completed operations for a further period of at least

  After Substantial Completion of the Building, at the Authority's option, the same policy may either be extended until Substantial Completion of the Project or the Authority may place and maintain a separate policy from Substantial Completion of the Building until Substantial Completion of the Project, plus cover for completed operations for further period of in relation to Work that is in addition to the Building.
- 1.7 If the Project involves hot roofing work for renovations or existing structures, the Design Builder will take out and maintain in force, or will cause to be taken out and maintained, commercial general liability insurance which will include the following:
  - (a) coverage in an amount not less than inclusive per occurrence and in the aggregate against bodily injury, personal injury and property damage and including liability assumed under this Agreement;
  - (b) include the Authority as an additional insured;
  - (c) be endorsed to provide the Authority with advance written notice of adverse material change or cancellation;
  - (d) include a cross liability clause; and
  - (e) this policy will be treated as primary coverage and the Authority's Wrap-Up Liability Insurance will be treated as excess coverage. This insurance shall be maintained continuously from commencement of hot roofing work until such work is completed.

#### 2. PROFESSIONAL LIABILITY INSURANCE

- 2.1 The Design-Builder or the Design-Builder's Consultant during the term of this Agreement will provide and maintain continuously from the commencement of the Work, until
  - after Substantial Completion of the Project, the following insurance which will be placed with such company or companies and in such form and amounts and with such deductibles as may be acceptable to the Authority:
  - (a) Project Specific Professional Errors and Omissions Liability Insurance, protecting the Design-Builder or the Design-Builder's Consultant, sub-consultant(s) and their

respective servant(s), agent(s) or employee(s) against any loss or damage arising out of the Design under this Agreement. Such insurance will be for the adequate amount acceptable to the Authority and will in any event be not less than

per claim and with a limit of aggregate, such limits to be dedicated specifically to the Project;

- (b) Any applicable deductibles will not exceed
- 2.2 This insurance will be endorsed to provide the Authority with notice of cancellation.

advance written

#### 3. PROPERTY COVERAGE INSURANCE

- 3.1 The Authority will provide, maintain and pay for Course of Construction coverage, against "All Risks" of direct physical loss or damage including flood and earthquake, and will cover all materials, property, structures and equipment purchased for, entering into, or forming part of the Work whilst located anywhere on site during construction, erection, installation and testing, but such coverage will not include coverage for Design-Builder's and Subcontractors' equipment of any description. Such coverage will be maintained until Substantial Completion of the Building. No coverage will be provided for the Work that is in addition to the Building. No coverage will be provided for any workforce camp or worker accommodation.
  - (a) Deductibles, per occurrence, will not exceed the following amounts; if more than one deductible applies, the highest one will apply:
    - (i) For floods,
    - (ii) For water damage and sewer back up,
    - (iii) Design Error, DE5 or equivalent,
      provided however that if the deductible exceeds that specified amount
      the Authority will be responsible for the excess portion of the deductible;
    - (iv) For earthquakes, the greater of or of the total project value insured;
    - (v) For testing and commissioning,
    - (vi) For all other insured perils,
  - (b) Waiting period deductible per occurrence and not exceeding the following amounts to be applied separately from any property deductible:
    - (i) For soft costs, a 1 day waiting period for each month of the project duration subject to a minimum waiting period of forty-five (45) days will apply and a minimum

- 3.2 The coverage will include as a protected entity, each Design-Builder, Subcontractor, Architect or Engineer who is engaged in the Project.
- 3.3 The coverage will contain a waiver of the Authority's rights of subrogation against all protected entities except where a loss is deemed to have been caused by or resulting from any error in design or any other professional error or omission, or manufacturers (not employees of the insured).
- 3.4 The Design-Builder will, at his own expense, take special precaution to prevent fires occurring in or about the Work and will observe, and comply with, all insurance policy warranties and all laws and regulations in force respecting fires.
- 3.5 At the Authority's option, the same policy may apply to both (1) the portion of the Work that is the Building and (2) the remaining Work, or the Authority may place and maintain a separate policy for each of (1) the portion of the Work that is the Building and (2) the remaining Work.

#### 4. AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY INSURANCE

4.1 The Design-Builder will provide, maintain and pay for, and require all Subcontractors to provide, maintain and pay for Automobile Liability Insurance in respect of all owned or leased vehicles, subject to limits of not less than inclusive per occurrence. The insurance will be placed with such company or companies and in such form and deductibles as may be acceptable to Authority.

#### 5. AIRCRAFT AND/OR WATERCRAFT LIABILITY INSURANCE

- 5.1 The Design-Builder will provide, maintain and pay for liability insurance with respect to owned or non-owned aircraft (including unmanned aerial vehicles, uncrewed aerial vehicles or drones) and watercraft if used directly or indirectly in the performance of the Work, subject to limits of not less than inclusive per occurrence for bodily injury, death, and damage to property including loss of use thereof and including Aircraft Passenger Hazard where applicable. The insurance will name the Authority as an additional insured, include a cross liability clause, be endorsed to provide the Authority with advance written notice of cancellation and be placed with such company or companies and in such form and deductibles as may be acceptable to Authority.
- 5.2 The Design-Builder will provide, maintain and pay for marine cargo insurance covering all materials, equipment and other property supplied under or used during the project and which are critical to performance of the Work if such materials, equipment and other property are conveyed by ocean marine transport. The insurance will include the following terms:
  - (a) coverage in an amount not less than the full replacement value of the shipment;
  - (b) coverage for the Design-Builder and all Subcontractors;
  - (c) include the Authority as an additional named insured;
  - (d) subject to the conditions of the Institute Cargo Clauses (All Risks), including war and strikes extensions, and including transit and storage where applicable;

- (e) if an entire vessel is chartered for shipping materials, equipment or property then charterer's liability insurance will also be provided in amounts sufficient to protect and indemnify the Authority, Design-Builder and all Subcontractors from and against all liability arising out of the chartering of such vessel; and
- (f) a deductible not exceeding per occurrence;

#### 6. CONTRACTORS POLLUTION LIABILITY INSURANCE

- 6.1 When applicable (hazardous materials and/or asbestos abatement work), the Design-Builder (or Design-Builder's Subcontractors) will require all Subcontractors to provide, maintain and pay for:
  - (a) Contractors Pollution Liability insurance, where the Design-Builder's performance (or Design-Builder's Subcontractor's performance) of the work is associated with hazardous materials clean up, removal and/or containment, transit or disposal. This insurance must have a limit of liability not less than inclusive per occurrence insuring against bodily injury, death, and damage to property including loss of use thereof.

Any insurance required under this Section 6 must name the Authority as an additional insured but only with respect to liability arising out of the Design-Builder's performance of the Work. Such insurance shall not be impaired by any time element limitations, biological contaminants (without limitation, mould and bacteria), asbestos, or lead-based paint exclusions. Any "Insured versus Insured" exclusion shall not prejudice coverage for the Authority and shall not affect the Authority's ability to bring suit against the Design-Builder as a third party.

- 6.2 Any insurance required under this Section 6 must be endorsed to provide the Authority with 30 days' advance written notice of cancellation. If any such insurance is provided on a claimsmade basis and that insurance is cancelled or not renewed, such policy must provide a 24 month extended reporting period.
- 6.3 The Design-Builder must cause all Subcontractors to provide to the Authority a Certificate of Insurance confirming all policies and endorsements necessary to comply with the insurance requirements outlined herein, or upon request, a certified copy of the required insurance policy.

#### 7. COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY INSURANCE

- 7.1 The following coverage is only required during the period that the Wrap Up Liability Insurance is not in force under Section 1, Wrap-Up Liability Insurance. The Design Builder will take out and maintain in force, or will cause to be taken out and maintained, commercial general liability insurance which will include the following:
  - (a) Commercial General liability insurance in an amount not less than inclusive per occurrence and in the aggregate against bodily injury, personal injury and property damage and including liability assumed under this Agreement. This insurance must:

- (i) include the Authority as an additional insured;
- (ii) be endorsed to provide the Authority with material change or cancellation; and

advance written notice of adverse

(iii) include a cross liability clause.

#### 8. HCPP PROPERTY COVERAGE

- 8.1 From commencement of the Work until Substantial Completion of the Building, the Authority may take out and maintain in force, or may cause to be taken out and maintained in force, under the Health Care Protection Program (the "HCPP"), insurance covering medical, diagnostic and imaging equipment purchased for, entering into and forming part of the Work, that is not otherwise covered by the construction property policy, and such policy:
  - (a) will be made available to the Design-Builder by HCPP and HCPP's obligations under such policy will be supported by an indemnity from the Province of British Columbia in favour of HCPP;
  - (b) will provide insurance coverage comparable to or better than the coverage required for such equipment under the Property Coverage Insurance as described in Section 3 of this Schedule;
  - (c) will satisfy the requirements set out in Section 9 of this Schedule; and
  - (d) will be on terms comparable to or better than those offered by insurers licensed in British Columbia.

#### 9. **GENERAL**

- 9.1 The description of the Authority arranged insurance described herein is provided on a summary basis only and is not a statement of the actual policy terms and conditions. The Authority does not represent or warrant that the Authority arranged insurance contains insurance for any and all losses. It is the Design-Builder's responsibility to ascertain the exact nature and extent of coverage provided by the Authority arranged insurance, to review all policies pertaining thereto and to obtain any other insurance that it may be prudent for the Design-Builder to obtain.
- 9.2 The Design-Builder will also provide, maintain and pay for any other insurance that the Design-Builder is required by law to carry, or which the Design-Builder considers necessary.
- 9.3 Unless specified otherwise, the duration of each coverage and insurance policy will be from the date of commencement of the Work until the date of final certificate for payment.
- 9.4 The Authority will, upon request, provide the Design-Builder with proof of insurance of those coverages and insurances required to be provided by the Authority prior to commencement of the Work and subsequent certified copy of policies within a reasonable time period thereafter.
- 9.5 The Design-Builder and/or its Subcontractors, the Design-Builder's Consultants and subconsultants as may be applicable, will be responsible for any deductible amounts under the policies of coverage and insurance except for perils of flood and earthquake.

- 9.6 The Design-Builder will provide the Authority with proof of insurance for those insurances required to be provided by the Design-Builder (or Design-Builder's Consultant) prior to the commencement of the Work in the form of a completed Certificate of Insurance and will also provide a certified copy of any required policies upon request.
- 9.7 The Authority will not be responsible for injury to the Design-Builder's employees or for loss or damage to the Design-Builder's or to the Design-Builder's employees' machinery, equipment, tools or supplies which may be temporarily used or stored in, on or about the premises during construction and which may, from time to time, or at the termination of this Agreement, be removed from the premises. The Design-Builder hereby waives all rights of recourse against the Authority with regard to damage to the Design-Builder's property.
- 9.8 If the Design-Builder fails to provide, maintain and pay for insurance as required by this Schedule, other than automobile liability insurance, the Authority may obtain and pay for the required insurance, the cost of which will be payable on demand by the Design-Builder. The Authority may offset such amounts from any monies due to the Design-Builder if not paid within 15 days.

#### **SCHEDULE 5**

#### **COMMUNICATION ROLES**

The Authority and the Design-Builder will share responsibilities for communications, including community relations, stakeholder consultation, media relations and emergency communications on the terms set out in this Schedule.

#### 1. GENERAL

- 1.1 The Design-Builder will be guided by the Authority's best practices regarding communications. Unless otherwise specified by the Authority, the governing document relating to best practices will be the disclosure guidance document entitled "Procurement Related Disclosure for Major Infrastructure Projects" posted at www.infrastructurebc.com.
- 1.2 The Design-Builder will consult and cooperate with the Authority regarding communications activities relating to the Project.
- 1.3 The desired outcome of communications activities is to inform and involve the public and other stakeholders about the progress, value and benefits of the Project and to develop and maintain support for the Project.
- 1.4 Communications strategies and plans involving the interests of both parties are to be prepared on a joint basis, with one party taking a lead role and the other a supporting role, as described in this Schedule.
- 1.5 Where communications strategies and plans involve the interests of both parties, each party will give the other a reasonable opportunity (taking into account the need for timely communications) to consider communications strategies and plans initiated by the other and, if information is supplied by a party, it should include or be accompanied by sufficient explanatory or other material to enable the information to be properly considered.
- 1.6 The Design-Builder will consider and, acting reasonably, take into account, public and other stakeholder input in regard to its plans for the Design and Construction.
- 1.7 This Schedule is a guideline and may be amended by mutual agreement. Non-compliance with this Schedule by either party will not constitute a breach of this Agreement.
- 1.8 No communication regarding the subject matter of a Dispute, including one resolved under Section 63 (Dispute Resolution) of the Agreement, will be made without the prior written consent of the Authority or the Design-Builder, as the case may be, unless otherwise ordered under the Dispute resolution procedure.
- 1.9 The Design-Builder acknowledges that FIPPA applies to the Authority, that nothing in this Schedule limits any requirements for compliance with FIPPA and that the Authority may be required to make disclosure of information under FIPPA.
- 1.10 The Design-Builder acknowledges that the Authority will be free to disclose (including on Websites) this Agreement and any and all terms hereof, except for those portions that would not be required to be disclosed under FIPPA. The Authority will consult with the Design-Builder prior to such disclosure.

1.11 Except for Section 1.10, this Schedule is subject to the parties' obligations in respect of Confidential Information pursuant to Section 66 of this Agreement.

#### 2. CATEGORIES OF COMMUNICATIONS

The following categories of communications are covered by this Schedule and each category applies during the Construction period:

- (a) <u>Communications Planning:</u> the Design-Builder will be provided with a copy of parts of the Project Communications Plan prepared by the Authority and applicable to this Project and will support the implementation of the strategies and activities listed in it;
- (b) <u>Community Relations:</u> keeping all key audiences including external and internal Project stakeholders (as identified in communications plans) informed, including providing overall Project information, including information about schedule, design, construction (including traffic management), facilities management and other services, using any and all appropriate communications tools and tactics;
- (c) <u>Consultation:</u> engaging in discussions with Project stakeholders;
- (d) <u>Media Relations:</u> providing media with Project updates and responding to issues raised by the media; and
- (e) <u>Emergency Communications:</u> preparing and implementing crisis communications planning and preparedness.

#### 3. LEAD AND SUPPORTING ROLES

- 3.1 Within each category of communications set out in Section 2 of this Schedule, the Design-Builder will play either a lead or supporting role, working with the Authority to achieve the desired communications outcomes.
- 3.2 For all categories of communication, and whether communication occurs as part of a lead or supporting role, no advertising that involves payment, by the Design-Builder, to a third party may include the Authority or the Project unless the Design-Builder obtains the prior consent of the Authority, not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed.

#### 4. LEAD RESPONSIBILITIES

The following is an overview of the responsibilities associated with lead roles:

- (a) developing an overall strategic communications plan for the Project, that includes plans for communications, community relations, consultation, media relations and emergency communications;
- (b) having regard for the input of the supporting party, approving communication plans and tactics in response to specific circumstances, unless otherwise indicated in this Schedule;
- (c) implementing its role in approved plans;
- (d) achieving the outcomes set out in the strategic communication plan;

- (e) maintaining constructive and positive relationships with the public and other stakeholders;
- (f) providing information, as required by the supporting party and its team members, to support communication and consultation activities;
- (g) as relevant to its lead role, organizing, attending and participating in community and other stakeholder consultation meetings and carrying out other communication activities to consult with and report back to the community and other stakeholders, including open houses, information updates, public displays, advertising, website creation, maintenance updates, construction notices, milestone celebration events, news releases and tours, and directing inquiries to the supporting party as appropriate;
- (h) assuming responsibility for costs related to carrying out lead responsibilities to a standard acceptable to the Authority, in the amounts and in the manner approved by the Authority;
- (i) monitoring whether the Design and Construction are conducted in a manner consistent with strategic communication plans and advising the parties of any material inconsistency; and
- (j) having a trained media relations spokesperson available 24/7 to respond to media requests.

#### 5. SUPPORTING RESPONSIBILITIES

The following is an overview of the responsibilities associated with supporting roles:

- (a) assisting with the implementation of plans, including drafting of other communication documents, as directed by the lead party;
- (b) implementing its role in approved plans;
- (c) maintaining constructive and positive relationships with the public and other stakeholders;
- (d) providing information, as required by the lead party and its team members, to support communication and consultation activities;
- (e) as relevant to its supporting role, organizing, attending and participating in community and other stakeholder consultation meetings and carrying out other communication activities to consult with and report back to the community and other stakeholders, including open houses, information updates, public displays, advertising, website creation, maintenance updates, construction notices, milestone celebration events, news releases and tours, and directing inquiries to the lead party as appropriate;
- (f) assuming responsibility for costs related to carrying out supporting responsibilities to a standard acceptable to the Authority, in amounts and in a manner approved by the Authority; and
- (g) having a local, trained media relations spokesperson available 24/7 to respond to media requests.

#### 6. ALLOCATION OF LEAD AND SUPPORTING ROLES

The lead and supporting roles will be allocated as set out in the following table, unless otherwise required by the Authority in consultation with the Design-Builder:

CATEGORY	LEAD	SUPPORTING
Communications Planning	Authority	Design-Builder
Community Relations	Authority	Design-Builder
Consultation	Authority	Design-Builder
Media Relations	Authority	Design-Builder
Emergency Communications Relating to existing Authority employees, programs, services and facilities; and Design-Builder performance	Authority	Design-Builder
Emergency Communications related to Design-Builder Site health and safety	Design-Builder	Authority
Construction	Authority	Design-Builder
Moves	Authority	Design-Builder
Traffic	Authority	Design-Builder
Noise	Authority	Design-Builder

## 7. AUTHORITY RIGHT TO STEP IN AT DESIGN-BUILDER'S COST

If the Design-Builder is required to take a lead role but fails to comply with its obligations under this Schedule in any material respect, the Authority may give reasonable notice to the Design-Builder that it intends to undertake and assume the lead role obligations of the Design-Builder, at the expense of the Design-Builder, including all direct costs of engaging third party assistance with communication responsibilities and all direct costs of the Authority in connection with fulfilling the Design-Builder's obligations under this Schedule.

# **KEY INDIVIDUALS**

<u>Individual's</u> <u>Name</u>	Company Name	Role	<u>Duties</u>
	Graham Design Builders LP	Design-Build Director	Represents the Design- Builder and has overall responsibility to design and build the Project.
	Graham Design Builders LP	Design-Build Design Manager	Representative in charge of oversight of the design-build design team including managing design quality
	Graham Design Builders LP	Design-Build Construction Manager	Responsible for leading the construction of the Project, and conducting constructability review through the Project's design development process.
	ZGF Architects Inc.	Lead Architect	Responsible for leading the design of the Project.
	The AME Consulting Group Ltd.	Mechanical Design Engineer Lead	Responsible for leading the mechanical design of the Project.
	SMP Engineering	Electrical Design Engineer Lead	Responsible for leading the electrical design of the Project.
	Bush, Bohlman & Partners LLP	Structural Design Engineer Lead	Responsible for leading the structural design of the Project.
	SMP Engineering	Communication Information Technology (IT) Lead	Responsible for the deployment of Information Technology (IT) and communications infrastructure through design, construction,

equipment fit out and commissioning and integration with other systems.

Morrison Hershfield **Building Envelope Specialist** 

Responsible for design and construction reviews of the building elements providing environmental separation as outlined in this Agreement, including Schedule 1 [Statement of Requirements].

## **SCHEDULE OF PRICES**

The Contract Price represents the entire compensation to the Design-Builder by the Authority for any and all costs related to the Work, including but not limited to all fees, cash allowances, contingencies and all duties and taxes, excluding GST payable by the Authority to the Design-Builder.

The attached schedule is a breakdown of the Contract Price solely for the purpose of assisting the parties to develop the Schedule of Values, and will not be used or relied upon by the Design-Builder for any purpose.

#### Form A2 Breakdown of Contract Price

Table 1: Breakdown of Contract Price The Proponent is to add or delete columns as needed
 Values are to be rounded to the nearest dollar COSTS HARD COSTS
DIVISION 1 - GENERAL REQUIREMENTS
Mobi zation
Project Staff Design
Project Staff Design
Project Staff Construction
Site Location Staff Wage Up it in Line 14
Live Out Allowance and Vehicles in Line
Domestic Flights in Line 14
Project Overheads
Construction Equipment
Testing
General Requirements
Live Out Allowance and Vehicles
Domestic Flights
Mockups [Institut mockups in cost of work] Domestic Flights
Mockups (Institut mockups in cost of work)
Demobilization
Pursuit Cost
Bonding and Security
Insurance
Fee
Winter Conditions Fee
Writer Conditions
DIVISION 2 - EXISTING CONDITIONS
EXISTING CONDITIONS
EXISTING CONDITIONS
EXISTING CONDITIONS
EXISTING CONDITIONS
EXISTING CONCRETE
Concrete General Conditions and Subcontractor Risk
Formwork
Footings
Foundation Walls and Gradebeams
Core Walls
Suspended Slab
Stairs
Miscellaneous Concrete
Reinforcing
Foundation Walls and Gradebeams
Core Walls
Stairs
Miscellaneous Concrete
Reinforcing
Foundation Walls and Gradebeams
Core Walls
Stairs
Miscellaneous Concrete
Reinforcing
Foundation Walls and Gradebeams
Core Walls
Stairs
Miscellaneous Concrete
Suspended Slab
Stairs
Miscellaneous Concrete
Miscellaneous Concrete
Miscellaneous Concrete
Colomes
Miscellaneous Concrete
Concrete Supply and Place
Footings Stalars

Miscellaneous Concrete
Concrete Supply and Place
Footings
Foundation Walls and Gradebeams
Core Walls
Columns
Slab on Grade
Suspended Slab
Stair Infill
Miscellaneous Concrete
Concrete Accessories
Hardeners and Sealers
Miscellaneous Concrete Accessories
DIVISION 4 - MASONRY
Masonry
DIVISION 5 - METALS
Structural Steel
Structural Steel
Miscellaneous Metals
Miscellaneous Matals Structural Steel
Metal Deck
Metal Deck
Miscellaneous Metals
Stairs and Railings
Access ladders
O/H door supports
Roof top equipment screens
Elevator steels support
Metal Fabrications
DIVISION'S - WOODS, PLASTICS AND COMPOSITES
Roogh Carpentry
Backing and blocking
Barapet blocking sheething
Millwork/Finish Carpentry
Millwork/Finish Carpentry
Millwork
DIVISION'S - THERMAL AND MOISTURE PROTECTION
Waterproofing and damproofing
Fire stopping
Insulation
Cladding
Architectural Louves
Metal Cladding
Architectural Louves
Metal Cladding
Metal Cladding
Architectural Louves
Metal Cladding
Metal Cladding
Metal Cladding
Insulation
Metal Soffits
Roofing
S85 roofing
Joint Sealants
DIVISION 8 - OPENINGS
DOORS and Frames
Metal Cladding
Architectural Louves
Metal Cladding
Architectural Louves
Metal Cladding
Architectural Louves
Metal

Cellings CWB Cellings Wood February Wood February Committed February February Committed February February Committed February February Committed Fe	Interior	
Resilient Epony Floor Preparation and Protestion Wall restment Painting and Wall Coverings Accusite Treatment DIVISION 10 - SPECIALTES Wall Protection Wall record of Wall Coverings Accusite Treatment DIVISION 10 - SPECIALTES Wall Protection Wall record of Wall Coverings Accusite Treatment DIVISION 10 - SPECIALTES Wall Protection Wall record of Wall Coverings Wall Protection Wall record of Wall Great Wall Coverings General Office of Wall Coverings General Coverings Wall Protection Wall Coverings Wall Record of Wall Specialties Curtains and Wall Specialties Curtains and Wall Specialties Curtains and Tracks Frieglaces Wall Boose OPPOSISON 11 - EQUIPMENT Food Services / Kitchen Equipment Earn Lights Loading dock Fall Arrest System Loading Gook Fall Arrest Syst		
Resilient  Epony  Resilient  Epony  Roor Preparation and Protection  Wall treatment  Painting and Wall Coverings  Acoust C Treatment  DIVISION 30 - SPECIALTIS  Washiroon Accessories  Washiroon Accessories  Seringe and Mail Specialties  Cutralise and Tracks  Fireplaces  Storage and Mail Specialties  Cutralise and Tracks  Fireplaces  Mail Boxes  DIVISION 11 - EQUIPMENT  Food Services / Store Equipment  Exam tights  Loading Seck  Fireplaces  Mail Boxes  DIVISION 11 - EQUIPMENT  Food Services / Store Equipment  Exam tights  Loading Seck  Fall Arrest System  Laundry Equipment  Action Visual Equipment  Action Visual Equipment  Patient Lifts  Wall Cover System  Loading Seck  Fall Arrest System  Loading Seck  Trail Arrest System  Loading Seck  Wall Seck  Fall Arrest System  Loading Seck  Wall Seck  Fall Arrest System  Loading Seck  Trail Arrest System  Loading Seck  Fall Arrest System  Loading Seck  Fall Arrest System  Loading Seck  Trail Arrest System  Loading Seck  Trail Arrest System  Loading Seck  Fall Arrest System  Loading Seck  Trail Arrest System  Loading Seck  Loading S		
Epony Mail treatment Piscor Preparation and Protection Wall treatment Painting and Wall Coverings Accustic Treatment Washroom Accessories Washroom Accessories Washroom Accessories Washroom Accessories Washroom Accessories Gegrage and Wayfinding Operately-floding partitions Cockers Storage and Mail Specialties Cuctaries and Tradsa Fireplaces Mail Boxes ONISSON 11 - EQUIPMENT Food Services / Schoten Equipment Exam tights Loading dock Fall Arrest System Laundry Equipment Pathers Headwalls Patient Lifts Morgan Crypt Institut Crypt Institut Cover Special Equipment Pathers Headwalls Patient Lifts Morgan Crypt Window Blinds / Films Food Services / Schoten Vision State Accessories  Division 12 - Full Minister Window Blinds / Films Food Mail and Fames Lib Casework Division 12 - Full Painting Window Blinds / Films Food Mail and Fames Lib Casework Division 12 - Equipment Fire Protection Subtrade Fire Protection Subtrad		
Mount   Teachment		
Wall treatment  PostSON 10 - SPECIATES  Washroom Accessories  Scorage and Wash Specialties  Curatians and Tracits  Fireplaces  Mall Boxes  DWISSON 13 - EQUIMMENT  Food Services / Schoten Equipment  Earn Lights  Louding dock  Fall Arrest System  Louding book  Fall Arrest System  Louding State  Louding State  Louding State  Fall Arrest System  Louding State  Louding State  Louding State  Louding State  Fall Arrest System  Louding State  Loudin		
Acoustic Freatment WORSON 10 - SPECIATES Wall Protection Wall	Wall treatment	
DIVISION DIA - SPECIANTES Washroom Accessories Siguege and Wayfinding Operately-floiding partitions Lockers Storage and Mail Specialities Curtains and Tracks Frieplaces Mail Broses Divisionity of the Storage and Mail Specialities Curtains and Tracks Frieplaces Mail Broses Divisionity of the Storage and Mail Specialities Curtains and Tracks Frieplaces Mail Broses Divisionity of the Storage and Mail Specialities Curtains and Storage and Mail Specialities Curtains and Storage and Mail Specialities Carding dock Fail Arrest System Loading Storage Fail Arrest System Loading Storage Loading Storage Track System Fail Arrest System Fail Arrest System Loading Storage Track System Fail Arrest Fail Arrest Fail Fail Arrest Fail Arrest Fail Fail Arrest Fail Arrest Fail Fail Arrest Fa		
Washroom Accessories  Signage and Wayfinding Operable/folding partitions Lockers Storage and Mail Specialities Curtains and Tracks Frieglaces Wall Boxes OMDISSON 11 - CRUIMENT Food Services / Kitchen Equipment Earn Lights Loading dock Fall Boxes Doubling dock Fall Arrest System Loading dock Fall Arrest System Loading dock Fall Arrest System Loading Wast Equipment Loading Vaguipment Audio Visual Equipment House of Visual Equipment		
Signage and Wayfinding Operated Foliation partitions Lockers Storage and Mail Specialties Curtans and Tacks Fireplaces Mail Boxes DIVISION 11 - EQUIPMENT FOOG Services / Sichthen Equipment Exam tights Louding dock Fall Arrest System Louding tequipment Audio Visual Equipment Audio Visual Equipment Audio Visual Equipment Fall Arrest System Louding tequipment Audio Visual Equipment Fall Arrest System Louding tequipment Audio Visual Equipment Window Binist Grims Fore Mail Tares Horges Crypt Finistial Owner Sopiled Contractor Installed Equipment DIVISION 27 - FURNISHINGS Systems Furniture Window Binist / Finiss Fore Mail and Fanse Lold Casework DIVISION 27 - SURNISHINGS Systems Furniture  Window Binist / Finiss Fore Mail and Fall Arrest Lold Casework DIVISION 27 - SURNISHINGS Spring Fore Mail Arrest Lold Casework DIVISION 27 - SURNISHINGS Spring Fore Mail Arrest Lold Casework DIVISION 27 - SURNISHINGS Spring Fore Mail Arrest Lold Casework DIVISION 27 - SURNISHINGS Spring Fore Mail Arrest Lold Casework DIVISION 27 - SURNISHINGS Spring Fore Mail Arrest Lold Casework DIVISION 27 - SURNISHINGS Spring Fore Mail Arrest Lold Casework DIVISION 27 - SURNISHINGS Spring Fore Mail Arrest Lold Casework DIVISION 27 - SURNISHINGS Spring Fore Mail Arrest Lold Casework DIVISION 27 - SURNISHINGS Spring Fore Mail Arrest Lold Casework DIVISION 28 - SURNISHINGS Spring Fore Mail Arrest Lold Casework DIVISION 28 - SURNISHINGS Lold Casework DI		
Operable/folding partitions Lockers Storage and Mail Specialities Circipiaces Mail Boxes  University (Street Equipment Exam lights Loading dock Farm lights		
Storage and Mail Specialities  (victatians and Tracks Fireplaces Mail Boxes  Mail Boxes  Mortiscon 11 - EQUIPMENT  Food Services / Richen Equipment Exam Lights Loading dock  Fall Arrest System Laundry Equipment Patient Headwalls  Valued System Equipment Patient Headwalls  Valued System Equipment Patient Headwalls  Valued System Equipment  Patient Headwalls  Valued System Equipment  Manually System Equipment  Patient Headwalls  Valued System Equipment  Patient Headwalls  Valued System Equipment  Patient Headwalls  Valued System Equipment  Mortiscon E	Operable/folding partitions	
Curtains and Tracks Fréepieces Mail Boxes DIVISION 11- EQUIPMENT Food Services / Eitchen Equipment Eam lights Louding dock Fall Arrest System Louding Louding Fall Fall Fall Fall Fall Fall Fall Fal		
Mail Boxes  DIVISION 11 - EQUIPMENT Food Services / Kitchen Equipment Exam Lights  Loading dock Fail Arrest System  Laundry Equipment  Audio Visual Equipment  Audio Visual Equipment  Patient Lifts Morgue Crypt Install Owner Supplied Contractor Installed Equipment  DIVISION 12 - FURNISHINGS  Yestems Furniture  Window Blinds / Films  Floor Mats and Frames Lab Casework  DIVISION 21 - SAMECHANICAL  General Conditions  Sartrup/Fermits/Mobilization  Designy/Bill Conditions  Sartrup/Fermits/Mobilization  Designy/Bill Conditions  Sartrup/Fermits/Mobilization  Designy/Bill Conditions  Fire Protection sub-trade  Fire Protection sub-trade  Fire Protection Sub-trade  Fire Protection Sub-trade  Controls Subtrade  Insulation Subtrade  Air Handling Unit And ERV's  Chillers and Cool ing Tower  Fistures Halbour  Natural Gas Pipe Material  Natural Gas Pipe Material  Pateriure Subour  Natural Gas Pipe Material  Pumbing Above Ground Halbour  Chemical Cleaning & Water Treatment  Manuals  Close Out (Start-ups Commissioning & Training)  Bioliers  Domestic Water Tanks  Radiant Floor Materials  Padiant Floor Materials  Padiant Floor Materials  Radiant Floor Materials  Badiant Floor Materials  Burbing of Materials  Budding and Emergency Lighting thorterior Subdivision  Designy/Bill Control Material  Budding and Emergency Lighting Material  Budding and Emergency Lig		
DIVISION 11 - EQUIPMENT Food Services / Kitchen Equipment Ford Mars and Frames Labor Casework Ford Services / Kitchen Equipment Ford Mars and Frames Labor Casework Ford Services / Kitchen Equipment Ford Mars and Frames Labor Casework Ford Services / Kitchen Equipment Ford Servi		
Food Services / Kitchen Equipment Exam Lights Loading dock Fall Arrest System Laundry Equipment Audio Visual Equipment Britant More Visual Equipment Morgue Crypt Install Owner Supplied Contractor Installed Equipment Install Owner Supplied Contractor Installed Equipment Install Owner Supplied Contractor Installed Equipment Invited Ministry (Visual Equipmen		
Loading dock Fail Arrest System Laundry Equipment Audio Visual Equipment Audio Visual Equipment Audio Visual Equipment Audio Visual Equipment Patrient Hadawalis Patient Lifts Morgue Crypt Inistal Owner Supplied Contractor Installed Equipment DIVISION 12 - FURNISHINGS Systems Furnistrue Window Blinds / Films Flora Mats and Frames Lab Casework DIVISION 21 - SUNCHAINCAL General Conditions Service Elevators DIVISION 21 - SUNCHAINCAL General Conditions Startup/Permits/Mobilization Design/Bill Coordination Fire Protection Sub-trade Fire Pumpin Line 150 HVAC Sub-Trade Controls Subtrade Larrest Art Handling Unit And ERV's Chibitand Air Handling Unit And ERV's Chibitand Fire Protection Sub-trade Fire Pumpin Line 150 HVAC Sub-Trade John Control Subtrade Larrest Material Fixtures Labour Phiping Underground Labour Phiping Undergrou	Food Services / Kitchen Equipment	
Fall Arrest System Laundry Equipment Auduol Visual Equipment Patient Headwalls Patie		
Audio Visual Equipment Patient Hedwalls Patient Lifts Morgue Crypt Install Owner Supplied Contractor Installed Equipment DIVISION 12 - FURNISHINGS Systems Furniture Window Blinds / Films Floor Mats and Frames Lab Casework Block Sework DIVISION 14 - CONVEYING EQUIPMENT Service Elevators DIVISION 14 - CONVEYING EQUIPMENT Service Elevators DIVISION 15 - CONVEYING EQUIPMENT SERVICE PROVIDE TO THE SERVICE SERVIC		
Patient Headwalls Patient Lifes Morgue Crypt Install Owner Supplied Contractor Installed Equipment Morgue Crypt Morsion 12 - Patient Lifes Systems Furniture Window Blinds / Films Floor Mats and Frames Lab Casework WINSION 13 - CONVETING EQUIPMENT Service Elevators DWISION 13 - CONVETING EQUIPMENT Service Elevators DWISION 13 - SEMECHANICAL General Conditions Startup/Permits/Mobilitation Design/BM Condribation Fire Protection Sub-trade Fire Protection Sub-trade Fire Pump in Lime 150 HYAC Sub-Trade Control's Subtrade Installation Subtrade Install		
Morgue Crypt Initiatal Conner Supplied Contractor Installed Equipment DIVISION 12 - FURNISHINGS Systems Furnisture Window Blinds / Firms Floor Mats and Frames Lab Casework DIVISION 14 - CONVEYING EQUIPMENT Service Elevators DIVISION 14 - CONVEYING EQUIPMENT Service Elevators DIVISION 14 - CONVEYING EQUIPMENT Service Elevators DIVISION 12 - SMCKHANICAL General Conditions Satrup/Permits/Mobilization Design/SIM Coordination Fire Protection Sub-trade Fire Pump in Lime 160 HYAC 50b-Trade Controls Subtrade Iniculation Inicula		
Install Owner Supplied Contractor installed Equipment DIVISION 12 - FURNISHINGS Systems Furniture Window Blinds / Films Floro Mats and Farmes Lab Casework DIVISION 21 - SE MECHANICAL General Conditions Survival Permits (Mobilization Design/Blith Coordination Fire Protection Subtrade Fire Pump In Line 150 HYLAC Sub-Trade Controls Subtrade Fire Pump In Line 150 HYLAC Sub-Trade Controls Subtrade Fire Pump In Line 150 HYLAC Sub-Trade Controls Subtrade Fire Pump In Line 150 HYLAC Sub-Trade Controls Subtrade Fire Pump In Line 150 HYLAC Sub-Trade Controls Subtrade Fire Pump In Line 150 HYLAC Sub-Trade Controls Subtrade Fire Pump In Line 150 HYLAC Sub-Trade  Controls Subtrade Fire Pump In Line 150 HYLAC Sub-Trade  Controls Subtrade Fire Pump In Line 150 HYLAC Sub-Trade  Controls Subtrade Fire Pump In Line 150 HYLAC Sub-Trade  Controls Subtrade Fire Pump In Line 150 HYLAC Sub-Trade  Controls Subtrade  Fire Pump In Line 150 HYLAC Sub-Trade  Controls Subtrade  Fire Pump In Line 150 HYLAC Sub-Trade  Fire Pump In Line 150 HYLAC Sub-Trade  Fire Pump In Line 150 HYLAC Sub-Trade  Controls Subtrade  Fire Pump In Line 150 HYLAC Sub-Trade  Fire Pump	Patient Lifts	
DIVISION 12 FURNISHINGS Systems Furniture Window Blinds, Films Floor Mats and Frames Lab Casework  DIVISION 14 CONVEYING EQUIPMENT Service Elevators  DIVISION 14 CONVEYING EQUIPMENT Service Elevators  DIVISION 15 25 MECHANICAL General Conditions  Satrup/Fermits/Mobilization Design/Bilm Coordination Fire Protection Sub-trade Fire Pump in Line 160 HYAC Sub-Trade Controls Subtrade Insulation Insulation Insulation Insulation Insulation Subtrade Insulation Subtrade Insulation		
Systems Furniture Window Blinds / Films Floor Nats and Frames Lab Casework WINSION 14 - CONVENING EQUIPMENT Service Elevators WINSION 14 - CONVENING EQUIPMENT Service Elevators WINSION 12 - SMECHANICAL General Conditions Startup/Permits/Mobilization Design/Bill Coordination Fire Protection Sub-trade Fire Protection Sub-trade Fire Protection Sub-trade Fire Protection Sub-trade Fire Pump in Line 150 HNAC Sub-Trade Cortros Subtrade Winsidation Subtrade Winsidation Subtrade Air Handling Unit And ERV's Chillers and Cool in grower Fisture Material Fistures Labour Fistures Habour Natural Gas Pipe Material Natural Gas Pipe Material Natural Gas Pipe Material Piping Underground Labour Piping Underground Labour Piesting Above Ground Labour Heating Above Ground Labour Heating Above Ground Labour Heating Above Ground Labour Chemical Cleaning & Water Treatment Manuals Close Out (Start-ups Commissioning & Training) Bollers Domestic Water Tanks Radiant Floor Labour In Radiant Floor Labour Piping Underground Labour Chemical Cleaning & Water Freatment Manuals Close Out (Start-ups Commissioning & Training) Bollers Domestic Water Tanks Radiant Floor Labour (In Radiant Floor Materials) Storm/Sani Pump Station Pumps Expansion and Buffer Tanks Misc. Heating and Equipment Access doors Ac		
Floor Marks and Frames Labe Casework  DIVISION 14 - CONVEYING EQUIPMENT  Service Elevators  DIVISION 12 - SMECHANICAL  General Conditions  Sartury/Permiss/Mobilization  Design/BIM Coordination  Fire Protection Sub-trade  Insulation Subtrade  Insulation Subtr	Systems Furniture	
Lab Casework DIVISION 14 - CONVETING EQUIPMENT Service Elevators DIVISION 21 - 25 MECHANICAL General Conditions Sartrup/Permits/Mobilization Design/Bith Coordination Fire Protection Sub-trade Fire Pump Inter 150 Fire Pump Inte		
Service Sevators  DIVISION ZI- 25 MECHANICAL  General Conditions  Startup/Permits/Mobilization  Design/Bill Coordination  Fire Protection Sub-trade  Controls Subtrade  Air Handling Unit And ERV's  Chillers and Cooling Tower  Fixtures Labour  Natural Gas Pipe Labour  Piping Underground Material  Fixtures Labour  Natural Gas Pipe Labour  Piping Underground Material  Piping Underground Material  Piping Underground Habour  Plumbing Above Ground Material  Piping Underground Labour  Plumbing Above Ground Material  Piping Underground Sub-trade  Keating Above Ground Material  Piping Underground Sub-trade  Manuals  Good Close Out (Start-ups. Commissioning & Training)  Bollers  Domestic Water Tanks  Radiant Floor Materials  Radiant Floor Materials  Radiant Floor Materials  Misc Heating Above Ground Materials  Piping Underground Sub-trade Sub-trad	Lab Casework	
BURSION 22-25 MECHANICAL General Conditions Startup/Permits/Mobilization Design/Bilm Coordination Fire Puture plants but trade Gontrois Subtrade Insulation		
General Conditions Startup/Permits/Mobilization Startup/Permits/Mobilization Fire Protection Sub-trade Sub-trade Controls Subtrade Insulation Insulation Insulation Subtrade Ins		
Design/BMC Coordination Fire Protection Sub-trade Fire Promp in Lime 150 HVAC Sub-Trade Controls Subtrade Insulation I	General Conditions	
Fire Protection Sub-trade Fire Pump in Line 160 Fire		
HVAC Sub-Trade Control's Subtrade Control's Subtrade Control's Subtrade Control's Subtrade Air Handling Unit And ERV's Chillers and Cool ing Tower Fisture Material Fistures Labour Natural Gas Pipe Material Natural Gas Pipe Material Natural Gas Pipe Material Natural Gas Pipe Material Natural Gas Pipe Labour Piping Underground Material Piping Underground Material Piping Underground Material Piping Underground Habour Heating Above Ground Habour Heating Above Ground Material Pipumbing Above Ground Material Pipumbing Above Ground Habour Heating Habour Heating Material Heating Habour		
Controls Subtrade  Initialistic Subtrade  Air Handling Unit And ERV's  Chilliers and Coo ing Tower  Fistures Labour  Natural Gas Pipe Material  Fistures Labour  Natural Gas Pipe Material  Natural Gas Pipe Labour  Piping Underground Material  Piping Underground Material  Piping Underground Material  Piping Underground Labour  Plumbing Above Ground Material  Piping Underground Labour  Plumbing Above Ground Labour  Heating Above Ground Labour  Chemical Cleaning Watter Treatment  Manuals  Close Out (Start-ups Commissioning & Training)  Boilers  Domestic Water Tanks  Radiant Floor Habour [In Radiant Floor Materials]  Storm/Sani Pump Station  Pumps  Pumps  Pumps  Pumps  Pumps and Equipment  Acress doors  Frank  Acress doors  Frank  Connection on Buffer Tanks  Medical Gas Labour  Connection to Medical Equipment (Inc in plumbing)  Generator Exhaust  With Station of Materials  Building and Emergency Lighting Material  Building and Emergency Lighting Material  Site Lighting Control Materials  Site Lighting Control Material  Site Lighting Control Material  Site Lighting Goron's Material  Building and Emergency Lighting Materi		
Insculation Subtrade Air Handling Unith and ERV's Chillers and Color ing Tower Firkture Material Fireture Material Firet		
Chillers and Coo ing Tower Fixture Material Fixtures Labour Natural Gas Pipe Material Natural Gas Pipe Material Natural Gas Pipe Labour Piping Underground Material Piping Underground Material Piping Underground Material Piping Underground Labour Plumbing Above Ground Material Piping Underground Labour Plumbing Above Ground Material Piping Underground Labour Heating Above Ground Material Piping Underground Material Piping Underground Material Heating Above Ground Material Heating Above Ground Material Heating Above Ground Materials Heating Above Ground Materials Heating Above Ground Heating Manuals Close Out Start-ups Commissioning & Training) Bioliers Domestic Water Tanks Radiant Floor Materials Radiant Roor Labour In Radiant Floor Materials Storm/Sani Pump Station Pumps Expansion and Buffer Tanks Misc Heating and Equipment Access doors Fancolis VFO'S Sissmic Viviation Isodation Medical Gas Materials Medical Gas Materials Medical Gas Materials Medical Gas Materials Distribution Metering Trainfer Switches Disconnects Material Distribution Metering Trainfer Switches Disconnects Material Distribution Metering Trainfer Switches Disconnects Labour Building and Emergency Lighting Material Building and Emergency Lighting Labour Lighting Control Material Motor Control Material Motor Control Material Motor Control Material Generator Labour [Included in Distribution Labour] Generator Labour [Included in Distribution Labour] Generator Labour [Included in Distribution Labour] Generator Material Jeovices and Floor boxes small power material Devices and Floor boxes small power habour Fire Alarm Material Fire Alarm Labour Cable Tray/Basket Labour Beneders and Major Conduits Material Fire Alarm Labour Cable Tray/Basket Labour Facelers and Major Conduits Material Facelers and Major Conduits Material		
Fistures Material Fistures Subour Natural Gas Pipe Material Natural Gas Pipe Naterial Natural Gas Pipe Labour Piping Underground Material Piping Underground Material Piping Underground Material Piping Underground Material Piping Underground Subour Piping Underground Subour Piping Underground Labour Heating Above Ground Material Piumbing Above Ground Material Piumbing Above Ground Material Piumbing Above Ground Labour Heating Above Ground Labour Heating Above Ground Labour Chemical Cleaning & Water Teatment Manuals Close Out (Start-ups Commissioning & Training) Bollers Domestic Water Tanks Radiant Floor Labour (In Radiant Floor Materials) Storm/Sani Piump Station Pumps Expansion and Buffer Tanks Misc Heating and Equipment Access doors Aracoils VPUPS Siesmin VPUPS Siesmin With Vibration Isolation Medical Gas Materials Medical Gas Materials Medical Gas Materials Medical Gas Subour Connection to Medical Equipment (Inc in plumbing) Generator Exhaust Distribution Metering Transfer Switches Disconnects Material Distribution Metering Transfer Switches Disconnects Labour Building and Emergency Lighting Material Building and Emergency Lighting Material Building and Emergency Lighting Habour Lighting Controls Labour Generator Echaust Distribution Meterials Building and Emergency Lighting Habour Lighting Controls Labour Generator Endosus Included in Distribution Labour Generator Endosus (Includes trenching) UPS Material UPS Material UPS Material UPS Material Devices and Floor boxes small power naterial Devices and Floor boxes small power naterial Devices and Floor boxes small power naterial Devices and Floor boxes small power habour Fire Alarm Material Fire Alarm Labour Cable Tray/Basket Material Fire Alarm Labour Generator Endosuring Material Branch Circuit Wiring Material Branch Circuit Wiring Material Branch Circuit Wiring Material		
Fishures Labour Natural Gas Pipe Material Natural Gas Pipe Labour Piping Underground Material Piping Underground Material Piping Underground Material Piping Underground Labour Plumbing Above Ground Material Plumbing Above Ground Labour Heating Above Ground Labour Chemical Cleaning & Water Teatment Manuals Glose Out (Start-ups Commissioning & Training) Boilen Domestic Water Tanks Radiant Floor Habour (In Adains Floor Materials) Storm/Sani Pump Station Pumps Expansion and Buffer Tanks Madiant Floor Labour (In Adains Floor Materials) Storm/Sani Pump Station Pumps Expansion and Buffer Tanks Misc Heating and Equipment Access doors Faracoils VFD's Siesmic VFD's Siesmic VFD's Siesmic Siesmic (Vibration Isolation Medical Gas Labour Connection to Medical Equipment (Inc in plumbing) Generator Exhaust DNISION 26- ELECTRICAL Sartus/Permits/Mobilization Design/Bill Coordination Distribution Metering Transfer Switches Disconnects Material Distribution Metering Transfer Switches Disconnects Labour Building and Emergency Lighting Material Building and Emergency Lighting Material Site Lighting Controls Labour Generator Endoure (Included in Distribution Labour) Generator Material Motor Control Material Motor Control Material Motor Control Material Motor Control Material Devices and Floor boxes small power material Devices and Floor boxes small power material Devices and Floor boxes small power flabour Fire Alarm Material Fire Alarm Labour Cable Tray/Basket Labour Beneders and Major Conduits Labour Generator Endoure (Included in Distribution Labour) Generator Material Branch Circuit Wiring Labour Feeders and Major Conduits Labour Branch Circuit Wiring Labour		
Natural Cas Pipe Labour Piping Underground Naterial Piping Underground Labour Plumbing Above Ground Material Piping Underground Labour Plumbing Above Ground Materials Heating Above Ground Labour Chemical Cleaning & Water Treatment Manuals Glose Out (Start-ups Commissioning & Training) Bollers Domestic Water Tanks Radiant Floor Materials Radiant Floor Labour (In Radiant Floor Materials) Storm/Sani Pump Station Pumps Expansion and Equipment Access doors Fancoils VPD's Sissemic VPD's Sissemic Vibration Isolation Medical Gas Labour Connection to Medical Equipment (Inc in plumbing) Generator Erbaust Division 26 - ELECTRICAL Startup/Permits/Mobilization Design/BMI Coordination Distribution Metering Transfer Switches Disconnects Material Distribution Metering Transfer Switches Disconnects Material Distribution Metering Transfer Switches Disconnects Material Site Lighting Gentrol Material Site Lighting Gentrol Material Site Lighting Material Site Lighting Material Site Lighting Material Site Lighting Material Generator Erbaur (Included in Distribution Labour) Generator Material Motor Control Material Motor Control Material Generator Erbaur (Included in Generator Material) Motor Control Material Generator Erbaur (Included in Generator Material) Divisional Calle Tray/Basket Labour Berices and Rhoor Doors small power naterial Devices and Roor Doors small power Habour Fire Alarm Material Fire Alarm Material Branch Circuit Wiring Labour Generator Groundust Labour Branch Circuit Wiring Material		
Piping Underground Material Piping Underground Labour Piping Underground Labour Piping Underground Labour Piping Underground Material Piping Underground Underground Piping Underg		
Piping Underground Labour Plumbing Above Ground Material Plumbing Above Ground Material Plumbing Above Ground Material Pleating Above Ground Labour Heating Above Ground Labour Heating Above Ground Labour Heating Above Ground Labour Chemical Cleaning & Water Treatment Mannals Close Out (Start-ups Commissioning & Training) Bollers Obmestic Water Tanks Radiant Floor Labour [In Radiant Floor Materials] Storm/Sani Pump Station Pumps Expansion and Buffer Tanks Misc Heating and Equipment Access doors Fancolis Vibration Index Ground Floor Materials Storm/Sani Pump Station Vibration Station Workshop Station Vibration Station Workshop Station Vibration Station Workshop Station Vibration Materials Medical Gas Materials Medical Gas Materials Medical Gas Materials Medical Gas Isabour Connection to Medical Equipment (Inc in plumbing) Generator Eshaust Distribution Metering Trainfer Switches Disconnects Material Distribution Metering Trainfer Switches Disconnects Labour Building and Emergency Lighting Labour Lighting Controls Materials Building and Emergency Lighting Habrial Building and Emergency Lighting Habrial Building and Emergency Lighting Labour Lighting Controls Labour Site Lighting Material UPS Material UPS Material UPS Material UPS Labour (Included in Distribution Labour) Generator Endexing Pliculded in Generator Material Motor Control Labour Fire Alarm Labour Coelle Tray/Basket Material Generator Conduct Labour Beauch Caruct Wiring Labour Feeders and Major Conducts Material Branch Curst Wiring Material		
Plumbing Above Ground Materials Heating Above Ground Materials Heating Above Ground Materials Heating Above Ground Materials Heating Above Ground Labour Chemical Cleaning & Water Treatment Manuals Close Out (Start-ups Commissioning & Training) Boilers Domestic Water Tranks Radiant Floor Labour (In Radiant Floor Materials) Storm/Sani Pump Station Pumps Expansion and Suffer Tanks Miss: Neating and Equipment Access doors Fancolis VerDs Sissmic Viviration Isolation Medical Gas Materials Medical Gas Habour Connection to Medical Equipment (In cin plumbing) Generator Erbaust Distribution Metering Transfer Switches Disconnects Material Distribution Metering Transfer Switches Disconnects Labour Building and Emergency Lighting Labour Lighting Controls Materials Building and Emergency Lighting Labour Lighting Controls Labour Site Lighting Controls Labour Generator Carboust Disconnects Material Distribution Meterial Generator Labour (Includes trenching) UPS Material UPS Material UPS Material UPS Material  Wild Labour Generator Material Generator Labour (Included in Distribution Labour) Generator Material Generator Labour (Included in Generator Material) Motor Control Material Motor Control Material Generator Encluded in Distribution Labour Devices and Floor boxes small power naterial Devices and Floor boxes small power habour Fire Alarm Material Fire Alarm Labour Cable Tary/Basket Labour Benach Circuit Wiring Labour Feeders and Major Conduits Labour Feeders and Major Conduits Material		
Heating Above Ground Materials Heating Above Ground Labour Chemical Cleaning & Water Treatment Manuals Glocae Out (Start-ups Commissioning & Training) Bollers Domestic Water Tanks Radiant Floor Materials Radiant Floor Materials Radiant Floor Materials Radiant Floor In Materials Radiant Floor In Materials Radiant Floor Labour (In Radiant Floor Materials) Storm/Sani Pump Station Pumps Expansion and Buffer Tanks Mite: Heating and Equipment Access doors Faricals Mite: Heating and Equipment Access doors Faricals WiPt'S Sissenic WiPt'S Sissen		
Chemical Clasning & Water Treatment Manuals Close Out (Start-ups Commissioning & Training) Biollers Domestic Water Tanks Radiant Floor Materials Radiant Floor Materials Radiant Floor Labour [in Radiant Floor Materials] Storm/Sani Pumps Station Pumps Expansion and Buffer Tanks Misc Heating and Equipment Access doors Faracolis VFD's Siesmic Vibration Isolation Wedical Gas Haterials Medical Gas Labour Connection to Medical Equipment [inc in plumbing] Generator Enhaust DIVISION 25- EBCTRICAL Startup/Permits/Mobilization Design/Bibl Coordination Distribution Metering Transfer Switches Disconnects Material Distribution Meterial Distribution Meteri		
Manuals  Close Out (Start-ups Commissioning & Training)  Boilets  Domestic Water Tanks  Radiant Floor Materials  Radiant Floor Materials  Radiant Floor Labour  In Radiant Floor Materials   Storm/San   Pump Station  Pumps  Expansion and Buffer Tanks  Misc Heating and Equipment  Access doors  Fancoils  VFD's  Siesmic  Siesmic  Siesmic  Siesmic  VFD's  Siesmic  Siesmic  VFD's  Siesmic		
Close Out (Start-ups Commissioning & Training) Bollers Domestic Water Tanks Radiant Floor Labour (In Radiant Floor Materials) Storm/Sani Pump Station Pumps Expansion and Buffer Tanks Misc Heating and Equipment Access doors Fancoils Verby Sissemic Viviration Isolation Medical Gas Materials Medical Gas Materials Medical Gas Materials Medical Gas Materials Medical Gas Habour Connection to Medical Equipment [Inc in plumbing] Generator Enhaust DIVISION 25 - ELECTRICAL Startup/Permits/Mobilitation Design/BiM Coordination Distribution Metering Transfer Switches Disconnects Material Building and Emergency Lighting Habour Lighting Controls Materials Building and Emergency Lighting Habour Lighting Controls Labour Site Lighting Materials Ughting Controls Labour Ughting Controls Labour Ughts Labour Included in Distribution Labour] Generator Labour Included in Distribution Labour] Generator Habural Motor Control Material Motor Control Material Motor Control Labour Devices and Floor boxes small power material Devices and Floor boxes small power labour Fire Alarm Material Fire Alarm Labour Cable Tray/Basket Labour Benach Circuit Wiring Labour Feeders and Major Conduits Labour Feeders and Major Conduits Labour Benach Circuit Wiring Labour		
Domestic Water Tanks Radiant Floor Labour [In Radiant Floor Materials] Satorn/Sani Pump Station Pumps Expansion and Buffer Tanks Misc Heating and Equipment Access doors Fancolis VeYo's Siesmic Vibration isolation Medical Gas Materials Medical Gas Materials Medical Gas Materials Medical Gas Labour Connection to Medical Equipment [Inc in plumbing] Generator Exhaust DIMISION 25 - ELECTRICAL Startus/Permits/Mobilization Design/BMC Coordination Distribution Metering Transfer Switches Disconnects Material Distribution Metering Transfer Switches Disconnects Labour Building and Emergency Lighting Material Building and Emergency Lighting Harbarial Building and Emergency Lighting Harbarial Elighting Control Material Fire Lighting Control Material  UPS Material UPS Material  UPS Material  UPS Material  UPS Material  UPS Material  Motor Control Material Fire Alarm Labour Devices and Floor boxes small power material Devices and Floor boxes small power material Devices and Floor boxes small power habour Fire Alarm Material Fire Alarm Labour Devices and Floor boxes small power habour Fire Alarm Labour Devices and Floor boxes small power habour Fire Alarm Labour Cable Tray/Basket Labour Branch Circuit Wiring Labour Feeders and Major Conduits Labour Branch Circuit Wiring Labour Feeders and Major Conduits Labour Branch Circuit Wiring Labour	Close Out (Start-ups Commissioning & Training)	
Radiant Floor Labour [In Radiant Floor Materials]  Storm/Sani Pumps Station  Pumps  Expansion and Buffer Tanks  Misc Heating and Equipment  Access doors  Faracoils  VFD's  Sismic  Vibration Isolation  Wheration Isolation  Wheration Isolation  Wheration Isolation  Wheration Isolation  Medical Gas Labour  Connection to Medical Equipment (inc in plumbing)  Generator Enhaust  DIVISION 25- EBCTRICAL  Startup/Permits/Mobilization  Design/Bill Coordination  Distribution Metering Transfer Switches Disconnects Material  Distribution Meterial  Distribution Meterial  Distribution Meterial  Distribution Meterial  Distribution Meterial  Distribution Meterial  Distribution Labour  Devices and Floor boxes small power material  Devices and Floor Condust Stabour		
Sterm/Sani Pump Station  Pumps  Expansion and Buffer Tanks  Misc Heating and Equipment  Access doors  Fancols  VPD's  Siesmic  Vibration Isolation  Medical Gas Materials  Medical Gas Materials  Medical Gas Materials  Medical Gas Hober  Connection to Medical Equipment (inc in plumbing)  Generator Eshaust  Division 26 - ELECTRICAL  Startup/Permits/Mobilization  Design/Bilm Coordination  Distribution Metering Transfer Switches Disconnects Material  Distribution Metering Transfer Switches Disconnects Abour  Building and Emergency Lighting Material  Building and Emergency Lighting Material  Building and Emergency Lighting Haterial  Building and Emergency Lighting Haterial  Building and Emergency Lighting Controls Materials  UpS Material  UPS Material  UPS Material  UPS Labour Included in Distribution Labour/  Generator Material  Generator Labour Included in Distribution Labour/  Generator Material  Motor Control Material  Motor Control Abarerial  Motor Control Labour  Devices and Floor boxes small power material  Devices and Floor boxes small power material  Devices and Floor boxes small power material  Fire Alarm Labour  Gable Tray/Basket Labour  Fire Alarm Labour  Gable Tray/Basket Labour  Fenders and Major Conduits Material  Franch Circuit Wiring Material  Franch Circuit Wiring Material  Franch Circuit Wiring Material  Francher Conduits Labour  Fraders and Major Conduits Labour		
Pumps Expansion and Buffer Tanks Miscr Heating and Equipment Access doors Fancolis VFD's Fancolis VFD's VFD'		
Misc Heating and Equipment Access doors Fancols VFD's Sismic Vibration Isolation Medical Gas Materials Medical Gas Materials Medical Gas Materials Medical Gas Materials Medical Gas House of March Connection to Medical Equipment (Inc in plumbing) Generator Enhant DIVISION 26 - ELECTRICAL Startup/Permits/Mobilization Desiry/Bibli Condition Distribution Metering Transfer Switches Disconnects Material Building and Emergency Lighting Labour Lighting Gontrols Materials Ughting Gontrols Materials Site Lighting Material Site Lighting Material Site Lighting Labour (Included in Distribution Labour) Generator Material Meter Control Material Motor Control Material Motor Control Material Devices and Floor boxes small power material Cable Tray/Basket Material Branch Circuit Wiring Material	Storm/Sani Pump Station Pumps	
Access doors Fancoils VYO'S Siesmic Vibration Isolation Medical Gas Laterials Distribution Metering Transfer Switches Disconnects Material Distribution Metering Transfer Switches Disconnects Labour Building and Emergency Lighting Laterial Benerator Laterial Generator Laterial Generator Laterial Generator Laterial Generator Labour (Included in Distribution Labour) Generator Labour (Included in Distribution Labour) Generator Labour (Included in Generator Material) Motor Control Material Motor Control Material Fire Alarm Labour Cale Tray/Basket Material Cale Included Labour Fire Alarm Labour Cale Tray/Basket Material Fire Alarm Labour Cale Tray/Basket Material Fire Alarm Labour Cale Tray/Basket Labour Fire Alarm Material Fire Alarm Labour Cale Tray/Basket Material Cale Cale Cale Cale Cale Cale Cale Cale		
Fancoils VPFD's Silesmic Vibration Isolation Medical Gas Labour Connection to Medical Equipment [Inc in plumbing] Generator Enhant Bould Gas Labour Connection to Medical Equipment [Inc in plumbing] Generator Enhant BONISION 25- ELECTRICAL STATUS/Permis (Mobilization) Design/BiM Coordination Distribution Metering Transfer Switches Disconnects Material Distribution Metering Transfer Switches Disconnects Material Building and Emergency Lighting Material Building and Emergency Lighting Labour Lighting Controls Materials Lighting Controls Materials Site Lighting Material Site Lighting Labour [Included in Distribution Labour] Generator Material UPS Labour [Included in Distribution Labour] Generator Material UPS Labour [Included in Distribution Labour] Generator Endosure [Included in Generator Material] Motor Control Material Motor Control Labour Devices and Floor boxes small power material Motor Control Labour Fire Alarm Labour Cable Tray/Basket Labour Fire Alarm Material Fire Alarm Material Branch Circuit Wiring Labour Feeders and Major Condults Labour Branch Circuit Wiring Labour Feeders and Major Condults Labour Branch Circuit Wiring Labour		
Siesmic Vibration Isolation Medical Gas Materials Medical Gas Isabour Connection to Medical Equipment [Inc in plumbing] Generator Eshaust DIVISION 26- ELECTRICAL STATUP/Permis [Nobilization DesignyBill Coordination DesignyBill Coordination Distribution Metering Transfer Switches Disconnects Material Distribution Metering Transfer Switches Disconnects Labour Building and Emergency Lighting Material Building and Emergency Lighting Material Building and Emergency Lighting Material Building and Emergency Lighting Labour Lighting Controls Labour Site Lighting Labour File Lighting Labour File Lighting Labour Lighting Controls Labour Site Lighting Labour [Includes trenching] UPS Labour [Included in Distribution Labour] Generator Material  UPS Labour [Included in Distribution Labour] Generator Material Motor Control Material Motor Control Material Motor Control Labour Fire Alarm Labour Cable Tray/Basket Labour Fire Alarm Material Branch Circuit Wiring Material Branch Circuit Wiring Material Branch Circuit Wiring Material Branch Circuit Wiring Labour		
vibration Isolation Medical Gas Isabour Connection to Medical Equipment [inc in plumbing] Generator Exhaust  DIVISION 25-ELECTRICAL  Startup/Permits/Mobilization Design/BiM Coordination Distribution Metering Transfer Switches Disconnects Material Distribution Metering Transfer Switches Disconnects Material Distribution Metering Transfer Switches Disconnects Labour Building and Emergency Lighting Material Building and Emergency Lighting Labour Lighting Controls Materials Lighting Controls Materials Site Lighting Material Site Lighting Labour [includes trenching] UPS Labour [included in Distribution Labour] Generator Material UPS Labour [included in Distribution Labour] Generator Material  Motor Control Material Motor Control Material  Motor Control Labour [included in Generator Material]  Devices and Floor boxes small power naterial Devices and Floor boxes small power labour Fire Alarm Labour Cable Tray/Basket Material Cable Tray/Basket Material Branch Circuit Wirring Material		
Medical Gas Materials  Medical Gas Labour  Connection to Medical Equipment (Inc in plumbing)  Generator Eshaust  DOMISION 26 - ELECTRICAL  Startup/Permits/Mobilization  Destribution Metering Transfer Switches Disconnects Material  Distribution Metering Transfer Switches Disconnects Material  Distribution Metering Transfer Switches Disconnects Labour  Building and Emergency Lighting Material  Building and Emergency Lighting Labour  Lighting Control Material  Site Lighting Auterial  Site Lighting Material  UPS Material  UPS Material  UPS Material  UPS Material  Generator Labour (Includes trenching)  Generator Labour (Included in Distribution Labour)  Generator Endosure (Included in Distribution Labour)  Generator Endosure (Included in Generator Material)  Motor Control Material  Motor Control Material  Motor Control Material  Devices and Floor boxes small power naterial  Devices and Floor boxes small power labour  Fire Alarm Labour  Cable Tray/Basket Material  Eine Alarm Labour  Cable Tray/Basket Labour  Faceders and Major Condults Labour  Branch Circuit Wiring Labour  Freeders and Major Condults Labour		
Connection to Medical Equipment (Inc in plumbing) Generator Exhaust  DIVISION 26 - ELECTRICAL Startup/Permits/Mobilization Distribution Metering Transfer Switches Disconnects Material Distribution Metering Transfer Switches Disconnects Material Distribution Metering Transfer Switches Disconnects Labour Building and Emergency Lighting Material Building and Emergency Lighting thatour Lighting Controls Materials Lighting Controls Materials Lighting Controls Labour  Site Lighting Material  UPS Material  UPS Material  UPS Material  UPS Material  UPS Labour (Included in Distribution Labour) Generator Labour (Included in Distribution Labour) Generator Exolur (Included in Generator Material) Motor Control Material  Motor Control Material  Devices and Floor boxes small power material  Devices and Floor boxes small power rabour  Fire Alarm Labour  Cable Tray/Basket Labour  Fire Alarm Material  Branch Circuit Wiring Labour  Feeders and Major Conduits Labour  Branch Circuit Wiring Labour  Feeders and Major Conduits Labour		
Generator Eshaust  DIVISION 26 - ELECTRICAL  Startup/Permits/Mobilization  Design/BiM Coordination  Distribution Metering Transfer Switches Disconnects Material  Distribution Metering Transfer Switches Disconnects Labour  Building and Emergency Lighting Raterial  Building and Emergency Lighting Raterial  Building and Emergency Lighting Labour  Lighting Controls Materials  Lighting Controls Labour  Site Lighting Labour (Includes trenching)  UPS Material  UPS Material  UPS Labour (Included in Distribution Labour)  Generator Material  Generator Labour (Included in Distribution Labour)  Generator Material  Motor Control Labour (Included in Generator Material)  Motor Control Material  Motor Control Material  Devices and Floor boxes small power material  Devices and Floor boxes small power habour  Fire Alarm Labour  Cable Tray/Basket Labour  Branch Circuit Wiring Labour  Freeders and Major Conduits Labour  Branch Circuit Wiring Material  Branch Circuit Conduits Labour	Medical Gas Labour	
DIVISION 26 - ELECTRICAL Startup/Permits/Mobilization Distribution Metering Transfer Switches Disconnects Material Distribution Metering Transfer Switches Disconnects Material Distribution Metering Transfer Switches Disconnects Labour Bulding and Emergency Lighting Material Bulding and Emergency Lighting Material Bulding and Emergency Lighting Material Sulding and Emergency Lighting Labour Lighting Controls Labour Site Lighting Material Site Lighting Material Site Lighting Material Site Lighting Labour [Included In Distribution Labour] Generator Labour [Included in Distribution Labour] Generator Material Motor Control Material Motor Control Material Motor Control Material Motor Control Material Devices and Floor boxes small power naterial Devices and Floor boxes small power Habour Fire Alarm Labour Cable Tray/Basket Material Cable Tray/Basket Material Branch Circuit Wiring Material Branch Circuit Wiring Material Branch Circuit Wiring Material Branch Circuit Wiring Labour		
Design/SIM Coordination Distribution Metering Transfer Switches Disconnects Material Distribution Metering Transfer Switches Disconnects Labour Building and Emergency Lighting Material Building and Emergency Lighting Material Building and Emergency Lighting Labour Lighting Controls Materials Lighting Controls Labour Site Lighting Material Site Lighting Labour [Includes trenching] UPS Labour [Included in Distribution Labour] Generator Material UPS Labour [Included in Distribution Labour] Generator Material More Control Material More Tendosure [Included in Distribution Labour] Generator Labour [Included in Distribution Labour] Generator Labour [Included in Distribution Labour] Generator Anderial More Control Material More Control Material Fire Alarm Material Fire Alarm Material Fire Alarm Material Fire Alarm Material Gable Tray/Basket Material Cable Tray/Basket Labour Fenders and Major Condutts Labour Fenders and Major Condutts Labour Fenders and Major Condutts Labour Fenders and Major Conduts Material Fenders and Major Conduts Labour	DIVISION 26 - ELECTRICAL	
Distribution Metering Transfer Switches Disconnects Material Distribution Metering Transfer Switches Disconnects Labour Building and Emergency Lighting Material Building and Emergency Lighting Material Building and Emergency Lighting Labour Lighting Controls Materials Lighting Controls Labour Site Lighting Labour (Includes International Control Labour) Lighting Control Material UPS Material UPS Material UPS Material UPS Labour (Included in Distribution Labour) Generator Labour (Included in Distribution Labour) Generator Labour (Included in Distribution Labour) Generator Endosure (Included in Generator Material) Motor Control Material Motor Control Material Motor Control Material Devices and Floor horses small power material Devices and Floor horses small power Habour Fire Alarm Material Fire Alarm Labour Cable Tray/Basket Material Cable Tray/Basket Labour Branch Circuit Wiring Labour Feeders and Major Conduits Labour		
Distribution Metering Transfer Switches Disconnects Labour Building and Emergency Lighting Material Building and Emergency Lighting Material Building and Emergency Lighting Labour Lighting Controls Materials Site Lighting Material Site Lighting Material Site Lighting Labour (Includes trenching) UPS Labour [Included in Distribution Labour] Generator Material Generator Material Generator Enclosure [Included in Distribution Labour] Generator Enclosure [Included in Generator Material] Motor Control Material Motor Control Material Motor Control Motor [Included in Generator Material] Motor Control Motor [Included in Generator Material] Fire Alarm Material Fire Alarm Material Cable Tray/Basket Material Cable Tray/Basket Labour Cable Tray/Basket Labour Branch Circuit Wring Material Branch Crucit Wring Material Branch Crucit Wring Material Feeders and Major Conduits Material Feeders and Major Conduits Material		terial
Building and Emergency Lighting Labour Lighting Controls Materials Lighting Controls Materials Lighting Controls Labour Site Lighting Controls Labour Site Lighting Lost Labour Site Lighting Material Site Lighting Labour (Includes trenching)  UPS Material UPS Material UPS Labour Included in Distribution Labour)  Generator Albour Included in Distribution Labour]  Generator Labour (Included in Generator Material)  Motor Control Material Motor Control Material  Motor Control Material  Motor Control Material  Motor Control Material  Motor Control Material  Motor Control Material  Foelices and Floor boxes small power naterial  Devices and Floor boxes small power labour  Fire Alarm Material  Fire Alarm Labour  Cable Tray/Basket Labour  Branch Circuit Wiring Material  Branch Circuit Wiring Material  Branch Circuit Wiring Material  Branch Circuit Wiring Labour  Feeders and Major Conduits Labour	Distribution Metering Transfer Switches Disconnects Lab	
Lighting Controls Materials Lighting Controls Labour Site Lighting Material Site Lighting Material Site Lighting Material Site Lighting Material UPS Labour [Includes trenching] UPS Material UPS Labour Included in Distribution Labour] Generator Material Generator Enclosure [Included in Distribution Labour] Generator Enclosure [Included in Distribution Labour] Generator Enclosure [Included in Generator Material] Motor Control Material Motor Control Material Motor Control Material Motor Control Notes small power material Devices and Floor boxes small power labour Fire Alarm Material Fire Alarm Material Fire Alarm Labour Cable Tray/Basket Material Cable Tray/Basket Labour Branch Circuit Wiring Material Branch Circuit Wiring Material Branch Circuit Conduits Labour Feeders and Major Conduits Material Feeders and Major Conduits Material		
Lighting Controls Labour Site Lighting Labour [includes trenching] UPS Material UPS Material UPS Material UPS Material UPS Labour [included in Ostribution Labour] Generator Material Generator Labour [included in Ostribution Labour] Generator Enclosure [included in Ostribution Labour] Generator Enclosure [included in Generator Material] Motor Control Material Motor Control Material Motor Control Material Devices and Floor boxes small power material Devices and Floor boxes small power fabour Fire Alarm Material Fire Alarm Labour Cable Tray/Basket Labour Branch Circuit Wiring Material Branch Circuit Wiring Labour Branch Circuit Wiring Labour Feeders and Major Conduits Labour Feeders and Major Conduits Labour		
Site Lighting Labour [Includes trenching]  UPS labour [Included in Distribution Labour]  Generator Material  Generator Material  Generator Labour [Included in Distribution Labour]  Generator Endosure [Included in Generator Material]  Motor Control Material  Motor Control Material  Motor Control Labour  Devices and Floor boxes small power naterial  Devices and Floor boxes small power labour  Fire Alarm Material  Fire Alarm Labour  Cable Tray/Basket Material  Cable Tray/Basket Labour  Fleeders and Major Conduits Labour  Feeders and Major Conduits Material  Branch Circuit Wiring Labour  Feeders and Major Conduits Material		
UPS Material  UPS Labour [Included in Distribution Labour]  Generator Material  Generator Material  Generator Labour [Included in Distribution Labour]  Generator Enderse [Included in Generator Material]  Motor Control Material  Motor Control Material  Motor Control Material  Devices and Floor boxes unall gower material  Devices and Floor boxes small power labour  Fire Alarm Material  Fire Alarm Labour  Cable Tray/Basket Labour  Branch Crucit Wiring Material  Branch Crucit Wiring Material  Branch Crucit Woring Material  Branch Crucit Woring Material  Branch Crucit Conduits Labour  Feeders and Major Conduits Material  Feeders and Major Conduits Material	Lighting Controls Labour	
Generator Material Generator Labour (Included in Distribution Labour) Generator Endoure (Included in Generator Material) Motor Control Material Motor Control Material Motor Control Material Motor Control Material Devices and Floor boxes small power material Devices and Floor boxes small power labour Fire Alarm Material Fire Alarm Labour Cable Tray/Basket Material Cable Tray/Basket Labour Branch Circuit Wiring Material Branch Circuit Wiring Material Branch Circuit Wiring Material Branch Circuit Wiring Material Branch Circuit Conduits Labour Federies and Major Conduits Material Federies and Major Conduits Material	Lighting Controls Labour Site Lighting Material	
Generator Labour [Included in Distribution Labour] Generator Enclosure [included in Generator Material] Motor Control Labour Motor Control Labour Devices and Floor Dones small power material Devices and Floor Dones small power labour Fire Alarm Material Fire Alarm Labour Cable Tray/Basket Labour Flanch Crust Wining Material Branch Crust Wining Material Branch Grout Wining Material Freeders and Major Conduits Material Feeders and Major Conduits Material Feeders and Major Conduits Labour	Lighting Controls Labour Site Lighting Material Site Lighting Labour <mark>(Includes trenching)</mark> UPS Material	
Generator Enclosure [Included in Generator Material]  Motor Control Material  Motor Control Labour  Devices and Floor boxes small power material  Devices and Floor boxes small power labour  Fire Alarm Material  Fire Alarm Labour  Cable Tray/Basket Material  Cable Tray/Basket Labour  Branch Circuit Wiring Material  Branch Circuit Wiring Material  Branch Circuit Wiring Material  Branch Circuit Conduits Material	Lighting Controls Labour Site Lighting Material Site Lighting Labour [Includes trenching] UPS Material UPS Labour [Included in Distribution Labour]	
Motor Control Labour  Devices and Floor boxes small power material  Devices and Floor boxes small power labour  Fire Alarm Material  Fire Alarm Material  Cable Tray/Basket Material  Cable Tray/Basket Labour  Floor Material  Branch Crucit Wiring Material  Branch Grucit Wiring Material  Branch Major Conduits Material  Feeders and Major Conduits Material	Lighting Controls Labour Site Lighting Material Site Lighting Material Site Lighting Labour [Includes trenching] UPS Material UPS Labour [included in Distribution Labour] Generator Material	
Devices and Floor boxes small power material Devices and Floor boxes small power labour Fire Alarm Material Fire Alarm Labour Cable Tray/Basket Waterial Cable Tray/Basket Labour Branch Circuit Wiring Material Branch Circuit Wiring Material Frader and Major Conduits Material Federis and Major Conduits Material	Lighting Controls Labour Site Lighting (abour [Includes trenching] UPS Material UPS Material UPS Labour [Included in Distribution Labour] Generator Material Generator Labour [Included in Distribution Labour] Generator Endosure [Included in Gistribution Labour]	
Devices and Floor boxes small power labour Fire Alarm Material Fire Alarm Labour Cable Tray/Basket Material Cable Tray/Basket Labour Branch Circuit Wiring Material Branch Circuit Wiring Labour Feeders and Major Conduits Material Feeders and Major Conduits Labour	Lighting Controls Jabour Site Lighting Material Site Lighting Material UPS Material UPS Material UPS Labour (Included in Distribution Labour) Generator Material Generator Chaterial Generator Labour (Included in Distribution Labour) Generator Chaterial Generator Genome (Included in Gistribution Labour) Motor Control Material	
Fire Alarm Labour Cable TrayBasket Material Cable TrayBasket Labour Branch Circuit Wiring Material Branch Circuit Wiring Labour Freders and Major Conduits Material Freders and Major Conduits Labour	Lighting Controls Labour  Site Lighting Labour (Includes trenching)  UPS Material  UPS Material  UPS Labour (Included in Distribution Labour)  Generator Material  Generator Material  Motor Control Material  Motor Control Material  Motor Control Material	
Cable Tray/Basket Material Cable Tray/Basket Labour Branch Crucit Wining Material Branch Crucit Wining Material Branch Grucit Wining Labour Feeders and Major Conduits Material Feeders and Major Conduits Labour	Lighting Controls Labour Site Lighting Material Site Lighting Material UPS Material UPS Material UPS Labour (Included in Distribution Labour) Generator Material Generator Cabour (Included in Distribution Labour) Generator Enclosure (Included in Distribution Labour) Generator Enclosure (Included in Generator Material) Motor Control Naterial Motor Control Labour Devices and Floor boxes small power material Devices and Floor boxes small power labour	
Cable Tray/Basket Labour Branch Crucit Wining Material Branch Circuit Wining Labour Feeders and Major Conduits Material Feeders and Major Conduits Labour	Lighting Controls Labour Site Lighting Labour (Includes trenching) UPS Material UPS Material UPS Material UPS Labour (Included in Distribution Labour) Generator Material Generator Labour (Included in Distribution Labour) Generator Endosure (Included in Generator Material) Motor Control Material Motor Control Material Devices and Floor boxes small power material Devices and Floor boxes small power labour Fire Alarm Material	
Branch Circuit Wiring Labour Feeders and Major Conduits Material Feeders and Major Conduits Labour	Lighting Controls Jabour Size Lighting Material Size Lighting Material Jise Lighting Labour [Includes trenching] UPS Material UPS Material UPS Labour [Included in Distribution Labour] Generator Material Generator Labour [Included in Distribution Labour] Generator Labour [Included in Distribution Labour] Generator Endosure [Included in Generator Material] Motor Control Material Motor Control Material Motor Control Material Devices and Floor boxes small power material Devices and Floor boxes small power labour Fire Alarm Material Fire Alarm Material	
Feeders and Major Conduits Material Feeders and Major Conduits Labour	Lighting Controls Labour  Site Lighting (Labour [Includes trenching]  UPS Material  UPS Material  UPS Material  UPS Abour [Included in Distribution Labour]  Generator Material  Generator Labour [Included in Distribution Labour]  Generator Labour [Included in Distribution Labour]  Generator Endosure [Included in Generator Material]  Motor Control Material  Motor Control Material  Motor Control Material  Devices and Floor boxes small power material  Devices and Floor boxes small power labour  Fire Alarm Material  Cable Tray/Basket Material  Cable Tray/Basket Material  Cable Tray/Basket Labour	
	Lighting Controls Labour Site Lighting Material Site Lighting Material UPS Material UPS Material UPS Material UPS Labour [Included in Distribution Labour] Generator Material Generator Cabour [Included in Distribution Labour] Generator Cabour [Included in Distribution Labour] Generator Cabour [Included in Generator Material] Motor Control Labour Devices and Floor boxes small power material Devices and Floor boxes small power flabour Fire Alarm Material Fire Alarm Labour Cable Tray/Basket Material Cable Tray/Basket Labour Branch Circuit Wiring Material	
Testine and Commissionine	Lighting Controls Labour  Site Lighting Material  Site Lighting Material  Site Lighting Labour [Includes trenching]  UPS Material  UPS Material  UPS Labour Included in Distribution Labour]  Generator Material  Generator Cabour [Included in Distribution Labour]  Generator Enclosure [Included in Generator Material]  Motor Control Material  Motor Control Material  Devices and Floor boxes small power naterial  Devices and Floor boxes small power labour  Fire Alarm Material  Fire Alarm Material  Gable Tray/Basket Material  Gable Tray/Basket Labour  Branch Crucit Wiring Material  Freeders and Major Conduits Material  Freeders and Major Conduits Material	
rus senius and Ividitudis	Lighting Controls Labour  Site Lighting Material  Site Lighting Material  Site Lighting Labour [Includes trenching]  UPS Material  UPS Material  UPS Material  UPS Labour [Included in Distribution Labour]  Generator Material  Generator Labour [Included in Distribution Labour]  Generator Enboure [Included in Generator Material]  Motor Control Material  Motor Control Material  Motor Control Labour  Devices and Floor boxes small power material  Devices and Floor boxes small power labour  Fire Alarm Material  Trier Alarm Labour  Cable Tray/Basket Material  Cable Tray/Basket Labour  Branch Circuit Wining Labour  Feeders and Major Conduits Material  Feeders and Major Conduits Material  Feeders and Major Conduits Labour  Testing and Commissioning	
Siesmic	Lighting Controls Labour Site Lighting Labour (includes trenching) UPS Material UPS Material UPS Material UPS Material UPS Labour (included in Distribution Labour) Generator Material Generator Endour (included in Distribution Labour) Generator Endour (included in Distribution Labour) Generator Endour (included in Generator Material) Motor Control Material Motor Control Material Motor Control Material Motor Control Material Devices and Floor boxes small power material Devices and Floor boxes small power labour Fire Alarm Material Fire Alarm Material Fire Alarm Material Fire Alarm Material Branch Crucit Wiring Material Branch Crucit Wiring Labour Feeders and Major Conduist Material Feeders and Major Conduist Material Feeders and Major Conduist Subsour Testing and Commissioning As Builts and Manuals	

Wireless Infrastructure	IMUNICATIONS AND IT
	ks Cabinets Fiber/Copper Backbone
	and equipment [Included in Structured Cabling]
Audio Visual Public Address	
Synchronized Clocks	
Video Conferencing	
Nurse Call DAS System	
Patient Wandering Syst	em
Patient Entertainment	
Panic System Telenhone VOIP System	[Included in Structured Cabling]
ntercom System	(
Seismic	
Vocera Sound Masking	
	NIC SAFETY AND SECURITY
ntruder Detection	
Video Surveilance / CCT	V
Access Control Computer Equipment	
Integration (Connexall S	iystem)
Network	
Asset Tracking System	one.
DIVISION 31 - EARTHW Dewatering	ORRS
Building Earthworks	
Building Excavation	
Building Fill and Gran Geofoam Backfi I	ular
Site Earthworks	
Site Topsoil Stripping	
Cut and Fill	
Offsite Hauling and Disp Radon Systems	oosal
Radon Systems Erosion and Sediment C	ontrol
Access Roads	
DIVISION 32 -SITE IMPE	ROVEMENTS
Hardscape Asphalt	
Concrete curbs and p	aving
Soft Landscape	
Site Furnishings	
Fencing Retaining Walls	
Site Signage	
DIVISION 33 -UTILITIES	ON SITE
Perimeter Drain	
Water Service Sanitary Connection	
Stormwater Manholes a	and Piping
Stormwater Tank	
Telus Connection  Gas Connection	
BC Hydro Connection	
CASH ALLOWANCES	
Cash Allowances	
Design Contingency Risk Contingency	
Escalation Contingency	
Escalation Contingency Hard Costs Sub Total	
Hard Costs Sub Total	
Hard Costs Sub Total SOFT COSTS	202
Hard Costs Sub Total	
Hard Costs Sub Total  SOFT COSTS  Architectural Design Fe  Construction Adminis Structural Design Fees	tration
Hard Costs Sub Total  SOFT COSTS  Architectural Design Fe  Construction Adminis  Structural Design Fees  Construction Adminis	tration tration
SOFT COSTS  Architectural Design Fe Construction Adminis Structural Design Fees Construction Adminis Mechanical Design Fee Construction Adminis	tration tration s tration
SOFT COSTS  Architectural Design Fee Construction Adminis Structural Design Fees Construction Adminis Mechanical Design Fee Construction Adminis	tration tration s tration ees
SOFT COSTS  Architectural Design Fe Construction Adminis Structural Design Fees Construction Adminis Mechanical Design Fee Construction Adminis Bectrical Engineering F Construction Adminis	tration tration s tration ees
SOFT COSTS  Architectural Design Fee Construction Adminis Structural Design Fees Construction Adminis Mechanical Design Fees Construction Adminis Electrical Engineering F Construction Adminis Construction Adminis (VI Engineering Fees Construction Adminis	tration tration \$ \$ tration ees tration tration
SOFT COSTS  Architectural Design Fee Construction Adminis Structural Design Fee Construction Adminis Mechanical Design Fee Construction Adminis Cleution Adminis Civ I Engineering Fee Construction Adminis Civ I Engineering Fees Construction Adminis	tration  s tration  s tration  tration  tration  tration  tration  ng Design Fees
SOFT COSTS  Architectural Design Fe Construction Adminis Structural Design Fe Construction Adminis Structural Design Fe Construction Adminis Electrical Design Fee Construction Adminis Electrical Engineering Fe Construction Adminis Gootechnical Engineering Fee Construction Adminis Gootechnical Engineering Soils Investigation and	tration tration s tration es tration ees tration tration tration g Design Fees
Architectural Design Fe Construction Adminis STRUCTION Adminis STRUCTURA Design Fe Construction Adminis Mechanical Design Fee Construction Adminis Mechanical Design Fee Construction Adminis Mechanical Design Fee Construction Adminis Geotrachical Engineeri Soils Investigation and Suldining Envelope Construction Adminis Gootechnical Engineeri Soils Investigation and Suldining Envelope Construction Adminis Construction Adminis	tration  tration  s  tration  es  tration  tration  tration  tration  ag Design Fees  dreports
Hard Costs Sub Total SOFT COSTS Architectural Design Fe Construction Adminis Structural Design Fe Construction Adminis Structural Design Fe Construction Adminis Mechanical Design Res Construction Adminis Electrical Engineering Fe Construction Adminis Cost India Construction Adminis Cost Engineering Fees Construction Adminis Cost Engineering Fees Construction Adminis Cost Engineering Fees Construction Adminis Cost Engineering Construction Adminis Cost Engineering Construction Adminis Cons	tration  s s stration ess tration tration tration tration tration g Design fees d reports ultant fees
Architectural Design Fe Construction Adminis STRUCTION Adminis STRUCTURA Design Fe Construction Adminis Mechanical Design Fee Construction Adminis Mechanical Design Fee Construction Adminis Mechanical Design Fee Construction Adminis Geotrachical Engineeri Soils Investigation and Suldining Envelope Construction Adminis Gootechnical Engineeri Soils Investigation and Suldining Envelope Construction Adminis Construction Adminis	tration  s s stration ess tration tration tration tration tration g Design fees d reports ultant fees
Hard Costs Sub Total SOFT COSTS Architectural Design Fe Construction Adminis Structural Design Fees Construction Adminis Mechanical Design Fees Construction Adminis Construction Adminis Design Fees Construction Adminis Landscape Architect Landscape Architect Construction Adminis Landscape Architect	tration  s s stration ees tration tration tration tration tration tration g Design fees draports uutlant Fees tration
Architectural Design Fe Construction Adminis Structural Design Fe Construction Adminis Structural Design Fee Construction Adminis Structural Design Fee Construction Adminis Entertial Engine Construction Adminis Entrial Enginering Enconstruction Adminis Geotochimal Enginering Enconstruction Adminis Geotochimal Enginering Enconstruction Adminis Geotochimal Enginering Envelope Construction Adminis Construction Adminis Landscape Architect Construction Adminis Arborist Code Consultant Fee Code Consultant Fee Code Consultant Fee	tration  s s stration ees tration tration tration tration tration tration g Design fees draports uutlant Fees tration
Hard Costs Sub Total SOFT COSTS Architectural Design Fe Construction Adminis Structural Design Res Construction Adminis Structural Design Res Construction Adminis Mechanical Design Res Construction Adminis Electrical Engineering Fe Construction Adminis Construction Adminis Electrical Engineering Fe Construction Adminis Building Enveloper Soils Investigation an Building Envelope Construction Adminis Arborist Arborist Code Consultant Code Consultant Code Consultant	tration  5  S  tration  ee  tration  tration  tration  tration  g Design Fees  reports  tration  tration  Certified Professional
Hard Costs Sub Total SOFT COSTS Architectural Design Fe Construction Adminis Structural Design Fe Construction Adminis Structural Design Rea Construction Adminis Mechanical Design Rea Construction Adminis Electrical Enginering Electrical Enginering Electrical Enginering Geotechnical Enginering Solis Impression Solis Inspirering Solis Impression Solis Impression Solis Impression Construction Adminis Arborist Arborist Construction Adminis Arborist Construction Adminis Construction Construc	tration  s s tration  s tration  ees tration  tration  tration  ing Design fees  reports  tration  Certified Professional
Architectural Design Fe Construction Adminis Structural Design Fe Construction Adminis Structural Design Fe Construction Adminis Mechanical Design Fee Construction Adminis Geotrachical Engineerin Soils investigation an Sulding Envelope Cons Construction Adminis Landscape Architect Construction Adminis Arborist Construction Adminis Arborist Construction Adminis Construction Consultant Fees Code Consultant Fees Code Consultant Fees Code Consultant Soil Consultant Consult	tration  tration  s  tration  es  tration  tration  tration  tration  tration  g Detign Fees  droports  ultant Fees  tration  tration  Certified Professional  ayfinding & Signage  oustics
Architectural Design Fe Construction Adminis Structural Design Fe Construction Adminis Structural Design Fee Construction Adminis Mechanical Design Fee Construction Adminis Geotechnical Engineeri Soils Investigation an Building Envelope Construction Adminis Landscape Architect Code Consultant Arborist Orber Consultant Fee Code Consultant Other Consultant Other Consultant Other Consultant - Ti Othe	tration  tration  s  tration  es  tration  est  tration  Certified Professional  ayfinding & Signage  oustics  outpered  stration  certified  certifie
Architectural Design Fe Construction Adminis Structural Design Fe Construction Adminis Structural Design Fe Construction Adminis Structural Design Fe Construction Adminis Electrical Engineering Electrical Engineeri Soils Investigation an Building Envelope Construction Adminis Arborist Code Consultant Electrical Electrical Engineeri Code Consultant Other Consultant - University Other Consultant - Electrical Electrical - Elect	tration  tration  s s  stration  ees  tration  Certified Professional  asyfinding & Signage  oustics  upment  effic  rrdware  od Services
Architectural Design Fe Construction Adminis Structural Design Fe Construction Adminis Structural Design Fee Construction Adminis Mechanical Design Fee Construction Adminis Geotechnical Engineeri Soils Investigation an Building Envelope Construction Adminis Landscape Architect Code Consultant Arborist Orber Consultant Fee Code Consultant Other Consultant Other Consultant Other Consultant - Ti Othe	tration  tration  s  tration  s  tration  ees  tration  Certified Professional  ayfinding & Signage  oustics  upment  upment  upment  upment  upment  upfordure  upment  upment  upfordure  upment  upment  upfordure  upment  upment
SOFT COSTS  Architectural Design Fe Construction Adminis Structural Design Fe Construction Adminis Structural Design Fee Construction Adminis Mechanical Design Fee Construction Adminis Landscape Architect Code Consultant Fee Code Consultant Construction Adminis Arbonist Other Consultant: Eq Other Consultant: Eq Other Consultant: To Other Consu	tration  s s tration  s tration  ese tration  tration  tration  tration  tration  tration  tration  tration  Creffied Professional  certified Professional  avfinding & Signage  oustics  upment  effic  tration  defice  ordered  outprofessional
Hard Costs Sub Total  SOFT COSTS  Architectural Design Fe Construction Adminis Structural Design Fe Construction Adminis Structural Design Fe Construction Adminis Structural Design Fe Construction Adminis General Electrical Engineering Fe Construction Adminis Correction Construction Adminis Correction Adminis Adminis Correction Adminis Adminis Correction Correction Adminis Correction	tration  tration  es  s  rration  es  tration  Certified Professional  ayfinding & Signage  oustics  upument  affic  tration  dispersional  esp  dispersiona
SOFT COSTS  Architectural Design Fe Construction Adminis Structural Design Fe Construction Adminis Structural Design Fe Construction Adminis Structural Design Fee Construction Adminis Electrical Engineering Fe Construction Adminis Electrical Engineering Fee Construction Adminis Electrical Engineering Fee Construction Adminis Electrical Engineering Fee Construction Adminis Activation Adminis Adminis Electrical Engineering Fee Construction Adminis Arborist Code Consultant - Code Consultant - Other Consul	tration  s s stration  ese tration  tration  tration  tration  tration  tration  tration  g Design fees  d reports  ultant fees  tration  Certified Professional  ayfinding & Signage  oustics  ulpment  effic  roware  od Services  values  values  egy Model  & & Threat Assessment  leiding
SOFT COSTS  Architectural Design Fe Construction Adminis Structural Design Fe Construction Adminis Structural Design Fe Construction Adminis Structural Design Fe Construction Adminis Electrical Engineering Fe Construction Adminis Adminis Electrical Engineering Solis Investigation an University Electrical Engineering Solis Investigation an University Electrical Engineering Solis Investigation an University Electrical Engineering Solis Investigation The Constitution Solid Engineering The Constitution Solid Engineering The Constitution The Consti	tration  s s stration ees tration tration tration tration tration tration tration g Design fees d reports utlant Fees tration tration Certified Professional syfinding & Signage oustics uipment effic tration d Services evaluates syfinding & Signage oustics uipment effic tration tration d Services evaluates evaluates evaluates evaluates b & Threat Assessment eleding wironmental lightenous
Archicectural Design Fe Construction Adminis Structural Design Fe Construction Adminis Structural Design Fee Construction Adminis Mechanical Engineering Fee Construction Adminis Sullising Envelope Consultant Adminis Landscape Architect Design Mechanical Mechanical Arborist Octor Consultant Arborist Other Consultant - Tr Other Consult	tration  tration  es  tration  es  tration  tration  tration  tration  tration  tration  g Design Fees  reports  utlant Fees  tration  tration  Certified Professional  Certified Signage  oustics  using Signage  oustics  dispenses  fife  draviant signage  oustics  signage  oustics  signage  oustics  fife  draviant signage  oustics  signage  sig
Architectural Design Fe Construction Adminis Structural Design Fe Construction Adminis Structural Design Fe Construction Adminis Structural Design Fe Construction Adminis Mechanical Design Fe Construction Adminis Electrical Engineering Fe Construction Adminis Electrical Engineering Fe Gonstruction Adminis Electrical Engineering Solis Investigation an Building Enveloper Solis Investigation an Building Enveloper Construction Adminis Arborist Code Consultant Fe Code Consultant Other Consultant Other Consultant - E Other Consultant	tration  s s stration ees tration tration tration tration tration tration tration g Design fees d reports utlant Fees tration tration Certified Professional syfinding & Signage oustics uipment effic tration d Services evaluates syfinding & Signage oustics uipment effic tration tration d Services evaluates evaluates evaluates evaluates b & Threat Assessment eleding wironmental lightenous
Hard Costs Sub Total  SOFT COSTS  Architectural Design Fe Construction Adminis Structural Design Fe Construction Adminis Structural Design Fe Construction Adminis Mechanical Design Fe Construction Adminis Electrical Engineering Fe Construction Adminis Electrical Engineering Fe Gonstruction Adminis Construction Adminis Mechanical Engineering Solis Investigation an Building Envelope Construction Adminis Arborist Code Consultant Fe Code Consultant Other Consultant Other Consultant - E Other	tration  tration  s s s rration  ess  tration  Certified Professional  syfinding & Signage  oustics  uplument  affic  rdware  od Services  vators  Es Threat Assessment  ielding  ingenous  tetrical Multi-  ubcontractor-Electrical  tist  s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s s
Archicectural Design Fe Construction Adminis Structural Design Fe Construction Adminis Structural Design Fee Construction Adminis Structural Design Fee Construction Adminis Mechanical Design Fee Construction Adminis Mechanical Design Fee Construction Adminis Mechanical Design Fee Construction Adminis Construction Adminis Lead Engineering Fee Construction Adminis Landscape Architect Solis Immediate Adminis Landscape Architect Construction Adminis Landscape Landscape Code Consultant Fee Code Consultant - Eq Other Consultant - Eq Oth	tration  tration  s  tration  es  tration  est  tration  Certified Professional  Services  avinding & Signage  oustics  oustics  oustics  services  pulpment  affic  rrdware  od Services  estroices  to Services  pulpment  ideling  ideling  ideling  idenous  tration  dispension  services  tration  dispension
Hard Costs Sub Total  SOFT COSTS  Architectural Design Fe Construction Adminis Structural Design Fe Construction Adminis Structural Design Fe Construction Adminis Mechanical Design Fe Construction Adminis Electrical Engineering Fees Construction Adminis Cost I Engineering Fees Construction Adminis Adminis Adminis Adminis Adminis Androis Cost Consultant Code	tration  tration  s  tration  es  tration  est  tration  Certified Professional  Services  avinding & Signage  oustics  oustics  oustics  services  pulpment  affic  rrdware  od Services  estroices  to Services  pulpment  ideling  ideling  ideling  idenous  tration  dispension  services  tration  dispension
Architectural Design Fe Construction Adminis Structural Design Fe Construction Adminis General Engineering Fe Construction Adminis Electrical Engineering Fe Construction Adminis Construction Adminis Construction Adminis Construction Adminis Construction Adminis Electrical Engineering Fe Construction Adminis Construction Adminis Adminis Construction Adminis Adminis Construction Adminis Adminis Construction Adminis Arborist Code Consultant Code	tration  tration  s  tration  es  tration  est  tration  Certified Professional  Services  avinding & Signage  oustics  oustics  oustics  services  pulpment  affic  rrdware  od Services  estroices  to Services  pulpment  ideling  ideling  ideling  idenous  tration  dispension  services  tration  dispension
Architectural Design Fe Construction Adminis Structural Design Fe Construction Adminis Structural Design Fe Construction Adminis Structural Design Fe Construction Adminis Electrical Engineering F Construction Adminis Electrical Engineering Fe Construction Adminis Adminis Electrical Engineering Soils Investigation and Soil Engineering Soils Investigation and Arborist Construction Adminis Arborist Code Consultant - Code Consultant - Code Consultant - Other Co	tration  s s stration ees tration tration tration tration in g Design Fees draports utlant Fees tration tration tration g Design Fees draports utlant Fees tration tration Certified Professional syfinding & Signage oustics upment stration draports professional syfinding & Signage oustics upment sprincip sprin
Architectural Design Fe Construction Adminis Structural Design Fe Construction Adminis Mechanical Design Fe Construction Adminis General Construction Adminis Ambroint Construction Adminis Arborist Code Consultant Code	tration  tration  es  fration  es  fration  tration  Certified Professional  Certified Professional  Certified Professional  Sylinding & Signage  oustics  upupment  affic  rrivare  od Services  pergy Model & & A Trevent Assessment  ielding inground in tration  B A Trevent Assessment  ielding inground in tration in tra
Architectural Design Fe Construction Adminis Structural Design Fe Construction Adminis Structural Design Fe Construction Adminis Structural Design Fe Construction Adminis Electrical Engineering F Construction Adminis Electrical Engineering Fe Construction Adminis Adminis Electrical Engineering Soils Investigation and Soil Engineering Soils Investigation and Arborist Construction Adminis Arborist Code Consultant - Code Consultant - Code Consultant - Other Co	tration  tration  es  fration  es  tration  Certified Professional  Certified Professional  Certified Professional  Sylinding & Signage  oustics  upigment  affic  rrivavre  od Services  reviews  ED  ergy Model & & Ar Treva R Assessment  ielding signage  ubcontractor-Mechanical  ubcontractor-Mechanical  ubcontractor-Sectrical  ints  signage  si

Nominal Cost of the Proposal (Contract Price)

Form A2 - Breakdown of Contract Price

Table 2: Monthly Progress Payments

Period Ending	Expected Monthly Construction	n Period Payments
Month 1	\$	
Month 2	\$	
Month 3	\$	
Month 4	\$	
Month 5	\$	
Month 6	\$	
Month 7	\$	
Month 8	\$	
Month 9	\$	
Month 10	\$	
Month 11	\$	
Month 12	\$	
Month 13	\$	
Month 14	\$	
Month 15	\$	
Month 16	\$	
Month 17	\$	
Month 18	\$	
Month 19	\$	
Month 20	\$	
Month 21	\$	
Month 22	\$	
Month 23	\$	
Month 24	\$	
Month 25	\$	
Month 26	\$	
Month 27	\$	
Month 28	\$	
Month 29	\$	
Month 30	\$	
Month 31	\$	
Month 32	\$	
Month 33	\$	
Month 34	\$	
Month 35	\$	
Month 36	\$	
Month 37	\$	
Month 38	\$	
Month 39	\$	
Month 40	\$	
Month 41	\$	
Nominal Cost of the Proposa		127,152,943

# PROPOSAL EXTRACTS

See separate document.



#### **ENERGY GUARANTEE**

#### 1. INTERPRETATION

#### 1.1. Definitions

In this Schedule, in addition to the definitions set out in Section 1 of this Agreement:

"Approved Building Performance Professional" means an individual who is (i) registered as a Professional Engineer (P.Eng) with Engineers and Geoscientists BC (EGBC) or as Architect with the Architectural Institute of British Columbia (AIBC) and can serve as Professional of Record taking responsibility for the energy model, and (ii) has experience with IES VE and/or EnergyPlus (energy modelling software) or equivalent as approved by the Authority for the purpose of the Project;

"Energy" means all energy consumed, including electrical energy, fossil fuels, biofuels and thermal energy used within, by or for the Facility, including electrical and thermal energy used within, by or for exterior elements connected to the Facility's electrical and thermal systems;

"Energy Consumption" for a period means the total amount of Energy consumed during that period, expressed in MWh as reflected by the readings for the metered utilities, whether or not directly from utility providers, and as calibrated by the Approved Building Performance Professional and approved by the Independent Energy Consultant;

"Energy Guarantee" has the meaning given in Section 2.1 of this Schedule;

"Energy Model" means the hourly energy simulation model and simulation produced using whole building energy modelling software (IES VE, EnergyPlus or equivalent as approved by the Authority). The energy model created with IES VE, EnergyPlus or other approved software shall follow the energy methodology appendix. The results of the simulations are used to calculate Energy Consumption and operating cost based on the assumptions in Appendix 1;

"**Energy Target**" means the building's annual Energy Use Intensity is not to exceed of Modelled Floor Area per year;

"Energy Use Intensity" or "EUI" means the annual Energy Consumption of the building divided by the total Modelled Floor Area, expressed in KWh per m<sup>2</sup> per year;

"Environmental Credit" means any income, credit, right, benefit or advantage relating to environmental matters including type and level of emissions, means of production of Energy, input sources and compliance with any environmental laws, regulations, rules or orders;

"Independent Energy Consultant" means consultant acceptable to the Authority, in the Authority's discretion, that includes a team of specialized consultants in the following areas: Energy Modeling approved professional, Healthcare Designer, Building HVAC Controls Specialist, and Commissioning and M&V jointly retained by Design-Builder and the Authority, at Design-Builder's cost;

"Kilowatt hour", or "KWh", is equivalent to 0.001 MWh;

"Megawatt hour", or "MWh", is the unit of energy to be used throughout this Schedule and 1 MWh is equivalent to 3.6 GJ;

"Modelled Floor Area" means total floor area included in the Energy Model and is further defined in Appendix 1;

"Renewable Energy" means energy generated from renewable resources such as solar radiation or wind; and

"Weather Data" means the actual recorded weather data based on Environment Canada's "National Climate Data and Information Archive" including but not limited to daily temperature in TMY or CWEC format.

#### 2. ENERGY GUARANTEE

## 2.1. Meet or Beat Energy Target

The Design-Builder warrants to the Authority that the Facility will be designed and constructed so that the Energy Consumption per year will not exceed the Energy Target (the "Energy Guarantee").

#### 2.2. Construction Period

- (a) The Design-Builder warrants to the Authority that at all times during Construction and prior to and including as a condition of Substantial Completion, upon completion of Construction in compliance with the current Reviewed Drawings and Specifications, not exceed the Energy Target.
- (b) The Design-Builder will, with each Submittal under the Review Procedure, identify any impacts on the Energy Guarantee or the assumptions set out in Appendix 1, for review by the Authority. Any such impacts will not be effective unless agreed in writing by the Authority. If the Design-Builder does not identify any impacts, the Submittal will be deemed to have no impact on the Energy Guarantee or the assumptions set out in Appendix 1.
- (c) At each of the following Design stages:
  - i. Schematic Design 30% complete;
  - ii. Design Development 60% complete;
  - iii. Pre-Tender 95% complete; and
  - iv. Issued for Construction 100% complete,

and together with the application for the Certificate of Substantial Completion, or at any other point in time where a Change is made for which the Authority reasonably deems necessary, the Design-Builder will provide an updated Energy Model prepared by the Approved Building Performance Professional that demonstrates that the Energy Guarantee will be met.

- (d) If the Design-Builder at any time prior to Substantial Completion fails to demonstrate that the Energy Guarantee will be met, the Design-Builder will:
  - i. revise the Design and re-submit the Reviewed Drawings and Specifications, together with an updated Energy Model prepared by the Approved Building Performance Professional demonstrating the Energy Guarantee will be met, to the Authority for review under the Review Procedure; and
  - ii. modify the Work as required to comply with the revised Reviewed Drawings and Specifications.
- (e) The Authority will not be required to make any payment for any Design or Construction that fails to comply with, or will cause the Design-Builder to fail to comply with, the Energy Guarantee. The Authority's Consultant will assess any such Design and Construction and apply a holdback for the value of correction of such Design and Construction, until the Design and Construction is modified to comply with the Reviewed Drawings and Specifications that demonstrate that the Energy Guarantee will be met.
- (f) The Design-Builder will retain the Approved Building Performance Professional who will:
  - i. review the Energy Model updates and confirm that the Energy Guarantee will be met;
  - ii. ensure the Energy Model is updated on an-ongoing basis with each Submittal and notify Design-Builder and the Authority of changes to the proposed building energy performance resulting from the Submittals or Changes; and
  - iii. provide updates relating to the proposed Facility's Energy Consumption to the Authority at regular intervals as required by the Authority.
- (g) The Authority reserves the right to require the Design-Builder to retain an Independent Energy Consultant acceptable to the Authority, acting reasonably, to review the Energy Model updates and confirm that the Energy Guarantee will be met.

## 2.3. Energy Guarantee Post Substantial Completion of the Building

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the Design-Builder does not warrant and is not liable under this Section 2 for failing to meet the Energy Guarantee or the actual Energy Target after Substantial Completion of the Building.

#### 3. ENVIRONMENTAL CREDITS

#### 3.1. Entitlement to Environmental Credits

The Authority will be entitled to any and all Environmental Credits related to the Facility and its operation and the Design-Builder will use commercially reasonable efforts to assist the Authority in achieving the maximum Environmental Credits available with respect to the Facility.

#### APPENDIX 1 - SCHEDULE 9

## 1. ENERGY MODELING METHODOLOGY AND ASSUMPTIONS

The intent of this section and associated Appended tables is to provide clarity to the Design-Builder for the modelling methodologies and the assumptions to relate the respective controlled variables as per the intent by the Authority.

## 1.1. General

- (a) The Design-Builder shall apply the modeling assumptions and methodologies outlined in Schedule 9 for all Energy Models and supporting documentation submitted in relation to the Design and Construction Energy Target.
- (b) The Energy Modeling Report shall include detailed information on the Energy Model inputs as they relate to;
  - i. The methods and materials used for the construction of components, systems and assemblies used in the building envelope modeling,
  - ii. The components, systems, equipment, and associated services used in the provisioning of air, heating, and cooling systems,
  - iii. and provision of automation and control, schedules, strategies and methodologies.
- (c) The methodology for producing Energy Models as described in this appendix shall take precedence over LEED, ASHRAE 90.1-2010 Appendix G Rating Method, NECB Performance Compliance or other energy modelling protocols. Where not specified herein, follow modelling procedures in accordance with protocols of LEED and ASHRAE 90.1-2010 Appendix G Performance Rating Method.
- (d) A 'baseline' or 'reference' building simulation is not required for the Design and Construction Energy Target.
- (e) Compliance with the Energy Target provisions of Schedule 9 is required regardless of simulation and calculation tools, or techniques employed by the Design-Builder.
- (f) Referenced tables are included at the end of the Appendix.

## 1.2. **Terminology**

(a) Modelled Floor Area (MFA)

The total enclosed floor area of the Building, as reported by the energy simulation software, excluding exterior areas and indoor (including underground) parking areas. All other spaces, including partially conditioned and unconditioned spaces within the thermal envelope, are included in the MFA. The MFA must be within 5% of the gross floor area from the architectural

drawings, unless justification is provided demonstrating where the discrepancy arises and why the MFA should differ from the gross floor area by greater than 5%.

## (b) Total Energy Use Intensity (EUI)

The sum of all energy used on site (i.e. electricity, natural gas, or other energy sources), minus all renewable energy generated on site, divided by the Modelled Floor Area (MFA), reported as kWh/m2/year.

## (c) Process Load

Energy Consumption other than zone lighting or zone receptacle loads that in general are a function of the occupant-driven or healthcare processes occurring within the Building rather than Energy Consumption associated with operation of the Building.

## (d) Utility Rate Scenarios

Utility Rate Scenario 1 specifies utility cost and emission tariffs reflecting current economic conditions.

Utility Rate Scenario 2 specifies anticipated utility cost and emission tariffs for future conditions based on an annual energy escalation rate of 3.00%, carbon emissions cost escalation of 2.00% and a discount rate of 3.00%.

#### (e) Climate Scenarios

Climate Scenario 1 reflects current weather information (CWEC 2016, or more recent, weather data).

Climate Scenario 2 reflects future weather information, as prepared by the Pacific Climate Impacts Consortium for years 2041-2070.

#### 1.3. Simulation Scenarios

(a) Four distinct simulations will be required after the successful Design-Builder is established, per Table 1, for the purpose of informing the Authority utility budget planning process.

**Table 1: Simulation Scenarios Definition** 

Simulatio	Utility	Climate	End-Use	Utility &	Output	Compliance
n	Rate	Scenario	Breakdown	Emission	Variables	Statement
Scenario	Scenario			Summary		
A	1	1	•	•	•	•
В	1	2	•	•		
С	2	1	•	•		
D	2	2	•	•		

(b) The combination of climate and utility scenarios distinguish the simulation end-use breakdown.

#### 1.4. Simulation Softwares

- (a) For determining the Design and Construction Energy Target, simulation softwares shall at a minimum have the following abilities:
- (b) Explicitly model 8760 hours per year,
  - i. Hourly variations in occupancy, lighting power, miscellaneous equipment,
  - ii. HVAC system operation variations in setpoints and schedules,
  - iii. Part-load performance curves for systems & equipment,
  - iv. Output time-series variables in the following electronic file format:
    - (A) Tab- or comma-separated values
    - (B) Spreadsheet files
- (c) Other supporting calculations tools are at the discretion of the Design-Builder.
- (d) Operating schedules as defined in this Appendix, and site shading elements are made available by the Authority in electronic files compatible with the following simulation engines:
  - i. EnergyPlus
  - ii. IES Virtual Environment
- (e) The Authority infers no preference or requirement for a specific simulation software in the list.
- (f) It is understood that the Design-Builder may perform calculations outside of the simulation software. The Design-Builder will document these calculations and inform the Authority.

## 1.5. Energy Model Reporting Content

Provide an Energy Model Report including:

- (a) Executive Summary
- (b) Statement of software used and version,
- (c) Summary of Modelled Floor Area (MFA) broken down into:
  - (i) Total MFA (m2) refer to section 1.2
  - (ii) Conditioned Area (m2)
  - (iii) Semi-Conditioned Area (m2)

- (iv) Unconditioned Area (m2)
- (v) Parking Area (m2)
- (d) Use ASHRAE 90.1 definition of conditioned, semi-conditioned and unconditioned spaces.
- (e) Description of modelled building systems.
- (f) Description of modelling methodologies, including description of any workarounds or post-processing of results made outside of software.
- (g) Detailed summary of all energy model inputs and assumptions.
- (h) Include assumptions and parameters not described, or that deviate from those described herein with a rationale and solution used for any deviation.
- (i) Provide output summary reports from the energy simulation software including but not limited to annual energy consumption, energy cost and unmet load hours.
- (j) Per Table A2, provide energy consumption end-use breakdown including:
  - (i) Interior Lighting
  - (ii) Exterior Lighting
  - (iii) Task Lighting
  - (iv) Fans
  - (v) Pumps
  - (vi) Cooling & Heat Rejection
  - (vii) Process Cooling
  - (viii) Heat Pumps
  - (ix) Heating
  - (x) Humidification
  - (xi) Service Water Heating
  - (xii) Receptacle / Process Loads
  - (xiii) Elevators & Escalators
  - (xiv) Miscellaneous
  - (xv) Total

- (k) Identify for each end-use the energy consumption by the fuel type, i.e., electricity, natural gas, or any other source of energy that may be available.
- (l) For the Design and Construction Energy Target, provide calculations and results for:
  - (i) Total indicative building annual energy consumption, both as MWh and energy use intensity (kWh/m2/year), and by energy source.
  - (ii) Total building greenhouse gas emissions, both as tCO2e/year and carbon intensity (kg/ m2/year), and by energy source.
  - (iii) Total building energy cost, as \$/year and monthly, and by energy source.
- (m) Use the format of Tables A1, A2, and A3 for submission of the Design and Construction Energy Target results.
- (n) Input Summary Reporting

Use the template provided in Table A4, or greater level of detail, to document key energy modeling inputs and assumptions, including details on optimization of energy systems' operations, controls, and sequences to realize maximum system efficiencies. The information contained in the model inputs shall inform the building systems commissioning process.

(o) Output Variable Reporting

At the discretion of the Authority, hourly output variables of the simulation will be submitted by the Design-Builder in electronic format.

## 1.6. General Independent Assumptions

- (a) The Design-Builders will use the input data, as provided in Appendix 1. Deviations must be approved by the Authority.
- (b) Weather File
- (c) Weather Data for the Energy Models shall be based on two scenarios:
  - (i) 719500 (CWEC) Weather data for Smithers, BC.
  - (ii) 2041-2070 Weather data for Smithers, BC created by the Pacific Climate Impacts Consortium
- (d) Utility & Emission Costs, are identified in Table 2. Emission Costs are based on \$50/tCO2e for Scenario 1. For Scenario 2, utility and emissions cost need to be adjusted per escalation and discount rates provided in this Appendix.
- (e) Emission rates for calculation of annual greenhouse gas emissions, are identified in Table 2.

**Table 2: Utility Rates and Emissions Factors** 

Utility / Emission	<b>Energy Costs</b>	GHG emissions Costs	Emission Factor (tonne CO <sub>2e</sub> / MWh)
Electricity	\$60 / MWh and, \$12.22 / kWh demand charge	\$0.607 / MWh	0.012
Natural Gas	\$30.64 / MWh	\$9.03/ MWh	0.178

# 1.7. Envelope Modeling Methodology

- (a) Take-offs and Building Construction as per Design. Include exterior envelope dimensions in calculations, not including the cladding and rainscreen cavity. Glazing areas to represent the total area of the rough opening including glass and frame.
- (b) Any windows, curtainwall, and spandrel walls must include the thermal bridging impact of framing and installation, using NFRC 100 Standard Procedures, BC Hydro's Building Envelope Thermal Bridging Guide, and/or Fenestration Association of BC (FENBC) Reference Procedure for Simulating Spandrel U-Factors.
- (c) Building opaque thermal performance must account for variations in construction types and assemblies, above and below-grade.
- (d) Thermal bridging from major structural penetrations, such as balcony slabs, beams, girders, columns, and ornamentation or appendages that must completely penetrate the building envelope to perform their intended function should be taken into account.
- (e) Thermal bridging from structural penetrations that partly penetrate the Building envelope assembly, such as slab edges, should be accounted.
- (f) Infiltration: 0.34(L/s)/m² of total gross above-ground wall and roof areas unless the Authority Agrees to a lower rate with design and implementation measures.
- (g) For thermal bridges to be included and excluded, follow methodology outlined in City of Vancouver Energy Modeling Guideline v.2.0, Section 3. Overall opaque assembly U-values must be determined using the Enhanced Thermal Performance Spreadsheet (available from BC Hydro New Construction Program), performance data for clear fields and interface details from the Building Envelope Thermal Bridging Guide (BETBG), and the calculation methodology as outlined in the BETBG.

#### 1.8. Thermal Zones

- (a) Zoning Methodology
  - (i) Thermal zones in the simulation are to reflect the zones in the design except in cases where doing so would cause simulation issues or inaccuracies, such as:
    - (A) Zones served by single-zone equipment such as cooling fan coils and ventilation air provided by a central VAV system.
    - (B) Large, open spaces served by multiple air terminals or supplemental HVAC units.
    - (C) Others may be identified by the Design-Builder.
- (b) Internal loads of thermal zones are to be based on the sum of internal loads applied to the spaces with the thermal zones.
- (c) Schedules and temperature settings may be applied to thermal zones based on those of the dominant space when appropriate.
- (d) Combination of like interior (core) zones are to follow the following criteria:
  - (i) Same internal load density (lighting, plug & process loads, and occupancy).
  - (ii) Same minimum outdoor air and supply air exchange rates.
  - (iii) Served by the same air system and no zone supplemental equipment.
  - (iv) Same operating schedules.
- (e) Combination of like exterior (perimeter) zones are to follow the following criteria:
  - (i) Criteria (i) through (iv) per interior zones as outlined in Section 1.8(d)
  - (ii) Same net floor area +/- 20%
  - (iii) Within a tolerance of 10%, zones have the same ratio of net floor area to: design cooling airflow; design heating airflow; and perimeter heating capacities.
  - (iv) Same exterior surface and window constructions, and shading elements.
  - (v) Same ratio of net floor area to exterior wall and window areas within a tolerance of 10%, and all exterior surfaces facing directions
    - (A)  $\pm -40^{\circ}$  from true north or
    - (B) within 10° for all other directions.
  - (vi) All zones are completely shaded, or all zones are completely unshaded by topographical features, other buildings, or by surfaces of the building itself.

## 1.9. Schedules and Setpoints

- (a) Schedules & Hours of Operation
  - (i) All schedules applicable to the simulation are to be referenced in NECB 2017.
- (b) Room Set-Points
  - (i) All space temperature and humidity setpoints are to be set as indicated in CSA Z317.2
  - (ii) Where space temperature and humidity setpoints are not indicated in CSA Z317.2, setpoints are to be per the relevant NECB operating schedule by space type.
- (c) Appended Table A5 identifies departments and the associated NECB schedule that is to be used for simulation parameters. The NECB schedule is to be used for the following parameters:
  - (i) Occupants: occupant schedule for spaces within the department
  - (ii) Lighting: lighting schedule for spaces within the department
  - (iii) Receptacle equipment: receptacle equipment schedule for spaces within the department
  - (iv) NECB Fans Schedule: departmental occupied and unoccupied hours, as referenced by CSA Z317.2 for occupied and unoccupied period flow rates

## 1.10. Air Systems

- (a) Ventilation Rates
  - (i) Apply CSA Z317.2 minimum air change rates.
  - (ii) Ventilation setback is permitted where identified in CSA Z317.2.
- (b) Air System Heat Recovery
  - (i) Air system heat recovery effectiveness is normally a function of the fraction of actual-to-nominal airflow. If the simulation software's heat recovery algorithm cannot accommodate adjusting the parameters of this function, the nominal effectiveness is to be adjusted so that the simulated effectiveness is less than or equal to the rated effectiveness throughout the range of airflow ratios.
  - (ii) If an energy recovery device is incorporated in the design, latent effectiveness should be simulated.
- (c) Controls

(i) Controls must be modelled in alignment with anticipated operations, documented in simulation report, and provided to commissioning agent.

#### 1.11. Internal and Miscellaneous Loads

(a) Occupancy

On a space-by-space basis, NECB is to be referenced for occupant density.

(b) Exterior Lighting

Lighting load as per design. Total kW with schedule based on photocell controls per ASHRAE 90.1-2016.

(c) Elevator Electricity Consumption

Use the actual specified kW based on elevator specs with an ASHRAE elevator schedule operating 7am-7pm, resulting in an elevator electrical consumption of 6kW.

Use BC Hydro NCP Energy Modelling Guideline for elevator energy assumptions

(d) Parking Garage – if applicable

Based upon the design. Assume 6 hours daily exhaust fan operation controlled by vehicle emission sensors. Lighting is to be continuously available.

- (e) Service Water Heating
  - (i) Annual service hot water (SHW) consumption is to be 183 MWh of thermal energy, excluding efficiency of generation, and based on code-compliant fixtures. This value can be reduced based on the degree to which actual fixtures selected reduce hot water consumption.
  - (ii) SHW does not need to be applied at the zone level.
  - (iii) Operating schedules for SHW use are to be based on those listed in Tables A5 per space use of each zone.
  - (iv) Space SHW use is to be in proportion to the default SHW intensities of NECB "Modelling Guidance for Loads, Operating Schedules, and Illuminance Levels by Space Type", and adjusted for each space type such that the product of:
    - (A) space SHW load intensity (W)
    - (B) space operating fraction for each hour of annual schedule
    - (C) fraction of reduced-flow fixture to code compliant fixture SHW usage, and

(D) MW per W

for all spaces equals the total SHW consumption.

- (v) This load is to be applied to the SHW plant loop.
- (f) Receptacle and process loads shall be modelled as per Table A6 Special Inputs.

# 1.12. Appended Tables

These tables are to be used to show the energy modelling inputs and results.

- A1 Energy Cost & Emission Summary
- A2 End Use Breakdown
- A3 Energy Use Intensity by End Use
- A4 Modelling Input Summary Table
- **A5 Department Operating Schedules**
- A6 Special Inputs

Table	A.4	Total	Elec	tricity	Natu	ral Gas	N	EU	Greenho	use Gas
Energy, ( Emiss	Cost &		Cost	Demand		Demand		Demand		CO₂e
Summ	ary	Cost	Cost	Energy	Cost	Energy	Cost	Energy	Cost	tonne
	kW	Œ.	\$	kW		kW		kW	Œ.	40,000
January	MWh	\$	\$	MWh		MWh		MWh	\$	tonne
February	kW									
rebluary	MWh									
March	kW									
March	MWh									
April	kW									
April	MWh									
May	kW									
	MWh									
June	kW									
	MWh									
July	kW									
	MWh									
August	kW									
	MWh									
September	kW									
	MWh									
October	kW									
	MWh									
November	kW									
	MWh									
December	kW									
	MWh									
Annum	kW									
	MWh									

Table A2 Energy Consumption by End-Use MWh/year				
End Use	Electricity	Natural Gas	NEU	
Interior Lights				
Task Lights				
Exterior Lights				
Fans				
Pumps				
Cooling & Heat Reject.				
Process Cooling				
Heat Pumps				
Heating				
Humidification				
Service Water Heating				
Receptacles / Process Loads				
Elevators & Escalators				
Miscellaneous				
Total				

Table A3 Energy Use Intensity by End-Use kWh/m²/year				
End Use	Electricity	Natural Gas	NEU	
Interior Lights				
Task Lights				
Exterior Lights				
Fans				
Pumps				
Cooling & Heat Reject.				
Process Cooling				
Heat Pumps				
Heating				
Humidification				
Service Water Heating				
Receptacles / Process Loads				
Elevators & Escalators				
Miscellaneous				
Total				

## Table A-4

	Energy Model Assumptions Reporting
Inputs	Energy Moder Assumptions Reporting
Software used and version	
Climate Zone & Weather File	
Building Floor Area and MFA	
Hours of operation	
Utility Rates & Emission Factors	
Electricity	
Gas	
Energy Center (DES)	
Other Fuel Sources	
Envelope Performance	
Roof R-value (effective)	
(°K·ft²/btuh)	For each type
Wall Above Grade R-value	
(effective)	For each type
(°K·ft²/btuh)	
Wall Below Grade R-value (effective)	For each type
(°K·ft²/btuh)	r or each type
Slab on grade	
(°K·ft²/btuh)	
WWR Glazing (%)	
Glass U-value including frame	
(btu/h.ft².F), and Solar Heat	For each type
Gain Coefficient (SHGC)	
Shading Devices Infiltration Rate	
Internal Loads	
Occupant Density & Schedule Lighting Power Density &	
Schedule	
Interior Lighting Controls	
Exterior Lighting	
General Plug Loads & Schedule	
Process Loads & Schedule	
Elevators & Schedule	
Domestic Hot Water & Schedule	
Operating Conditions	
Do one Cat in cints	Temperature, Humidity
Room Set-points	Dow Alliford MAII List of the strong is a
Air Handling Units	Per AHU and MAU– list all that applies:

Inputs	Energy Model Assumptions Reporting
	Area it serves
	Min OA Flow and % of total
	Total Supply Air Flow
	Heating Coil Capacity
	Cooling Coil Capacity
	Reheat Coil Capacity
	Fan Power Supply
	Fan Power Return
	Fan Power Exhaust
	Supply Air Temperature
	Humidification
	Controls / Variable / Constant Volume / DCV
	Per HRV or ERV -list all that applies:
Heat Recovery Ventilators	Min OA flow
Heat Recovery Ventilators	Sensible efficiency %
	Latent efficiency %
Zone Terminal Systems	List all that applies for heating and cooling
	Per System:
Zone Exhausts	Air Flow
	Fan Power
Central Plant	
Heating Equipment Type	Type, Capacity, Efficiency, Temperature
	Per Hot Water Loop – list all that applies:
	Supply Water Temperature
Hot Water Loop	Return Water Temperature
	Description of Reset / Controls
	Heat Rejection/Heat Recovery
Cooling Equipment Type	Type, Capacity, Efficiency, Temperature
	Per Chilled Water Loop – list all that applies:
Chilled Makes Leave	Supply Water Temperature
Chilled Water Loop	Return Water Temperature
	Heat Rejection/ Heat Recovery
Heat Rejection	Type, Capacity, Efficiency, Temperature
	Per Condenser Water Loop –list all that applies:
	Supply Water Temperature
Condenser Water Loop	Return Water Temperature
	Heat Rejection/ Heat Recovery
Steam System	Type, Capacity, Efficiency, Temperature
Domestic Hot Water Preheat	Type, Capacity, Temperature
Domestic Hot Water	Type, Capacity, Efficiency, Temperature, Storage Capacity
	For all pumps:
Pumps	Flow, Power
Other	- ,
	List all that applies:
Renewable Energy	
Renewable Energy	List all that applies: Type, Capacity

Table A5 Department Operating Schedule						
Dep	NECB 2017 Schedule					
Ambulatory Services	Interprofessional Service	J				
	Primary Care Clinic	Н				
	Shared Support Services	Н				
Concierge Services	Auxiliary Services	Н				
	Lobby / Entrance Area	Н				
	Spiritual Services	Н				
	Volunteer	В				
Diagnostic Services	Clinical Laboratory	Α				
	Diagnostic Imaging	Н				
Emergency Services	Emergency Department	н				
Inpatient Services	Medical Inpatient	J				
	Long-Term Care	J				
Patient and Administrative Services	HIMS	А				
	IMIT	Α				
	Registration	Н				
	Site Administration	A				
Shared Support Services	Biomedical Engineering	А				
	Facilities Maintenance	Н				
	Food and Nutrition Services	В				
	Housekeeping Service	Н				
	Morgue	Н				
	Laundry and Linen	Н				
	Staff Facilities	Н				
	Supply Chain	Н				
Exterior Building Area Requirements	Ambulance Bay	А				

Table A6 Special Inputs				
Reference	Category or Zone	Input Parameter	Input	Comment
1	Electrical Process Load	Receptacle Load	varies	Use receptacle loads in W/m2 by space type as provided in NECB 2017 Table A-8.4.3.2.(2)-B.

#### APPRENTICESHIP POLICY

## 1. APPRENTICESHIP POLICY

- 1.1 The Design-Builder acknowledges that it has obtained a copy of and has reviewed the Ministry of Jobs, Tourism and Skills Training (JTST) policy set out in Apprentices on Public Projects Policy and Procedure Guidelines, Date: July, 2015, Update: March, 2016 available at https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/business/economic-development/assets/apprentices-on-public-projects/policy and procedure guidelines.pdf (the "Apprenticeship Policy").
- 1.2 Unless defined in this Agreement, capitalized terms in this Schedule have the meaning given in the Apprenticeship Policy.

## 2. APPLICATION

- 2.1 The Design-Builder agrees that the Apprenticeship Policy applies to this Agreement and the Design-Builder will, subject to the reasonable assistance of the Authority, comply with the requirements of the Apprenticeship Policy.
- 2.2 The Design-Builder agrees that the Authority requires the Design-Builder to apply the Apprenticeship Policy to Subcontractors and Subcontracts (of all tiers) valued at \$500,000 or more.

## 3. REQUIREMENTS

- 3.1 The Design-Builder acknowledges that the requirements of the Apprenticeship Policy and this Schedule include:
  - (a) using Registered Apprentice(s) in respect of Specified Trades valued at \$500,000 or more;
  - (b) reporting in Form A: Confirmation of Intent to Use Registered Apprentices as soon as practicable and at least 5 days prior to commencement of Work under this Agreement or work under the applicable Subcontract and completing all supplementary forms (Form A) as required;
  - (c) reporting in Form B: Apprentice Utilization Report quarterly and upon completion of Work under this Agreement or work under the applicable Subcontract; and
  - (d) complying with applicable requirements in relation to Personal Information.
- 3.2 The Design-Builder further acknowledges that under the Apprenticeship Policy the Authority may, or may permit JTST, to exercise all provisions of the Apprenticeship Policy applicable to the Contracting Authority or the Province (whether through JTST or otherwise) provisions that permit the Contracting Authority:
  - (a) to delay the start of Work on the Project until the Authority has confirmed, through JTST, that Registered Apprentices will be used on the Project; and

- (b) to delay issue of final payment in relation to the applicable Work until the final Form B is submitted.
- 3.3 The Design-Builder represents that the Design-Builder will ensure that the provisions of this Schedule are incorporated into applicable Subcontracts.
- 3.4 The Design-Builder and the Authority acknowledge that any change to the Apprenticeship Policy will, if required by the Authority to be implemented for purposes of this Agreement, be implemented as a Change under Part E- Changes.

# SITE PLAN

See separate document.

